
 

Board of Directors Agenda 
Cheyenne, Wyoming – February 21-22, 2024 

At Wyoming Department of Workforce Services (5221 Yellowstone Rd.) 
Leading Economic Growth | Building Resilient Communities | Creating Opportunities 

 
Virtual Attendance Information 

Join the Zoom webinar at: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/295704768 
-OR- 

Join by phone at 1-669-900-6833, enter the 9-digit Meeting ID 295-704-768 (no PIN is required, 
please press # when prompted); if joining by phone please note your ability to interact with the 

panelists may be limited due to system limitations. 
 

Wednesday, February 21, 2024 

12:00 p.m. Networking Lunch @ Wyoming Department of Workforce Services 

1:00 p.m. Convene (Public) Work Session – Co-Chair Kathy Tomassi 

• Welcome and Roll Call of Board Members 
• Work Session Agenda - WPMA NOTICE: Members of the public are welcome to view the work 

session at the same Zoom webinar link above; however, this portion of the meeting is a work 
session only and will not include discussion or transaction of public business. 

o BRC (Business Ready Communities) Data Deep Dive 
o Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) SWOT Activity 
o Workforce Workstream Workshop 

4:30 p.m. Conclusion of Work Session 

Thursday, February 22, 2023 

(Times and order of agenda items are tentative and subject to change without notice) 
 
Thursday dress code is business attire - please wear your WBC name tag. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA: All agenda items listed with the designation of [CA] are considered routine items 
and will be enacted by one motion. There will be no separate discussion on these items unless a board 
member request is made. A board member can request to have one or more items be removed from the 
consent agenda. 

8:00 a.m. Convene Public Meeting – Co-Chair Kathy Tomassi 

• Pledge of Allegiance (all participants will be muted) 
• Welcome and Roll Call of Board Members 
• Consent Agenda 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/295704768


 

Board of Directors Agenda 
Cheyenne, Wyoming – February 21-22, 2024 

At Wyoming Department of Workforce Services (5221 Yellowstone Rd.) 
Leading Economic Growth | Building Resilient Communities | Creating Opportunities 

 
o [CA] Meeting Minutes for the December 13, 2023, Regular Meeting (Page 6) 
o [CA] Quarterly Challenge Loan Report (Page 9) 
o [CA] Quarterly SBIR Report (Page11) 
o [CA] Quarterly People and Performance Report – People & Performance Manager 

Chava Case (Page 16) 
 

o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of approval of items included on Consent Agenda.  

8:10 a.m. Welcome – Director of Wyoming Department of Workforce Services, Robin Cooley 

8:20 a.m.  2024 Officers Nominating Committee Recommendation - Co-Chair Kathy Tomassi 

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of Nominating Committee recommendations 

8:30 a.m. CEO Report – Chief Executive Officer Josh Dorrell 

• Recognition of Team Member Anniversaries 
• Recognition of New Team Members 
• Recognition of 2023 Co-Chair Kathy Tomassi 
• Recognition of Out-Going Board Members 

9:15 a.m.  Strategy Execution Standing Committee – Committee Chair Erick Arens (Page 31) 

• Legislative Session – Chief Strategy Officer Sarah Fitz-Gerald 
• 2023 Annual Report – Strategic Communications Amy Quick 
• Building State Capabilities Contract with President and Fellows of Harvard College, on 

Behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School - Chief Strategy Officer Sarah Fitz-Gerald 
 

o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of acceptance of staff recommendation to approve 
Building State Capabilities Contract. 

10:15 a.m.  Break – all participants will be muted 

10:30 a.m. Regional Director Reports (Page 51) 

• Heather Tupper - Southeast Regional Director 
• Drew Dietrich – East Central Regional Director 
• Kristin Fong - Northwest Regional Director 
• Patrick Edwards – West Central Director 



 

Board of Directors Agenda 
Cheyenne, Wyoming – February 21-22, 2024 

At Wyoming Department of Workforce Services (5221 Yellowstone Rd.) 
Leading Economic Growth | Building Resilient Communities | Creating Opportunities 

 
• Brandi Harlow – Northeast Regional Director 
• Kiley Ingersoll – Southwest Regional Director 

11:00 a.m.  Operations Standing Committee – Committee Chair Derek Smith (Page 60)  

• Q2FY24 Financial Report – Accounting Manager Lyndsay Orr, CPA 
 

o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of acceptance of Q2FY24 Financial Report. 
 

• FY23 Financial Audit Report and Discussion– McGee Hearne & Paiz, LLP, Partner, Robert 
Dahill 
 

o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of acceptance of FY23 Audit Report. 
 

• Salesforce Development Update - Technology Solutions Manager Ben Peterson 
• Wave Interactive Contract Amendment – Technology Solutions Manager Ben Peterson 

 
o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of acceptance of staff recommendation to approve Wave 

Interactive Contract Amendment.  
 

• People and Performance Report – People and Performance Manager Chava Case 

11:45 a.m.  Executive Session for discussion of Personnel Matters / CEO Review 

o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of Executive Session for discussion of personnel matters  
o Board members will retire to an alternate meeting room for the Executive 

Session and recess to lunch upon conclusion; please DISCONNECT from the 
webinar and check your email for instructions on how to access the Executive 
Session.  

o WBC staff and members of the public are excused for the lunch recess at this 
time.  

o We will reconvene the public session in this same Zoom Webinar room and in 
person promptly at 12:45 p.m. unless otherwise specified. 

11:45 a.m. Lunch Break – all participants will be muted 

12:45 p.m.  Re-convene Public Meeting 



 

Board of Directors Agenda 
Cheyenne, Wyoming – February 21-22, 2024 

At Wyoming Department of Workforce Services (5221 Yellowstone Rd.) 
Leading Economic Growth | Building Resilient Communities | Creating Opportunities 

 
• Roll call of Board Members 
• CEO Review Report – Co-Chair Kathy Tomassi 

 
o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of CEO Review recommendations. 

1:00 p.m.  Investments Standing Committee – Committee Chair Kim Devore (Page139) 

• Cody Legacy Meats Memo – Grants Portfolio Manager Noelle Reed 
• Cheyenne Project Bison Extension Memo – Grants Portfolio Manager Noelle Reed 

 
o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of acceptance of Cheyenne Project Bison Extension. 

 
• Review of BRC Budget & Presentation of Applications Received – Grants Portfolio Manager 

Noelle Reed  

 
 

o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of funding request for each project. 
 

• WYVC Fund Update - Equity Portfolio Manager Gordon Finnegan 

2:00 p.m. Services Standing Committee – Committee Chair Mark Law (Page 182) 

• Services Update – Services Director Brandon Marshall 
• Warehouse Twenty One Contract Amendment – Business Recruitment Manager Wendy 

Lopez 
o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of staff recommendation to approve Warehouse Twenty 

One Contract Amendment. 
• Insite Consulting Contract – Business Recruitment Manager Wendy Lopez 

 

Project Type Request Recommendation
North Platte River Park No. 2 

Development Community Readiness Grant 5,000,000$                       4,168,000$                 

Reuse of Former Airport 
Property Community Readiness Grant 1,277,895$                       1,327,895$                 

Total Requests 6,277,895$                       5,495,895$                 
Total Available BRC Funding 46,717,130$                     46,717,130$               
Funds remaining if awarded 40,439,235$                     41,221,235$               

BRC Applications Received Nov 1, 2023
Applicant

Casper, City of

Hot Springs County



 

Board of Directors Agenda 
Cheyenne, Wyoming – February 21-22, 2024 

At Wyoming Department of Workforce Services (5221 Yellowstone Rd.) 
Leading Economic Growth | Building Resilient Communities | Creating Opportunities 

 
o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of staff recommendation to approve Insite Consulting 

Contract. 
• Kickstart Rules Update - Entrepreneur Development Manager Taylor Vignaroli 

 
o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of acceptance of Proposed Rule Changes for Kickstart 

Rules. 
 

• CTC Technology Challenge Portal Contract – Broadband Manager Elaina Zempel 
 

o ACTION ITEM: Consideration of staff recommendation to approve CTC Technology 
Challenge Portal Contract. 

3:00 p.m. Other Board Matters and Adjournment 

• Closing Remarks Co-Chair Kathy Tomassi 

Upcoming Meetings: 

• Next Meeting of SLIB: April 4, 2024 
• Standing Committees will meet this quarter during the week of April 22, 2024 (invites will be 

sent via Google Calendar next week): 
o Operations Standing Committee - Tuesday, April 23, 2024 @ 10 a.m. 
o Strategy Execution Standing Committee – Tuesday, April 23, 2024 @ 2 p.m. 
o Investments Standing Committee - Wednesday, April 24, 2024 @ 10 a.m. 
o Services Standing Committee - Thursday, April 25, 2024 @ 10 a.m. 

• Next Regular Meetings of this Board:  
o May 7-8, 2024 – Casper (WEDA will be hosting a workshop in Casper May 6-7) 
o (Tentative) September 10-11, 2024 – Laramie 
o (Tentative) December 11 - Virtual 



 
 

Board of Directors Virtual Meeting, December 13, 2023 
 
Board Members Present Virtually: Erick Arens, Kim Devore, Elaine Harvey, Cindy Johnson, 
Chuck Kenyon, Mark Law, Erin Moore, Dr. Joe Schaffer, Derek Smith, and Kathy Tomassi. 

Staff Present Virtually: Amy Grenfell, Josh Dorrell, Ben Peterson, Kari Kivisto, Sue Akey, Amber 
Power, Brandi Harlow, Heather Tupper, John Jenks, Kaley Holyfield, Chance Price, Drew Dietrich, 
Patrick Edwards, Kristin Fong, Kiley Ingersoll, Bert Adam, Ron Gullberg, John Wendling, Jill Tregemba, 
Lyndsay Orr, Noelle Reed, Katie O’Bryan, Rylan O’Bryan, Taylor Vignarolli, Brandon Marshall 

Co-Chair Kathy Tomassi convened the meeting at 9:01am.  

Consent Agenda items for consideration: 

o [CA] Meeting Minutes for the September 7, 2023, Regular Meeting  
o [CA] Meeting Minutes for the October 2, 2023, Special Meeting  
o [CA] Quarterly Challenge Loan Report 
o [CA] Quarterly SBIR Report  

 
• ACTION ITEM: ACTION ITEM: Consideration of approval of items included on Consent 

Agenda. Joe Schaffer made a motion to approve, and Mark Law seconded with no further 
discussion. Motion carried unanimously. 

Ms. Tomassi had some questions for the regional directors and the reports they submitted.  

Chief Executive Officer Josh Dorrell reviewed the agenda and stated the agenda is lighter than normal 
due to no BRC projects at this time. He said we have sent a strong signal over the course of time, and we 
are looking for certain types of projects that really help lead economic growth or unlock growth potential. 
Mr. Dorrell introduced WBC anniversaries. Amy Grenfell and Wendy Lopez celebrating their five-year 
anniversaries, and Brandon Marshall celebrating his twenty-year anniversary. Mr. Dorrell shared the 
strategy execution, the WBC way. He stated we remain laser focused on the big problems and the smaller 
ones that contribute to it and that are also problem focused, with a data driven iterative approach. He went 
over the economic growth flywheel and the steps we use to determine projects and the future, with an 
emphasis on doing the right projects. He spent time talking about our team and the methodology that we 
are using to really help the team grow and help be part of something bigger. He stated it is important to 
focus on individual strengths and potential.  

Committee Chair Mark Law introduced Services Director Brandon Marshall for the Service Committee 
Update. Mr. Marshall spoke on all the kind things that so many people said in regard to celebrating 20 
years with the WBC. He introduced Entrepreneur Development Manager Taylor Vignaroli, Mr. Vignaroli 
shared it is his opinion of our greatest opportunities to drive change in economic development is through 
entrepreneurship. He wants to really consider how we look at problems within this space and how we can 
engage with those problems. He stated we have a lot of conversations to understand what the landscape 
looks like and what these problems are and how we can identify the binding constraints. We review a lot 
of different perspectives. We have some current projects, one being the Incubation Services Request for 
proposal and why we are looking for these services. Mr. Vignoroli asked for Mr. Dorrell to speak on that 
further. Mr. Dorrell said we have had a relationship with Impact 307 for a number of years. We had to 
look critically at the business resource network and ensure that it was providing the services that we 
required and for the services that we were contracted for. We had a chance to develop a scope of work 
and be direct about what we needed. We found over the course of the last 18 months we weren’t really 



 
 

getting the services we asked for. The University of Wyoming BRN Amendment has been brought forth 
to stop payment for services as of December 31, 2023.  

• ACTION ITEM: ACTION ITEM: Consideration of approval of University of Wyoming BRN 
Contract Amendment. Erin Moore made a motion to approve, and Elaine Harvey seconded with 
no further discussion. Motion carried unanimously. 

Mr.Vignaroli reviewed the RFP process for Incubation Services further. We want to put less constraints 
and have a system set in place that can help address problems over time. Business needs change and we 
need to be able to adapt over time. Another project he is working on is resource mapping. We want to 
close the gap between the resource provider and the individual that would be using it.  

Mr. Marshall introduced Business Retention & Expansion Manager Kaley Holyfield who reviewed 
business retention and expansion updates. She envisions building some local capacity on the local level to 
enable communities whether that is EDO’s or Chambers to enable them to build out their own BRU 
programs and connect with business. She sees it as more of a partnership and building that team of 
thousands. In September they kicked things off and had 21 participants.  

Mr. Marshall introduced Broadband Manager Elaina Zempel and David Johson to discuss the next steps 
of the Connect Wy process. Ms. Zempel briefly explained the history of ARPA funding. Today we have 
32 applications that are being recommended for funding that total 70,499,575.08. The awards that are 
being presented provide connection to 1,900 underserved and unserved areas of Wyoming. There were 
members of the public that had comments and asked for some clarification.  

• ACTION ITEM: ACTION ITEM: Consideration of approval of Broadband Contracts. Erick 
Ahrens made a motion to approve, and Derk Smith seconded with no further discussion. Motion 
carried unanimously. (Kim Devore not present for vote) 

Operations Committee Chair Derek Smith introduced Chief Operating Officer Amy Grenfell to review 
the FY23 Financial Audit and the Q1FY24 Financial Report. Ms. Grenfell reminded everyone that our 
fiscal year ends on June 30 each year and this financial audit covers the period of July 1, 2022, to June 30, 
2023.  She said we are expecting that the audit will be completed very soon and then we will be bringing 
the full audit for consideration to the February Board of Directors Meeting. She reviewed the financial 
report for the timeframe ending September 30, 2023. The budget utilization is running around 32.3% and 
optimum budget utilization for this point would be 25%. We have a couple of budgets running a little 
higher that that at 39.1%, specifically the services budget, which is due to contract encumbrances that we 
have already made in the financial system for the full fiscal year. She further explained federal funds and 
the impacts they have on the budget.  

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of acceptance of Q1FY24 Financial Report. Mark Law made a 
motion to approve, and Cindy Johnson seconded with no further discussion. Motion carried 
unanimously. (Kim Devore not present for vote) 

Ms. Tomassi introduced Strategy Standing Committee Chair Erick Arens who introduced Chief Strategy 
Officer Sarah Fitz-Gerald. Ms. Fitz-Gerald said that all the things we do at the business council are all 
connected by the same process and the growth challenge is also true of all the work that being done in all 
the divisions. A lot of the items we have been working on were gone over in depth at the workshop.  

Investments Committee Chair Kim Devore introduced Grants Portfolio Manager Noelle Reed. Ms. Reed 
reviewed a business committed application for Casper. Advanced Casper and the City of Casper plan to 
proceed with the facility that was purchased with BRC funds. Ms. Reed presented the BRC Rules update. 



 
 

The Governor had two lines he vetoed, we have updated the rules to reflect the changes requested. 
Because the rules were not fully updated until November 11th, the projects that will be before the board in 
February will be under the old rules.  

Loan Portfolio Manager John Wendling reviewed the Challenge Loan. He stated there is one loan for 
consideration which comes from Security Bank of Worland. It will be two term loans and one working 
capital loan. The WBC’s participation will total $207,000 and over 40% of the final total loan which is 
$517,500. Basin Processing has been around for over 25 years.  

• ACTION ITEM: Consideration of approval of Challenge Loan for Basin Processing. Derek 
Smith made a motion to approve, and Joe Schaffer seconded with no further discussion. Motion 
carried unanimously. 

 

Ms. Devore introduced Equity Portfolio Manager Gordon Finnegan, who gave an update on the WYVC 
Fund. Mr. Finnegan stated the returned from San Francisco last week where they met with Us Treasury 
and SSPCI partners. They were able to work with us to continue to build our programs and stay in 
alignment with guidelines. Also, to ensure the success of our programs as we continue to implement. The 
federal partners were very supportive of what we are doing. He outlined our portfolio companies and 
there are 5 currently and we don’t publicize the names until we can work with them to ensure they have a 
successful announcement. While looking at the fund strategy we had a successful WVC summit where we 
had the ability to meet with a lot of these partner funds. He further reviewed the applications and the 
process.  

Ms. Tomassi presented the Nominating Committee for 2024, Erin Moore, Pam Thayer and Elaine Harvey. 
Sher reviewed the upcoming meetings:  

• Next Meeting of SLIB: Thursday, February 1, 2024 @ 8:00 a.m.   
• Standing Committees will meet this quarter during the week of February 5th, 2024 (invites via 

Google Calendar): 
o Operations Standing Committee - Tuesday, February 6, 2024 @ 10 a.m. 
o Strategy Execution Standing Committee - Tuesday, February 6, 2024 @ 2 p.m. 
o Investments Standing Committee - Wednesday, February 7, 2024 @ 10 a.m. 
o Services Standing Committee - Thursday, February 8, 2024 @ 10 a.m. 

• Next Regular Meetings of this Board:  
o February 21-22, 2024 – Cheyenne 
o May 7-8, 2024 – Casper (WEDA will be hosting a workshop in Casper May 6-7) 
o (Tentative) September 10-11, 2024 – Laramie 

Co-Chair Kathy Tomassi made a motion to adjourn meeting at 1:02pm, Mark Law approved, Cindy 
Johnson seconded and carried unanimously.  



 
 

214 W. 15th Street 
Cheyenne, WY  82002 

Tel: (307) 777-2800 Fax: (307) 777-2838 
www.wyomingbusiness.org 

Memorandum 
To: Wyoming Business Council Board of Directors  
From: Investments Team  
Subject: Challenge Loan Reporting Requirements 
Date: February 22, 2024 
 

      
1. Past Due Report.  Challenge Loan Policy requires quarterly reporting of all loans 30 days 

or more past due. 
 
There are two (2) past due payments as of December 31, 2023: 
 
Hay Growers: 

 
• David Walker – The WBC spoke with Mr. Walker on August 17, 2023 and he is 

working on marketing his current Hay crop and will submit payment to Markee as 
soon as he has some sold. However, we have been unable to reach him since. We 
will continue to monitor and attempt to contact Mr. Walker again. The amount past 
due as of January 1, 2023 is $4,859.13 (Annual payment plus $231.39 late charge); 
loan balance is $31,191.35 

 
 Beet Growers: 
 

• Brandy Pettet – Mr. Sherman at Markee has sent out a 3rd late notice, but we have 
not heard anything from him to date.  We will continue to monitor and attempt to 
contact Mr. Pettet. The amount past due is $8,001.97 (2 annual payments plus 
$381.05 late charge); loan balance is $20,438.26.  The loan originated on November 
16, 2017 for $25,000.00.  The last payment was received on March 1, 2021.   

 
 

2. Loan Loss Reserve Analysis.  Challenge Loan Policy requires a review of all loans that 
are delinquent (over 30 days past due) and a specific reserve will be allocated if the review 
warrants. There will be an additional unallocated reserve of one-half of one percent of the 
total portfolio balance. 
 

http://www.wyomingbusiness.org/


• The reserve is adequate with a balance of $794,295.  The allocation includes a 10% 
loan loss reserve for the Economic Disaster Loans originated, plus 0.5% of the total 
loan portfolio.  The reserve does include a full allowance for Brandy Pettet 
($20,438.26), and David Walker ($31,191.35).   

 
• The resulting available fund balance in the Economic Development Fund is 

$12,753,250. 
 

3. Charge off balances.   
 

• No charge offs this quarter. 
 

4. Other News. 
 

• There are currently 92 active loans totaling $10,643,325.   
• The Basin Processing Succession Loan approved at the December board 

meeting was withdrawn by Security State Bank in Worland.  
• The Division of Banking will be doing their annual audit of the Challenge Loan 

Program the week of March 11. 
   
Staff Recommendation:   
 

• Staff recommends acceptance of this report.  



SBIR Quarterly Report
Q3-FY24

Executive Summary
The Small Business Innovation Research (SBIR) program is a U.S. government program, coordinated by
the Small Business Administration (SBA), intended to help certain small businesses conduct research and
development (R&D). The aim is to spur technological innovation and to encourage the commercialization
of the technology, product, or service, which, in turn, can stimulate the U.S. economy.

The Wyoming SBIR Matching grant has supported these innovation-driven companies since 2018 with the
goal of further spurring economic development and diversification within state borders through matching
federal grants with state funds. Since its inception in 2018, our program has leveraged just over $20.7M in
federal investment creating 173 high-paying jobs in Wyoming, with a median wage of $51/hr. As these
companies continue to mature, their potential for creating additional high-paying jobs also grows.



SBIR Grant Lifetime Performance
As we look at historical trends in the program we see that there has been sustained interest and recent
growth in the programʼs utilization. While we have not approved any grants since our last report, we
recently received four applications which are currently under review. Upon initial evaluations, we
anticipate funding at least three if not all four applications.

With respect to our SBIR matching grants at the federal level, we've observed that a significant percentage
of our Wyoming grants are in collaboration with the Air Force (AFWERX), NSF, and NASA. Given the
participation of Aerospace and Defence companies and the Air Force's new Space Force division, we
anticipate this strong partnership with Wyoming companies to continue.



A total of 42 matching grants have been awarded since the program's inception. Of those grants, 23 have
been awarded to Phase I projects and the other 19 have been issued to Phase II projects. While the
majority of grants have been awarded to Phase I projects, the largest amount of funds distributed have
gone to those fewer occurring Phase II projects as a result of our awards maxing out at $200K, while Phase
I awards max out at $100K.

Although the vast majority of SBIR applications have traditionally comprised Phase I projects, we have
observed a shi� in trend towards a more even distribution of Phase I to Phase II applications. – this is
likely a dynamic of early-stage companies moving through the SBIR pipeline from Phase I to Phase II.
Since the program's inception, 55% of awarded applications have been Phase I grants.



Thanks to the matching framework of the SBIR program, we can effectively harness federal funds. By
reviewing the program's history, we can analyze the cumulative impact of our state's funds in tandemwith
federal allocations to gauge the economic benefit brought to our state. To this point, our matching
program has awarded just shy of $5.8M in non-dilutive financing. In contrast, federal contributions have
surpassed $20.7M in non-dilutive grants. This results in a leverage ratio of 0.28 to 1 for our state, meaning
for every 28 cents contributed by Wyoming, it's matched with a federal dollar.

When examining the allocations by Phase, it becomes evident that our leverage ratio escalates from Phase
I to Phase II — 0.46 to 1 and 0.23 to 1, respectively. This suggests that our initial investments in Phase I
companies hold promising potential for more favorable outcomes in the long run.



Fiscal Year 2023 and 2024
So far in fiscal year 2024, we have awarded two matching grants totaling $278,968 — this will be spent
against our FY24 budget of $3M. While we have seen a slight downturn in grants being awarded so far this
fiscal year, we have declined two applications and anticipate funding at least three of the four that are
currently under review. Looking back on our allocations from the previous fiscal year we were able to
allocate the entirety of our FY23 budget of $2M.



LEAD ECONOMIC GROWTH •BUILD RESILIENT COMMUNITIES •CREATING OPPORTUNITIES  LEADING ECONOMIC GROWTH •  BUILDING RESILIENT COMMUNITIES •  CREATING OPPORTUNITIES 



WHO WE ARE

We are a diverse team of people across the entire state 
of Wyoming, working together to create new 

opportunities for current and future generations of 
Wyomingites.

Our vision is to create diverse, broad, and lasting growth 
so that Wyoming can prosper no matter the economic 

climate or status of individual sectors.



WYOMING’S ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT 
STRATEGY

Our Big Problem: The composition of 
economic activities in Wyoming is not 
positioned to sustain a high quality of life 
across all parts of the state.

Through leadership, policy and investments, 
the Wyoming Business Council builds resilient 
statewide systems and teams to solve the 
most important barriers to economic growth. 



BUILDING RESILIENT 
STATEWIDE SYSTEMS 

AND TEAMS



PEOPLE 
DOING GREAT 
WORK



PEOPLE: NEW ARRIVALS

DANIEL BOWCUTT
Project Manager

RYLAN O’BRYAN
Investment Portfolio Analyst



PEOPLE: CELEBRATIONS

HEATHER TUPPER
14 YEARS

SARAH FITZ-GERALD
7 YEARS

NOELLE REED
7 YEARS

BRANDI HARLOW
7 YEARS

SUE AKEY
5 YEARS

JOSH DORRELL
4 YEARS

GORDON FINNEGAN
1 YEAR

DREW DIETRICH
1 YEAR



PERFORMANCE:
WBC AS A LEARNING 

ORGANIZATION



ENLIGHTENMENT 
SERIES

• PURPOSE
• STRENGTHS
• TEAM
• WORDS MATTER
• CONVERSATIONAL 

INTELLIGENCE
• STORYTELLING

PURPOSE & STRENGTHS

REFLECTIVE CONVERSATIONS

NAVIGATING COMPLEXITY



PROFESSIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT 
STIPENDS
• Personal fixed amount to be 

used on courses that add 
value for team and 
individual

• Travel encouraged
• Self-designed cohorts
• Shared throughout
• Think big



EXPERIENTIAL

• Workstreams
• Mentors
• PDIA
• Clients
• Partners



OUTCOMES?



WHAT WE KNOW SO FAR:

DECEMBER 2022 DECEMBER 2023

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

0 1 2 3 4 5 6

VA
LU

E
ENGAGEMENT

PERFORMANCE

LOW VALUE/LOW ENGAGEMENT

HIGH VALUE/LOW ENGAGEMENT

LOW VALUE/HIGH ENGAGEMENT

HIGH VALUE/HIGH ENGAGEMENT



Chava Case, People & 
Performance

Chava.case@wyo.gov

mailto:Chava.case@wyo.gov


STRATEGY 
COMMITTEE REPORT



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 1 of 13 

 

 

CONTRACT BETWEEN 
WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL, AND 

PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE, ON BEHALF OF THE 
HARVARD KENNEDY SCHOOL 

 
1. Parties. The parties to this Contract are the State of Wyoming, by and through the Wyoming 

Business Council (Council), whose address is: 214 West 15th Street, Cheyenne, WY 82002, 
and President and Fellows of Harvard College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School 
(Contractor), whose address is: 1033 Massachusetts Avenue 5th Floor, Cambridge, MA 
02138-5369. 

 
2. Purpose of Contract. The purpose of this Contract is to set forth the terms and conditions by 

which the Contractor shall use American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), State and Local Fiscal 
Recovery Funds (CFDA 21.027) in the amount set forth in Section 4 of this Contract to 
undertake economic growth and training, as described in the proposal submitted to the 
Council, which may include connecting the Council with a network of collaborators in active 
and emerging economic research, business development and policy making. 

 
3. Term of Contract. This Contract is effective when all parties have executed it (Effective 

Date). The term of the Contract is from the Effective Date through January 31, 2025. All 
research activities shall be undertaken during this term. 

 
4. Payment. 

 
A. The Council agrees to provide funding for the Contractor to undertake research 

activities described in Attachment A, Proposal for a PDIA Action-Learning Program 
(“Statement of Work”) which is attached to and incorporated into this Contract by this 
reference. The Fixed Price (“Fixed Price”) under this Contract equals four hundred 
eighty thousand dollars ($480,000.00). Payment shall be made within forty-five (45) 
days after submission of invoice pursuant to Wyo. Stat. § 16-6-602. Contractor shall 
submit invoices that list (i) the milestone completed and (ii) the fixed milestone 
payment due, along with submission of each milestone. 

 
 

No. Key Events/Deliverables Payment Date Payment Due 
1 Upon Signature Upon Signature $160,000.00 
2 Midpoint Work Complete September 30, 2024 $160,000.00 
3 Work Complete January 30, 2025 $160,000.00 

 

B. No payment shall be made for work conducted before the Effective Date of this 
Contract. Should the Contractor fail to perform in a manner consistent with the terms 
and conditions set forth in this Contract, payment under this Contract may be withheld 
until such time as the Contractor performs its duties and responsibilities to the 
satisfaction of Council. For the purposes of this Contract, “satisfactory” performance 
shall be defined as Contractor’s good faith efforts to undertake the Statement of Work 
in accordance with Attachment A, which shall not be based upon Council’s agreement 
with Contractor’s opinions, findings, or conclusions. 



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 2 of 13 

 

 

C. Except as otherwise provided in this Contract, the Contractor shall pay all costs and 
expenses, including travel, incurred by Contractor or on its behalf in connection with 
Contractor’s performance and compliance with all of Contractor’s obligations under 
this Contract. 

 
D. Travel. Contractor shall comply with the Uniform Administrative Requirements of 2 

C.F.R. Part 200 and Contractor’s written travel policy when incurring travel costs 
under this Contract. Contractor shall provide to the Council copies of all original 
receipts for travel-related expenses, including airfare, rental car receipts, and lodging. 
For the avoidance of doubt, such costs and expenses are included in the Fixed Price. 

 

5. Responsibilities of Contractor. The Contractor agrees to: 
 

A. Undertake the research described in Attachment A, Proposal for a PDIA Action-
Learning Program (“Statement of Work”). 

 
B. In the event the parties agree that the Contractor shall undertake additional research 

activities, the Statement of Work (and, if applicable, the Fixed Price), shall be 
modified in an amendment to this Contract in accordance with Section 8.A of this 
Contract. 

 
6. Responsibilities of Council. The Council agrees to: 

 
A. Pay Contractor in accordance with Section 4 above. 

 
B. As needed, provided relevant documentation, interviews, process walk-throughs, 

meetings and other assistance pertinent to the Statement of Work described in 
Attachment A. 

 
7. Special Provisions. 

 
A. Administration of Federal Funds. Contractor agrees its use of the funds awarded 

herein is subject to the Uniform Administrative Requirements of 2 C.F.R. Part 200, et 
seq.; any additional requirements set forth by the federal funding Council included in 
this Contract in accordance with Section 7 below; all applicable regulations published 
in the Code of Federal Regulations; and other program guidance as provided to it by 
Council. 

 
B. Assumption of Risk. The Contractor shall assume the risk of any loss of state or 

federal funding, either administrative or program dollars, due to the Contractor’s 
failure to comply with state or federal requirements. The Council shall notify 
Contractor of any state or federal determination of noncompliance as soon it is made 
aware of such noncompliance, and shall give Contractor no less than thirty 
(30) days to cure such noncompliance. 

 
C. Copyright License and Patent Rights. Contractor acknowledges that the State of 

Wyoming, and Council reserve a royalty-free, nonexclusive, and irrevocable license 
to reproduce, publish, or otherwise use, and to authorize others to use, for federal and 
state government purposes: (1) the work developed under this Contract; and (2) any 



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 3 of 13 

 

 

work that Contractor purchases ownership of using funds awarded under this 
Contract. Contractor must disclose to Council any patent rights that arise from, or are 
purchased with, funds awarded under this Contract. 

 
D. Environmental Policy Acts. Contractor agrees all activities under this Contract will 

comply with the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the National Environmental 
Policy Act, and other related provisions of federal environmental protection laws, 
rules or regulations. 

 
E. Human Trafficking. As required by 22 U.S.C. § 7104(g) and 2 CFR Part 175, this 

Contract may be terminated without penalty if a private entity that receives funds under this 
Contract: 

 
(i) Engages in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time 

that the award is in effect; 
 

(ii) Procures a commercial sex act during the period of time that the award is in 
effect; or 

 
(iii) Uses forced labor in the performance of the award or subawards under the 

award. 
 

F. Kickbacks. Contractor certifies and warrants that no gratuities, kickbacks, or 
contingency fees were paid in connection with this Contract, nor were any fees, 
commissions, gifts, or other considerations made contingent upon the award of this 
Contract. If Contractor breaches or violates this warranty, Council may, at its 
discretion, terminate this Contract without liability to Council, or deduct from the 
agreed upon price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the full amount of any 
commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingency fee. 

 
G. Limitations on Lobbying Activities. By signing this Contract, Contractor certifies 

and agrees that, in accordance with P.L. 101-121, payments made from a federal grant 
shall not be utilized by Contractor or its subcontractors in connection with lobbying 
member(s) of Congress, or any federal agency in connection with the award of a 
federal grant, contract, cooperative agreement, or loan. 

 
H.  Monitoring Activities. Council shall have the right to monitor all activities related to 

this Contract that are performed by Contractor or its subcontractors. This shall 
include, but not be limited to, the right to make site inspections with a minimum of 14 
business days’ notice; to bring experts and consultants on site at the cost of the Council 
to examine the books, ledgers, any final documents and papers developed by 
Contractor under the Statement of Work, and records pertinent to this Contract 
(excluding emails except to the extent such emails qualify as public records under the 
Wyoming Public Records Act (Wyoming Statute § 16-4-201 et seq.)); and, in the 
event Council has reason to believe Contractor is not undertaking the Statement of 
Work in accordance with Attachment A, to observe personnel in every phase of 
performance of Contract related work. In all cases, any inspections shall be subject to 
the Contractor’s policies and practices. 

 



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 4 of 13 

 

 

I.  Nondiscrimination. The Contractor shall comply with the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 
the Wyoming Fair Employment Practices Act (Wyo. Stat. § 27-9-105, et seq.), the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and the Age 
Discrimination Act of 1975 and any properly promulgated rules and regulations 
thereto and shall not discriminate against any individual on the grounds of age, sex, 
color, race, religion, national origin, or disability in connection with the performance 
under this Contract. 

 
J.  No Finder’s Fees. No finder’s fee, employment agency fee, or other such fee related 

to the procurement of this Contract, shall be paid by either party. 
 

K.  Publicity. Any publicity or public disclosure given to the projects, programs, or 
research provided herein, including, but not limited to, notices, information, 
pamphlets, press releases, research, reports, signs, and similar public notices in 
whatever form, prepared by or for the Contractor and related to the research and work 
to be performed under this Contract, shall identify the Council as the sponsoring 
Council and, if necessary in accordance with 7N below, shall not be released without 
prior written approval of Council. 

 
L.  Suspension and Debarment. By signing this Contract, Contractor certifies that 

neither it nor its principals/agents are presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 
transaction or from receiving federal financial or nonfinancial assistance, nor are any 
of the participants involved in the execution of this Contract suspended, debarred, or 
voluntarily excluded by any federal department or Council in accordance with 
Executive Order 12549 (Debarment and Suspension), 44 CFR Part 17, or 2 CFR Part 
180, or are on the debarred, or otherwise ineligible, vendors lists maintained by the 
federal government. Further, Contractor agrees to notify Council by certified mail 
should it or any of its principals/agents become ineligible for payment, debarred, 
suspended, or voluntarily excluded from receiving federal funds during the term of 
this Contract. 

 
M.  Non-Supplanting Certification. Contractor hereby affirms that federal grant funds 

shall be used to supplement existing funds, and shall not replace (supplant) state, 
local, or tribal funds that have been appropriated for the same purpose. Contractor 
should be able to document that any reduction in non-federal external resources 
occurred for reasons other than the receipt or expected receipt of federal funds under this 
Contract. 

 
N.  Use of Name. Neither Party shall use or register the other Party’s name (alone or as 

part of another name) or any logos, seals, insignia or other words, names, symbols or 
devices that identify the other Party, including any school, unit, division or affiliate of 
such Party (such Party’s “Names”), for any marketing, publicity or promotional 
purpose except with the prior written approval of, and in accordance with any 
restrictions required by, the Party whose Names are to be used. Any such requests for 
use of Contractor’s Names shall be submitted to trademark_useofname@harvard.edu, 
with a copy to the Contractor Investigator. The Parties agree that each Party may 
respond to legitimate business inquiries with factual information regarding the 

mailto:trademark_useofname@harvard.edu


Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 5 of 13 

 

 

existence and purpose of the relationship that is the subject of this Contract or disclose 
such information to satisfy any financial reporting obligations, without written 
permission from the other Party. In any such statement, the relationship of the Parties 
shall be accurately and appropriately described. 
 

O.  Contractor shall only be subject to the terms of the federal agencies providing funding 
for this Contract (as identified in Section 2) that have been incorporated into this 
Contract. Any future requirements that such federal agencies impose shall be 
incorporated into this Contract through an amendment in accordance with Section 8A, 
below. Contractor shall use good faith efforts to keep informed of any updates to the 
requirements of 2 CFR Part 200 and agrees to comply with any such updates. 

 
8. General Provisions. 

 
A. Amendments. Any changes, modifications, revisions, or amendments to this 

Contract which are mutually agreed upon by the parties to this Contract shall be 
incorporated by written instrument, executed by all parties to this Contract. 

 
B. Applicable Law, Rules of Construction, and Venue. The construction, 

interpretation, and enforcement of this Contract shall be governed by the laws of the 
State of Wyoming, without regard to conflicts of law principles. The terms “hereof,” 
“hereunder,” “herein,” and words of similar import, are intended to refer to this 
Contract as a whole and not to any particular provision or part. The Courts of the State 
of Wyoming shall have jurisdiction over this Contract and the parties. The venue shall 
be the First Judicial District, Laramie County, Wyoming. 

 
C. Assignment Prohibited and Contract Shall Not be Used as Collateral. Neither 

party shall assign or otherwise transfer any of the rights or delegate any of the duties set 
out in this Contract without the prior written consent of the other party. The 
Contractor shall not use this Contract, or any portion thereof, for collateral for any 
financial obligation without the prior written permission of the Council. 

 
D. Audit and Access to Records. The Council and its representatives shall have access 

to any books, final documents and papers produced by Contractor under the Statement 
of Work, electronic data (excluding emails), and records of the Contractor which are 
pertinent to this Contract, with no less than 14 business days’ notice. The Contractor 
shall within 14 days business’ days of receiving written instruction from the Council, 
provide to any independent auditor or accountant all books, final documents and 
papers produced by Contractor under the Statement of Work, electronic data 
(excluding emails), and records of the Contractor which are pertinent to this Contract, 
in accordance with Contractor’s policies. The Contractor shall cooperate fully with 
any such independent auditor or accountant during the entire course of any audit 
authorized by the Council. 

 
E. Availability of Funds. Each payment obligation of the Council is conditioned upon the 

availability of government funds which are appropriated or allocated for the payment 
of this obligation, and which may be limited for any reason including, but not limited 
to, congressional, legislative, gubernatorial, or administrative action. If funds are not 



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 6 of 13 

 

 

allocated and available for continued performance of the Contract, the Contract may 
be terminated by the Council at the end of the period for which the funds are available. 
The Council shall notify the Contractor at the earliest possible time of the research 
which will or may be affected by a shortage of funds. No penalty shall accrue to the 
Council in the event this provision is exercised, and the Council shall not be obligated 
or liable for any future payments due or for any damages as a result of termination 
under this section. In all cases of early termination, Council shall pay Contractor for 
all milestones completed as referenced in Section 4 and for any expenses incurred for 
any partially completed milestones as of the date of termination, including any non- 
cancelable obligations. 

 
F. Award of Related Contracts. The Council may award supplemental or successor 

contracts for work related to this Contract or may award contracts to other contractors 
for work related to this Contract. In the event that any third parties are working with 
Council for work related to the Statement of Work, Contractor will cooperate in good 
faith with such parties. 

G. Certificate of Good Standing. The Contractor shall provide to the Council a 
Certificate of Good Standing from the Wyoming Secretary of State, or other proof 
that Contractor is authorized to conduct business in the State of Wyoming, if required, 
before performing work under this Contract. Contractor shall ensure that annual 
filings and corporate taxes due and owing to the Secretary of State’s office are up-to- 
date before signing this Contract. 

 
H. Compliance with Laws. The Contractor shall keep informed of and comply with all 

applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations, and all executive orders in 
the performance of this Contract. 

 
I. Confidentiality of Information. For the purposes of this Contract, to qualify as 

“Confidential Information,” the information must be identified by the disclosing party 
as confidential at the time of its disclosure to the receiving party. Information disclosed 
in writing or in some other tangible form must be clearly, unambiguously and 
conspicuously marked by the disclosing party as “Confidential Information.” In the 
event that Confidential Information is disclosed visually or orally, during a 
conversation, discussion or conference call, for example, only that information which 
is identified by the disclosing party as confidential at the time of disclosure and is 
summarized and confirmed in writing as “Confidential” by the disclosing party to the 
receiving party within ten (10) days will require protection as described herein. The 
parties agree that the receiving party may disclose the disclosing party’s Confidential 
Information to those employees, fellows, researchers, consultants and students who 
require access to it to perform the Statement of Work under this Contract, or in 
response to an order of the court of competent jurisdiction or a valid or administrative 
or Congressional subpoena, provided that, as long as legally permissible, the receiving 
party notifies disclosing party and cooperates reasonably with the disclosing party’s 
efforts to contest or limit the scope of such order. 

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event is information Confidential if it: (a) was 



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 7 of 13 

 

 

lawfully in the possession of receiving party before receipt from disclosing party; 
(b) is or becomes publicly available through no fault of receiving party in violation of 
this Contract; (c) is received by receiving party, without restriction as to further 
disclosure, from a third party having an apparent bona fide right to disclose the 
information; or (d) is independently developed by receiving party without use of the 
Confidential Information. 

 
J. Entirety of Contract. This Contract, consisting of thirteen (13) pages; and 

Attachment A, Proposal for a PDIA Action-Learning Program (“Statement of Work”), 
consisting of six (6) pages, represent the entire and integrated Contract between the 
parties and supersede all prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether 
written or oral. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between the language of 
this Contract and the language of any attachment or document incorporated by 
reference, the language of this Contract shall control. 

 
K. Ethics. Contractor shall keep informed of and comply with the Wyoming Ethics and 

Disclosure Act (Wyo. Stat. § 9-13-101, et seq.) and any and all ethical standards 
governing Contractor’s profession. 

 
L. Extensions. Nothing in this Contract shall be interpreted or deemed to create an 

expectation that this Contract will be extended beyond the term described herein. Any 
extension of this Contract shall be initiated by the Council or requested by the 
Contractor and shall be accomplished through a written amendment between the 
parties entered into before the expiration of the original Contract or any valid 
amendment thereto, and shall be effective only after it is reduced to writing and 
executed by all parties to the Contract. 

 
M. Force Majeure. Neither party shall be liable for failure to perform under this 

Contract if such failure to perform arises out of causes beyond the control and without 
the fault or negligence of the nonperforming party. Such causes may include, but are 
not limited to, acts of God or the public enemy, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine 
restrictions, freight embargoes, and unusually severe weather. This provision shall 
become effective only if the party failing to perform immediately notifies the other 
party of the extent and nature of the problem, limits delay in performance to that 
required by the event, and takes all reasonable steps to minimize delays. 

 
N. Indemnification. The Contractor shall release, indemnify, and hold harmless the 

State, the Council, and their officers, agents, and employees from any and all claims, 
suits, liabilities, court awards, damages, costs, attorneys’ fees, and expenses arising out of 
Contractor’s failure to perform any of Contractor’s duties and obligations hereunder 
or in connection with the negligent performance of Contractor’s duties or obligations, 
including, but not limited to, any claims, suits, liabilities, court awards, damages, 
costs, attorneys’ fees, and expenses arising out of Contractor’s negligence or willful 
misconduct, in all cases without fault of Council. In no event shall either party be 
liable to the other for any indirect, punitive, consequential or special damages, 
including lost revenues or profits, arising from breach of the terms in this agreement, 
negligence, strict liability or other tort. 



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 8 of 13 

 

 

O. Independent Contractor. The Contractor shall function as an independent 
contractor for the purposes of this Contract and shall not be considered an employee of 
the State of Wyoming for any purpose. Consistent with the express terms of this 
Contract, the Contractor shall be free from control or direction over the details of the 
performance of research under this Contract. The Contractor shall assume sole 
responsibility for any debts or liabilities that may be incurred by the Contractor in 
fulfilling the terms of this Contract and shall be solely responsible for the payment of 
all federal, state, and local taxes which may accrue to Contractor because of this 
Contract. Nothing in this Contract shall be interpreted as authorizing the Contractor or 
its agents or employees to act as an agent or representative for or on behalf of the State 
of Wyoming or the Council or to incur any obligation of any kind on behalf of the 
State of Wyoming or the Council. The Contractor agrees that no health or 
hospitalization benefits, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, or similar 
benefits available to State of Wyoming employees will inure to the benefit of the 
Contractor or the Contractor’s agents or employees as a result of this Contract. 

 
P. Notices. All notices arising out of, or from, the provisions of this Contract shall be in 

writing either by regular mail or delivery in person at the addresses provided under 
this Contract. 

 
Q. Ownership and Return of Documents and Information. Council is the official 

custodian and owns all documents, data compilations, reports, computer programs, 
photographs, data, and other work it has provided to the Contractor for use in the 
performance of this Contract. Upon termination of this Contract, for any reason, 
Contractor agrees to return all such original information and documents to the Council 
in a useable format. In the case of electronic transmission, such transmission shall be 
secured. The return of information by any other means shall be by a parcel service 
that utilizes tracking numbers. Upon Council’s verified receipt of such information, 
Contractor agrees to physically and electronically destroy any residual Council- 
owned data that Council has identified as such prior to disclosure, regardless of 
format, and any other storage media or areas containing such information. Contractor 
agrees to provide written notice to Council confirming the destruction of any such 
residual Council-owned data. 

 
Contractor shall provide assistance as reasonably requested by Council so that Council 
can comply with its obligations under the Freedom of Information Act or other public 
records requirements. 

 
R. Patent or Copyright Protection. The Contractor recognizes that certain proprietary 

matters or techniques may be subject to patent, trademark, copyright, license, or other 
similar restrictions, and represents to the best of its knowledge that no work performed 
by the Contractor or its subcontractors will violate any such restriction. In the event 
Contractor, through its Office of Technology Development, receives written notice or 
otherwise becomes aware that the activities conducted by Contractor under this 
Contract are, or may be, infringing on the proprietary rights of a third party, in such 
manner as to prevent Council from utilizing the license rights outlined in Section 7.C 
of this Contract, Contractor, through its Office of Technology Development will 
immediately provide written notice thereof to Council. 



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 9 of 13 

 

 

S. Prior Approval. This Contract shall not be binding upon either party, no research 
shall be performed, and the Wyoming State Auditor shall not draw warrants for 
payment, until this Contract has been fully executed, approved as to form by the 
Office of the Attorney General, filed with and approved by A&I Procurement, and 
approved by the Governor of the State of Wyoming, or his designee, if required by 
Wyo. Stat. § 9-2-3204(b)(iv). By fully executing and returning this Contract to 
Contractor, Council warrants that all such required approvals have been obtained. 

 
T. Insurance Requirements. 

 
(i) During the term of this Contract, the Contractor shall obtain and maintain, and 

ensure that each subcontractor obtains and maintains, each type of insurance 
coverage specified in Insurance Coverage, below. 

 
(ii) All policies shall be primary over any insurance or self-insurance program 

carried by the Contractor or the State of Wyoming. All policies shall include 
clauses stating that each insurance carrier shall waive all rights of recovery 
under subrogation or otherwise against Contractor or the State, its agencies, 
institutions, organizations, officers, agents, employees, and volunteers. 

 
(iii) The Contractor shall provide Certificates of Insurance to the Council verifying 

each type of coverage required herein. If the policy is a “claims made” policy 
instead of an “occurrence” policy, the information provided shall include, but 
is not limited to, retroactive dates and extended reporting periods or tails. 

 
(iv) Contractor shall provide at least thirty (30) days advance written notice of 

cancellation of all policies referenced herein to the Council. 
 

(v) In case of a breach of any provision relating to Insurance Requirements or 
Insurance Coverage, the Council may, at the Council’s option, obtain and 
maintain, at the expense of the Contractor, such insurance in the name of the 
Contractor, or subcontractor, as the Council may deem proper and may deduct 
the cost of obtaining and maintaining such insurance from any sums which 
may be due or become due to the Contractor under this Contract. 

 
(vi) All policies required by this Contract shall be issued by an insurance company 

with an A.M. Best rating of A- VIII or better. 
 

U. Insurance Coverage. The Contractor shall obtain and maintain the following 
insurance in accordance with the Insurance Requirements set forth above: 

 
(i) Commercial General Liability Insurance. Commercial general liability 

insurance (CGL) coverage, occurrence form, covering liability claims for 
bodily injury and property damage arising out of premises, operations, 
products and completed operations, and personal and advertising injury, with 
minimum limits as follows: 

(a) $1,000,000.00 each occurrence; 



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 10 of 13 

 

 

(b) $1,000,000.00 personal injury and advertising injury; 
(c) $2,000,000.00 general aggregate; and 
(d) $2,000,000.00 products and completed operations. 

 
The CGL policy shall include coverage for Explosion, Collapse and 
Underground property damage. This coverage may not be excluded by 
endorsement. 

 
(ii) Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance. Employees 

hired in Wyoming to perform work under this Contract shall be covered by 
workers’ compensation coverage obtained through the Wyoming Department 
of Workforce Services’ workers’ compensation program, if statutorily 
required. Employees brought into Wyoming from Contractor’s home state to 
perform work under this Contract shall be covered by workers’ compensation 
coverage obtained through the Wyoming Department of Workforce Services’ 
workers’ compensation program or other state or private workers’ 
compensation insurance approved by the Wyoming Department of Workforce 
Services, if statutorily required. 

 
The Contractor shall provide the Council with a Certificate of Good Standing 
or other proof of workers’ compensation coverage for all of its employees who 
are to perform work under this Contract, if such coverage is required by law. 
If workers’ compensation coverage is obtained by Contractor through the 
Wyoming Department of Workforce Services’ workers’ compensation 
program, Contractor shall also obtain Employer’s Liability “Stop Gap” 
coverage through an endorsement to the CGL policy required by this Contract, 
with minimum limits as follows: 

 
(a) Bodily Injury by Accident: $1,000,000.00 each accident; 
(b) Bodily Injury by Disease: $1,000,000.00 each employee; and 
(c) Bodily Injury by Disease: $1,000,000.00 policy limit. 

 
(iii) Unemployment Insurance. The Contractor shall be duly registered with the 

Department of Workforce Services and obtain such unemployment insurance 
coverage as required. The Contractor shall supply Council with a Certificate 
of Good Standing or other proof of unemployment insurance coverage. 

 
(iv) Automobile Liability Insurance. Automobile liability insurance covering any 

auto (including owned, hired, and non-owned) with minimum limits of 
$1,000,000.00 each accident combined single limit. 

 
(v) Professional Liability or Errors and Omissions Liability Insurance. 

Professional liability insurance or errors and omissions liability insurance 
protecting against any and all claims arising from the Contractor’s alleged or 
real professional errors, omissions, or mistakes in the performance of 
professional duties under this Contract, with minimum limits as follows: 

(a) $1,000,000.00 each occurrence; and 



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 11 of 13 

 

 

(b) $1,000,000.00 general aggregate. 
 

The policy shall have an extended reporting period of two (2) years. 
 

(vi) Commercial Crime Insurance. Commercial crime insurance including 
employee dishonesty coverage with minimum limits of $1,000,000.00 each 
occurrence. 

 
(vii) Cyber Liability Insurance. Cyber liability insurance which shall be sufficiently 

broad to cover all duties and obligations undertaken by Contractor and shall 
include, but not be limited to, claims involving infringement of intellectual 
property, including, but not limited to, infringement of copyright, trademark, 
trade dress, invasion of privacy violations, information theft, damage to or 
destruction of electronic information, release of private information, 
alteration of electronic information, extortion, and network 
security, with minimum limits as follows: 

(a) $2,000,000.00 each occurrence; and 
(b) $2,000,000.00 general aggregate. 

 
Coverage shall include breach response costs, regulatory fines and penalties, 
and credit monitoring expenses, with limits sufficient to respond to these 
obligations. 

 
V. Severability. Should any portion of this Contract be judicially determined to be 

illegal or unenforceable, the remainder of the Contract shall continue in full force and 
effect, and the parties may renegotiate the terms affected by the severance. 

 
W. Sovereign Immunity and Limitations. Pursuant to Wyo. Stat. § 1-39-104(a), the 

State of Wyoming and Council expressly reserve sovereign immunity by entering into 
this Contract and specifically retain all immunities and defenses available to them as 
sovereigns. The parties acknowledge that the State of Wyoming has sovereign 
immunity and only the Wyoming Legislature has the power to waive sovereign 
immunity. The parties further acknowledge that there are constitutional and statutory 
limitations on the authority of the State of Wyoming and its agencies or 
instrumentalities to agree to certain terms and conditions supplied by the Contractor, 
including, but not limited to, the following: liability for damages; choice of law; 
conflicts of law; venue and forum-selection clauses; defense or control of litigation or 
settlement; liability for acts or omissions of third parties; payment of attorneys’ fees 
or costs; additional insured provisions; dispute resolution, including, but not limited 
to, arbitration; indemnification of another party; and confidentiality. Any such 
provisions in the Contract, or in any attachments or documents incorporated by 
reference, will not be binding on the State of Wyoming. Designations of venue, choice 
of law, enforcement actions, and similar provisions shall not be construed as a waiver 
of sovereign immunity. The parties agree that any ambiguity in this Contract shall not 
be strictly construed, either against or for either party, except that any ambiguity as to 
sovereign immunity shall be construed in favor of sovereign immunity. 

 



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 12 of 13 

 

 

X. Taxes. The Contractor shall pay all taxes and other such amounts as required by 
federal, state, and local law, including, but not limited to, federal and social security 
taxes, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, and sales taxes. 

 
Y. Termination of Contract. This Contract may be terminated, without cause, by either 

party upon thirty (30) days written notice. This Contract may be terminated by either 
party for cause if the other party fails to perform in accordance with the terms of this 
Contract if such failure has not been cured within thirty (30) days after written notice 
of the failure to perform has been given. In the event of early termination, Council 
shall pay Contractor for all milestones completed as referenced in Section 4 and for 
any expenses incurred for any partially completed milestones as of the date of 
termination, including any non-cancelable obligations. 

 
Z. Third-Party Beneficiary Rights. The parties do not intend to create in any other 

individual or entity the status of third-party beneficiary, and this Contract shall not be 
construed so as to create such status. The rights, duties, and obligations contained in 
this Contract shall operate only between the parties to this Contract and shall inure 
solely to the benefit of the parties to this Contract. The provisions of this Contract are 
intended only to assist the parties in determining and performing their obligations under 
this Contract. 

 
AA. Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence in all provisions of this Contract. 

 
BB.  Titles Not Controlling. Titles of sections and subsections are for reference only and 

shall not be used to construe the language in this Contract. 
 

CC.  Waiver. The waiver of any breach of any term or condition in this Contract shall not 
be deemed a waiver of any prior or subsequent breach. Failure to object to a breach 
shall not constitute a waiver. 

DD. Counterparts. This Contract may be executed in counterparts. Each counterpart, when 
executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original and all counterparts together shall 
constitute one and the same Contract. Delivery by the Contractor of an originally 
signed counterpart of this Contract by facsimile or PDF shall be followed up 
immediately by delivery of the originally signed counterpart to the Council. 

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 



Contract between Wyoming Business Council and President and Fellows of Harvard 
College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School Page 13 of 13 

 

 

9. Signatures. The parties to this Contract, either personally or through their duly authorized 
representatives, have executed this Contract on the dates set out below, and certify that they 
have read, understood, and agreed to the terms and conditions of this Contract. 

 
The Effective Date of this Contract is the date of the signature last affixed to this page. 

 
 

COUNCIL: 
Wyoming Business Council 

 
 
Joshua J. Dorrell, Chief Executive Officer Date 

 
 
Sarah S. Fitz-Gerald, Chief Strategy Officer Date 

 
 

CONTRACTOR: 
President and Fellows of Harvard College, on behalf of the Harvard Kennedy School 

 
 
Sarah Holtz, Sr. Grants and Contracts Officer Date 

 
 

ATTORNEY GENERAL’S OFFICE: APPROVAL AS TO FORM 
 
 
Joshua M. Brackett, Assistant Attorney General Date 



Attachment A, Scope of Work, to Contract Between Wyoming Business Council and 
COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION  

d/b/a CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 
Page 1 of 5 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A  
PDIA for Economic Development in Wyoming 

 
Proposal for a PDIA  

Action-Learning Program 
 
 

January 2024, Cambridge, MA  
 
 

Table of Contents 
 

1. PROGRAM BACKGROUND ............................................... ERROR! BOOKMARK NOT DEFINED. 

2. PDIA ACTION-LEARNING PROGRAM ............................................................................................. 3 
2.1  SELECTION PROCESS .................................................................................................................................... 1 
2.2  ACTION LEARNING FOR TEAMS .................................................................................................................... 1 
2.3 ACTION LEARNING FOR AUTHORIZERS ......................................................................................................... 1 
2.4 TAKING STOCK OF THE LEARNING AND SHARING EXPERIENCE ..................................................................... 1 

3. PROJECT BUDGET .............................................................................................................................. 1 
 



 

Attachment A, Scope of Work, to Contract Between Wyoming Business Council and 
COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION  

d/b/a CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 
Page 2 of 5 

 

1.  Program Background 
 

Building State Capability (BSC) at the Center for International Development (CID) at Harvard 
University is focused on understanding why many governments lack the capability needed to 
function and how this capability can be built effectively. The BSC team has developed an 
approach called Problem Driven Iterative Adaptation (PDIA), which includes the formation of a 
cross-sector team authorized to solve a key problem. The team remains engaged for an extended 
period of time with regular check-ins every two to three weeks. The regularity of this process 
creates tight feedback loops between plans and actions, which often lead to the emergence of 
new capabilities. 

 

Figure 1. Stages of PDIA Process 

 
 

BSC has been putting PDIA principles into practice under the leadership of Professor Matt 
Andrews and has undertaken engagements with government teams in Albania, Sri Lanka, Brazil, 
and several African countries on problems related to agriculture, education, governance, 
industrial development, urban development, tourism, investment promotion, judicial reform and 
public financial management. This work has helped to form a cutting-edge action-oriented 
learning intervention that is well suited to such endeavors. The mechanism integrates internet-
based learning with group-based real world (on-the-job) engagement, and active coaching. 

https://bsc.hks.harvard.edu/
https://bsc.hks.harvard.edu/our-work/building-the-capability-to-implement-a-growth-strategy-in-albania/
https://bsc.hks.harvard.edu/our-work/building-capability-for-economic-transformation-in-sri-lanka/
https://bsc.hks.harvard.edu/our-work/brazil/
https://bsc.hks.harvard.edu/our-work/building-pfm-capabilities-in-africa/


 

Attachment A, Scope of Work, to Contract Between Wyoming Business Council and 
COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION  

d/b/a CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 
Page 3 of 5 

 

BSC has trained and engaged with over 3,500 policy practitioners in 148 countries and created a 
community of practice for people working on implementing public policies around the world. 

The State of Wyoming has experienced slow economic growth and an overall reduction in jobs 
over the last decade. Poor economic opportunity has created deep challenges for individual 
wellbeing and pressures on communities across the large and rural state. Wyoming has also 
experienced a persistent pattern of outmigration in its labor force, which adds to the challenges 
of providing public services for those who remain. 
 
The Growth Lab (GL), led by Ricardo Hausmann has been engaging with the State of Wyoming on 
pathways to growth, jobs, and prosperity since August 2022. As part of this engagement the GL 
has conducted research and developed networks by bringing a variety of experiences, ideas, and 
perspectives together around clear problems. Funding for our executive education programs was 
also included in this agreement. 32 participants from Wyoming have successfully completed our 
10-week Leading Economic Growth (LEG) online executive program and have been exposed to 
the PDIA approach. 2 participants have completed BSC’s flagship Implementing Public Policy (IPP) 
executive program. These participants have continued to work on their growth challenges using 
the PDIA approach as they have found it to be useful.  
 
The Wyoming Business Council (WBC) would like to expand the use of the PDIA approach in the 
state of Wyoming to address issues related to economic growth.  
 
This proposal hopes to explore how deepening our engagement by expanding our training to a 
wider group of actors in Wyoming could lead to more sustained change. We would be building 
upon a core group of WBC staff that we have trained, who speak a shared language and are 
already using our tools and approach. We believe that when groups learn together, systemic 
change is possible. This opportunity to establish an expanded training relationship with the state 
would be an investment in effective people-based policy. This fits squarely within the Harvard 
Kennedy School mission of improving public policy and leadership around the world.    

2. PDIA Action-Learning Program  
 

Transformative change in complex systems requires a flexible and iterative approach with teams 
of people with different skills, ideas, and authority to work together.  

The primary goal of this program is to build the capability of key stakeholders in Wyoming. The 
problem-solving process needs to be owned and led by the people themselves.  

The PDIA online action learning program will be designed and delivered by Principal Investigator 
Matt Andrews. Participants will learn the following skills in this program: leadership, 
communication, working in teams, authorization, time management, and how to solve complex 

https://bsc.hks.harvard.edu/engage/training/leading-economic-growth/
https://bsc.hks.harvard.edu/engage/training/implementing-public-policy/


 

Attachment A, Scope of Work, to Contract Between Wyoming Business Council and 
COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION  

d/b/a CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 
Page 4 of 5 

problems. We believe that this empowers agents to solve their own problems and shape their 
own reform efforts. 

 
2.1  Selection Process 
 

The proposed program would begin with the WBC, in consultation with the governor’s office, 
identifying potential problems as well as participants for the six-month intensive action-
learning program.  

There will be two types of participants: 

• Teams: Up to eight teams will be selected from local/county level, regional/statewide, 
and from the reservation. Each team will include four to six members and will be 
assigned a trained WBC staff as their coach. When multiple teams work on similar 
problems and/or similar contexts, there is a huge opportunity for peer learning. The 
program will include many ways for teams to share successes/challenges and learn from 
one another. 

• Authorizers: Each team will include at least 2 authorizers that will also participate in the 
program. Authorizers will attend separate sessions that will be focused on how to lead 
creative problem-solving teams.  

 

2.2  Action Learning for Teams 
 
The action learning program for the teams will include the following: 

• The program will begin with a 2-day framing workshop in Wyoming. This will be an 
opportunity for the teams to meet each other, develop team constitutions, and be 
introduced to key PDIA tools that they can apply to their nominated problem. 

• Following the framing workshop, teams will continue to engage in weekly iterations 
with regular virtual check-in sessions. Each iteration will involve an action “push” in 
which teams will act on the specific next steps they identify, reflect on the experience of 
such actions, and determine the next steps. Teams will also receive customized content 
on topics like authorization, difficult conversations, time management, delegation and 
trust, based on their needs. 

• A mid-term 2-day workshop will be held in Wyoming approximately 4-5 months after 
the framing workshop. This will be an opportunity to check-in on the progress the teams 
have made and to address any key challenges the teams are facing. 

• Following the mid-term workshop, teams will continue to engage in weekly iterations 
with regular virtual check-in sessions. Content customized to the experience and needs 
of the teams will also be provided.



 

Attachment A, Scope of Work, to Contract Between Wyoming Business Council and 
COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION  

d/b/a CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 
Page 5 of 5 

• A 1-day closing workshop will be held in Wyoming approximately 7-8 months after the 
framing session. At the end of the action push period, the teams will reconvene and 
reflect on their individual and team experiences, share lessons, and determine a 
strategy to build their new-found learning into future work agendas. The learning will 
help determine the next steps for creating a community of practice.  

 
1.3  Action Learning for Authorizers 
 

The program for authorizers will include up to 6 virtual modules and sessions. Self-study module 
with videos and readings to be reviewed before the live virtual session. The topics covered in 
these sessions will include: overview of PDIA; leadership strategies; delegation; time 
management; building trust; and examples of PDIA in action.  

The program will also include opportunities for authorizers to share successes/challenges and to 
learn from one another. 

 
2.4 Taking Stock of the Learning and Sharing Experience   
 
Throughout the project, the BSC team will allocate time and resources towards documenting the 
main findings from our engagement and prepare them for publication and dissemination. These 
may take the form of working papers, blog posts, videos, research briefs, teaching materials 
and/or other types of publication. 
 
 
2. Project Budget  
 

The engagement is initially proposed to last for nine months, from May 1st to January 31 , 2025 
and at a cost of USD $480,000.  

 



BREAK – Back Shortly



REGIONAL 
DIRECTOR REPORTS



Heather Tupper, Southeast Region 

Regional Team Director 

(Albany, Carbon, Goshen, Laramie) 

 

This quarter, the Regional team started exploring The Four Agreements by don Miguel Ruiz.  We decided 
to focus our thoughts for this report on one of the agreements: Don’t Make Assumptions.  The guidance 
under this principle suggests that we should find the courage to ask questions and to express what we 
really want.  We should focus on communicating with others as clearly as we can to avoid 
misunderstandings, sadness, and drama.  This agreement prompted us to spend time reflecting on how 
the assumptions we make impact our interactions with others in the communities we serve.   



Drew Dietrich, East Central Region 
(Converse, Natrona, Niobrara, Platte) 
 

as·sump·tion 
/əˈsəm(p)SH(ə)n/ 

noun 

1. a thing that is accepted as true or as certain to happen, without proof. 

 

Assumptions – we’ve all made them, and they’ve been made about us. 

After a year of being a Regional for the East Central Region, I think it’s fair to say I probably had my own 
share of assumptions about what each county, community, and company needed. I’m sure they also had 
assumptions about what I should or shouldn’t do to help them. I think this vein of thinking applies to all 
sizes of communities, and all types of organizations and industries with whom we interact. We have a 
body of know-how, capacity, and functionality that each of us brings to the table. In turn, each 
community or entity has their own. The past year has been an insightful, humbling, and personally 
rewarding experience.  

Of all the things I have learned the past 12 months, I thought I’d highlight one in particular: assumptions, 
or rather, why one shouldn’t make them. If you’ve not read the Four Agreements (no demerits if not), 
refraining from making assumptions is one of the four key tenants of the author’s thesis:  

“If we don’t make assumptions, we can focus our attention on the truth, not on what we think is the 
truth. Then we see life the way it is, not the way we want to see it.” 

But it goes beyond just that. Making assumptions is a two-way street. We make them about people, 
projects, and situations, and in turn they are fostered upon us. The crux of the issue, is that we (as 
Regionals) should not assume that we know 100% what a community needs, but nor should the 
community rely on us for 100% of their solutions. 

This applies to project funding, strategic planning, local policy implementation, industry alignment, 
infrastructure prioritization, community collaboration, and a host of other critical topics. 

Rather, the past year has taught me that we serve a vital role in balancing that equation: Providing 
support, facilitation, and connections to our constituents, but in turn, empowering those same 
constituents to make the best decisions for themselves. We regionals are always curious, having 
conversations, asking questions, learning the unique nature of those we serve, so that we can be the 
best advocates and allies for them. We nurture their beliefs, support their endeavors, and serve them, so 
that they may in turn, serve themselves. 

I look forward to a new (2nd) year and am humbly excited to see what lies in store for my region, hoping 
that in my small way, I can help be of value, and through the power of not making assumptions, be a 
better partner for my communities.  

 



Kristin Fong, Northwest Region 
(Big Horn, Hot Springs, Park, Washakie) 
 

Assumptions vs. Hypotheses in the Northwest—Digging Deeper 

 

 

“If we don’t make assumptions, we can focus our attention on the truth, 
not on what we think is the truth.” (Adapted from The Four Agreements, 

by Miguel Angel Ruiz, M.D., Jose Luis Ruiz, and Janet Mills) 

What is the truth? And how do you confidently evaluate economic problems without making 
assumptions? A major emphasis within the Business Council’s strategy and resultant economic 
development flywheel is the effort to dig deeper and understand the root causes of problems. However, 
it’s become apparent to me that many of our development ‘problems’ rely on assumptions. I’m as guilty 
as I’m guessing many of you are--we assume that there’s accuracy in the economic problems described 
by colleagues and friends, and rely on mutual trust to agree—but what if we dig deeper?  

 



In a few different conversations I’ve had this month I’ve discovered that community leaders are 
comfortable identifying problems and pretty comfortable applying a solution to the problem. They have 
lived, immersive experience of having grown up in the region, or have accumulated decades of business 
experience with an education or background as an entrepreneur.  They are mentors and community 
leaders willing to take charge and volunteer their blood, sweat, and tears to motivate and save their 
communities.  It is this type of community hero, the driven and ambitious problem-solvers that makes 
Wyoming special and unique.  

However, what these incredibly independent individuals lack however, is the opportunity to pause, ask 
questions from neutral ground, or craft hypotheses to test, adapt, and assess without fear of criticism or 
rejection.  

Something I’ll be digging into this quarter, alongside and on behalf of community leaders that might not 
have capacity is to pause with intention. I’m going to encourage hypothesis instead of assumption, and 
work to emphasize curiosity over certainty. When we pause, we can ask questions, and the answers may 
continuously evolve as we collaborate, question, and work to truly understand the problems at-hand.  

 



 

Patrick Edwards, West Central Region 
(Fremont, Sublette, Teton) 
 
In Miguel Ruiz's work, "The Four Agreements," he emphasizes the significance of avoiding assumptions. 
This principle holds relevance in our daily lives, where the tendency to overanalyze and make 
assumptions is prevalent. Despite being encouraged to think critically and process information, human 
nature often leads us to jump to conclusions based on incomplete or inaccurate perceptions. 

In my experience, I've witnessed the detrimental effects of assumptions within my region, particularly 
evident in public meetings and economic development endeavors. Community leaders and citizens 
frequently make assumptions about others' viewpoints, leading to misunderstandings and impeding 
progress. Similarly, in economic development initiatives, unfounded assumptions about individuals' 
motivations can hinder the success of proposed projects. 

Contrary to the notion of always assuming positive intent, it's essential to acknowledge that not 
everyone operates with benevolent motives. Some individuals may intentionally obstruct policy 
decisions or projects for personal gain or ideological reasons. This reality underscores the importance of 
discernment and critical thinking in our interactions and decision-making processes. 

My region, comprising Teton County, Sublette County, and Fremont County, embodies a diverse 
spectrum of socio-economic landscapes. While Teton County boasts significant wealth, Fremont County 
grapples with poverty. However, superficial observations may lead one to misconstrue economic 
opportunities, as Fremont County often demonstrates greater flexibility and development potential 
despite its challenges. 

One notable example of the consequences of assumptions occurred during the recent implementation 
of the A2A program in Fremont County communities. Prior to the program, I had assumptions about 
how community members would participate and contribute to the initiative. However, I was proven 
wrong on many counts. While some exceeded my expectations by going above and beyond, others fell 
short of what I anticipated in terms of their involvement and achievements. Additionally, my assumption 
of an inherent rivalry among the communities was challenged as participants exhibited a strong desire 
to collaborate and support one another, rather than engage in competition. 

Navigating my role in such a diverse region has reinforced the necessity of approaching situations with 
an open mind and without preconceptions. Engaging with elected officials and community members 
requires active listening and a willingness to understand diverse perspectives. Those who fail to do so 
risk encountering opposition and hindering their objectives. 

In embracing the principle of avoiding assumptions, it's imperative to prioritize active listening and 
genuine curiosity. Rather than seeking to impose solutions or answers, fostering a culture of inquiry and 
understanding fosters collaboration and mitigates conflicts. As I continue to learn and grow in my role, I 



remain committed to approaching each day with an open mind and a dedication to seeking 
understanding. 

There are many exciting things on the horizon in my region. There is talk of a possible data center, 
potential for the tribes to receive between $50 and $100 million in funding for infrastructure, work 
towards a multi use sports complex, potential housing development and more. It is an exciting time to 
engage, listen and work towards finding the right solutions. 

 



Brandi Harlow, Northeast Region 
(Campbell, Crook, Johnson, Sheridan, Weston) 
 

Don’t Make Assumptions 

Whose role is economic development? During the past quarter, I have been involved in several 
conversations with communities who want to realign and focus their economic development efforts.  
The Gillette Economic Development Partnership and Sheridan’s Economic Development Task Force have 
both had conversations about economic development as a greater role, more than one organization or 
one person. 

Here are two realignment efforts. Sheridan is talking about developing an Economic Development 
Response Team, since the Sheridan Economic and Educational Development Authority (SEEDA) only has 
one employee.  The intent of the Response Team is to organize other entities, like the Chamber of 
Commerce, Main Street, Visit Sheridan, City and County Administration and others to be ready to step in 
and help with future economic development efforts.  Gillette recently participated in an Assessment 2 
Action Workshop.  The group talked about the overall efforts of several organizations that assist with 
economic development efforts.  It is not one agency’s role, but rather a combination of several agencies’ 
efforts.    

Another example includes the Campbell County Lodging Tax Joint Powers Board and Gillette Main Street 
organizations which are not typically thought of as leaders in economic development.  They have spent 
the past three years focusing their small staff’s efforts on recruiting the International Pathfinder 
Camporee event to Gillette this summer.  The Pathfinder’s club is a youth organization through the 
Seventh Day Adventist Church.  The event is expected to bring 55,000 people to Gillette, on August 4-11, 
2024! There is a second contract to return in 2029.  The event is so large, the Office of Homeland 
Security has been meeting monthly to plan for that many additional people in the state.  People from 
108 countries across the globe are anticipated to fly into the local airport, as well as airports in Rapid 
City, Denver, Billings and Salt Lake City.  This will bring travelers across the entire state, developing 
economic impacts for several communities along their path, spanning all four corners of Wyoming.  Part 
of the attraction was Gillette’s world-class facilities, at the Cam-Plex Multi-Events Center, Campbell 
County Recreation Center, and the Energy Capital Sports Complex.  These facilities are amazing amenities 
for a community of just over 30,000 people.  By using these local assets, the community’s population will 
triple while bringing an estimated economic impact of $25 million to the local economy, not including 
the dollars spent across the state.  This will accelerate the economic flywheel.   

Our theme of “Don’t Make Assumptions” seems to align directly with economic development efforts.  
Some projects are typical infrastructure projects, led by economic developers, but sometimes you must 
think bigger and broader about who the leaders are, and who is making the impact in communities.  It is 
not always as it seems.  It has been interesting watching community leaders in both Gillette and Sheridan 
start to embrace the concept that economic development is not led by a single agency but rather several 
agencies with all hands-on deck.  



 
Kiley Ingersoll, Southwest Region  
(Lincoln, Sweetwater, Uinta) 
 

When contempla�ng assump�ons, I consider them as simplifica�ons that may not always accurately 
represent the real-world situa�on. With this perspec�ve, I began examining systems within my region, 
hoping they would benefit and con�nue to do so when assump�ons are eliminated. 

As many are aware, Rocky Mountain Power is the predominant electricity provider in my region. On 
January 26, 2024, they introduced a new economic development tool for Wyoming. U�li�es play a 
founda�onal role in economic development, par�cularly in recruitment and expansion efforts. While I 
lack insight into the internal workings of a private company, I believe this rollout was not arbitrary. It 
seems to have resulted from collabora�on, communica�on, and the iden�fica�on of a root problem. 

To understand this development, it is important that we revisit our Insite project a few months back. 
Before the project, leads for new businesses or expansions some�mes went unanswered by 
communi�es due to a lack of inventory, with informa�on on the u�li�es’ sec�on o�en le� blank or very 
minimally filled out. We assumed communi�es lacked inventory, �me to complete the forms, or were 
doing other items for their communi�es. But, by not submi�ng a Request for Informa�on (RFI) meant 
immediate elimina�on as a poten�al site from the interested party. 

A�er the Insite project, with educa�on on the importance of completed informa�on, I gained a stronger 
understanding of why it was crucial for communi�es to be in the race. However, this led into a process of 
uncovering the true problem. Through numerous conversa�ons, collabora�ons with mul�ple people and 
agencies, and connec�ons, we discovered that our assump�on that u�li�es could not provide the 
necessary informa�on was flawed. The u�lity might not have fully understood the importance of the 
informa�on. Once everyone comprehended the problem, the u�lity took ini�a�ve and is now working 
on changing its system. Being part of changing a system outside our own organiza�on is truly exci�ng.  
History won’t remember how this change has come to be (or even that it is a change), but it is because 
of that, there is much more importance in ge�ng the systems that make our economic development 
thrive right.  

In my region, this systems change might be just what our communi�es need to enhance their capacity to 
respond to leads and poten�ally level the playing field with other communi�es in neighboring states or 
regions. It could also be the catalyst for momentum in our community flywheel. While I am always 
op�mis�c, if modifica�ons or changes are necessary, our open lines of communica�on and rela�onships 
will facilitate the process. I want to extend a big shout-out and kudos to Wendy Lopez and John Jenks for 
their work on this PDIA process, along with the en�re energy workstream, including the Wyoming Energy 
Authority, Governor’s Office, and local EDO’s. I know my region thanks them and Rocky Mountain Power 
for all the forward moving process. Overall, by being aware of our assump�ons and ensuring they do not 
hinder our progress, we can make both internal and external system changes that will con�nue to be the 
spark for the economy in our communi�es. 

htps://www.rockymountainpower.net/about/newsroom/news-releases/wyoming-new-economic-
development-tool.html 

https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/Documents/Public-O4B/Boards%20&%20Councils/WBC%20Board%20of%20Directors/WBC%20Board%202024/February%2022%20Cheyenne/Regional%20Reports/%0dhttps:/www.rockymountainpower.net/about/newsroom/news-releases/wyoming-new-economic-development-tool.html
https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/Documents/Public-O4B/Boards%20&%20Councils/WBC%20Board%20of%20Directors/WBC%20Board%202024/February%2022%20Cheyenne/Regional%20Reports/%0dhttps:/www.rockymountainpower.net/about/newsroom/news-releases/wyoming-new-economic-development-tool.html
https://wybiz-my.sharepoint.com/personal/publico4b_wbcgov_net/Documents/Public-O4B/Boards%20&%20Councils/WBC%20Board%20of%20Directors/WBC%20Board%202024/February%2022%20Cheyenne/Regional%20Reports/%0dhttps:/www.rockymountainpower.net/about/newsroom/news-releases/wyoming-new-economic-development-tool.html


OPERATIONS 
COMMITTEE REPORT



Optimum = 50%
BUDGET SUMMARY BUDGET EXPENDED ENCUMBERED BALANCE % Avail. Cash Balance YTD Receipts

Economic Diversification
   Investments $93,542,553 $1,164,601 $47,294,366 $45,083,586 51.80%
      Investments (BRC/CDBG) $21,000 $11,627 $0 $9,373 55.37%
      Finance $14,516 $1,602 $0 $12,914 11.03%
      Business Ready Communities (Includes MRG) $88,007,037 $1,151,372 $47,294,366 $39,561,299 55.05%
      Community Facilities $5,500,000 $0 $0 $5,500,000 0.00%
   Services $9,484,332 $2,542,996 $2,789,473 $4,151,862 56.22%
      Services $3,319,862 $1,418,961 $1,876,908 $23,993 99.28%
      Broadband Administration (fund 004) $106,401 $7,723 $0 $98,678 7.26%
      Entrepreneurship $4,170,000 $600,220 $635,000 $2,934,780 29.62%
      Main Street $235,660 $51,058 $7,981 $176,621 25.05%
      Markets & Expansion $431,215 $135,322 $63,970 $231,923 46.22%
      Recruitment $914,150 $209,616 $72,325 $632,210 30.84%
      Community Development $63,055 $9,397 $0 $53,658 14.90%
      Asia Pacific Trade Office $243,988 $110,699 $133,289 $0 100.00%
Wyoming Business Council
   Operations $7,319,489 $2,722,005 $53,910 $4,543,573 37.92%
       Accounting $112,000 $20,000 $32,000 $60,000 46.43%
       Agency Services $382,514 $71,255 $21,910 $289,349 24.36%
       Board $34,731 $18,798 $0 $15,933 54.12%
       Executive $17,435 $13,146 $0 $4,290 75.40%
       HR (Non-Payroll) $463,684 $32,470 $0 $431,215 7.00%
       HR (Payroll) $6,046,431 $2,420,434 $0 $3,625,997 40.03%
       IT $262,694 $145,904 $0 $116,790 55.54%
   Regional Directors $90,000 $25,271 $0 $64,729 28.08%
   Strategy $540,159 $167,611 $192,526 $180,022 66.67%
      General Strategy $281,840 $128,225 $144,628 $8,988 96.81%
      Communications $73,626 $8,186 $0 $65,440 11.12%
      Strategic Partnerships $184,693 $31,200 $47,898 $105,595 42.83%

TOTAL GENERAL FUNDS $110,976,532 $6,622,484 $50,330,275 $54,023,773 51.32%

Federal Funds
    Brownfield Revolving Loan Program $743,461 $16,603 482,452            $244,406 67.13%
    ARPA State Planning $441,272 $162,211 279,061            $0 100.00%
    State Small Business Credit Initiative $899,294 $123,189 $0 $776,105 13.70% 10,304,026$                     244,325$       
    State Trade and Export Program (STEP) $201,279 $62,925 10,000              $128,353 36.23%
    Digital Equity/Access $373,770 $255,032 $118,739 $0 100.00%
    Broadband Equity, Access, & Deployment (BEAD) $3,529,003 $1,553,069 $1,806,229 $169,705 95.19%

TOTAL FEDERAL FUNDS $6,188,079 $2,173,029 $2,696,481 $1,318,569 78.69%

Agency Funds
    Economic Loan Development (fund 039/089)* $25,629,118 $29,714 $48,528 $25,550,876 0.31% 12,753,250$                     743,873$       
    Rural Rehabilitation (fund 499) $280,500 $11,950 $0 $268,550 4.26% 4,796,251$                       64,803$         
    Wyoming Business Council (fund 085) $72,348 $1,012 $0 $71,336 1.40% 216,393$                          3,422$           

TOTAL AGENCY FUNDS $25,981,966 $42,676 $48,528 $25,890,762 0.35%

TOTAL BUDGET $143,146,577 $8,838,189 $53,075,284 $81,233,104 43.25%

American Rescue Plan Act 
    Pathways to Prosperity $1,223,816 $486,634 $205,177 $532,004 56.53%
    Capital Projects Fund - Broadband $73,081,950 $687,199 $261,251 $72,133,500 1.30%

TOTAL ARPA $74,305,766 $1,173,833 $466,428 $72,665,504 2.21%
* $27.26 million reserved for Large Loan Fund

Loan Type Balance
Economic Disaster 4,696,887      
Bridge 1,513,422      
Amendment IV -                 
Natural Gas Infrastructure 169,754         
WyoTech 3,584,335      
BRC 13,557,982    
Unallocated Allowance (44,381)          

23,477,999    

Wyoming Business Council
YTD December 31, 2023 (2023/2024 Biennium)

5%

1% 0%

56%

31%

7%

Budgeted Expenditures by Funding Source

  Personnel Expenses

  Support services

  Central data services

  Grants

  Non-operating expenses (Loans)

  Professional services

  Personnel
Expenses

  Support
services

  Central data
services

  Grants

  Non-
operating
expenses
(Loans)

  Professional
services

Budget Remaining $3,952,970 $1,551,035 $58,073 $36,700,628 $37,290,996 $1,679,401

Budget Used $2,493,715 $553,901 $22,792 $42,974,057 $7,426,288 $8,442,722

$2,493,715 
$553,901 $22,792 

$42,974,057 

$7,426,288 

$8,442,722 

$3,952,970 
$1,551,035 $58,073 

$36,700,628 

$37,290,996 

$1,679,401 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Line Item Expenditure Summary



WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL 
QUARTER 2 FISCAL YEAR 2024 FINANCIAL REPORT 

 
BUDGET REPORT 

General Funds 

 December 31, 2023, budget utilization came in at 51.32% compared to the 50% optimum 

budget utilization for the first half of the fiscal year.  

 WBC and Economic Diversification budgets (budgets that revert) are at 48.95% utilization. 

 Budgets much higher than the optimum are Services, Asia Pacific Trade Office, and Strategy. This 

is because of encumbrances made for the full fiscal year. 

Federal Funds 

 Total expenditures on our federal programs for this first half of the fiscal year were 

approximately $2.17 million. 

 The State Small Business Credit Initiative had available cash of $10.30 million and had invested 

$9.02 million in direct investments as of December 31. 

Agency Funds 

 As of December 31, the Economic Loan Development fund had an available budget of $25.55 

million. Of this, $25 million is for large loan projects. Total available cash as of June 30 is $40.58 

million, however $27.83 million is reserved for large loan projects, leaving $12.75 million 

available for Challenge loans. The fund has received $743,873 in loan principal and interest 

payments, and investment income from the State Treasurer’s Office (STO) on the cash held in 

the fund. 

 As of December 31, the Rural Rehabilitation fund had an available budget of $268,550, and 

$4.80 million in available cash. The fund has earned $64,803 in investment income. 

 As of September 30, the Wyoming Business Council fund had an available budget of $71,336, 

and $216,393 in available cash. It earned $3,422 in investment income. 

American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Funds 

 Our FY 2024 ARPA funds budget is $74.30 million, of which the Capital Projects Funds for 

broadband is $73.08 million. 

 Through the first quarter of FY 2024, $687,199 has been spent for the Capital Projects Fund. 

 

 

BUDGETED EXPENDITURES 

 For the quarter ending December 31, 2023, our grants budget makes up 56% and our loans budget 

makes up 31% of our total budget, which is consistent with the previous quarter budget makeup. 

 

 



LINE-ITEM EXPENDITURE SUMMARY 

 The loan line-item increased utilization from the previous quarter because of BRC loan approved this 

quarter. However, it is below 20% utilization, because of the $25 million loan budget for large loans. 

In addition, $11.72 million of the unobligated BRC budget is currently allocated to the BRC loan 

budget.  

 The professional services line item is over 80% utilization. Again, this is because of encumbrances 

that have been made for executed contracts that go through the end of the fiscal year. 

LOANS RECEIVABLE 

 The net loans receivable balance as of December 31, 2023, is $23.48 million. 

 Total principal and interest payments on loans received during the first half of the fiscal year is $1.64 

million. 



















































































































































 

 
Amendment Two to the Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and WAVE INTERACTIVE, LLC 
Page 1 of 3 

 

AMENDMENT TWO TO THE CONTRACT BETWEEN 
WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL 

AND 
WAVE INTERACTIVE, LLC 

 
1. Parties.  This Amendment is made and entered into by and between the Wyoming Business 

Council (Council), whose address is:  214 W 15th St, Cheyenne, WY 82002 and WAVE 
INTERACTIVE, LLC (Contractor), whose address is: 12801 Pierce Street, Suite 110, Omaha, 
Nebraska 68144. 

 
2. Purpose of Amendment.  This Amendment shall constitute the second amendment to the 

Contract between the Council and the Contractor.  The purpose of this Amendment is to: a) 
increase the total Contract dollar amount by thirty thousand dollars ($30,000.00) to two-
hundred fifteen thousand dollars ($215,000.00). 

 
The original Contract, dated January 24, 2022, required the Contractor to provide development 
and integration services for and with the Council’s Salesforce environment, for a total Contract 
amount of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000.00) with an expiration date of June 30, 2022.  
 
Amendment One, dated June 27, 2022, amended the original Contract to: a) extend the term 
of the Contract through June 30, 2024; b) increase the total Contract dollar amount by one 
hundred sixty thousand dollars ($160,000.00) to one hundred eighty-five thousand dollars 
($185,000.00); and c) amend the service fees under Section 5B(iii), (iv) and (v) to one 
hundred forty dollars ($140.00) per hour. 
 

3. Term of the Amendment.  This Amendment shall commence on the date the last required 
signature is affixed hereto (Effective Date), and shall remain in full force and effect through the 
term of the Contract, as amended, unless terminated at an earlier date pursuant to the provisions 
of the Contract, or pursuant to federal or state statute, rule, or regulation.  

 
4. Amendments.   

 
A. The second sentence of Section 4(A) of the original Contract is hereby amended to read 

as follows: 
 

“The total payment under this Contract shall not exceed two hundred fifteen thousand 
dollars ($215,000.00).” 

 
5.  Amended Responsibilities of the Contractor.  Responsibilities of the Contractor have not 

changed. 
 
6. Amended Responsibilities of the Council.  Responsibilities of the Council have not changed.  

 
7. Special Provisions.  

 



 

 
Amendment Two to the Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and WAVE INTERACTIVE, LLC 
Page 2 of 3 

 

A. Same Terms and Conditions.  With the exception of items explicitly delineated in this 
Amendment, all terms and conditions of the original Contract, and any previous 
amendments, between the Council and the Contractor, including but not limited to 
sovereign immunity, shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 

 
B. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts. Each counterpart, 

when executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original and all counterparts together 
shall constitute one and the same Amendment. Delivery by the Contractor of an 
originally signed counterpart of this Amendment by facsimile or PDF shall be followed 
up immediately by delivery of the originally signed counterpart to the Council. The 
Contractor’s failure to deliver, either personally or via US Mail, postage prepaid, the 
originally signed counterpart to the Council within five (5) business days shall be 
considered a material breach and may result in immediate termination of the original 
Contract by the Council. 

 
8. General Provisions. 

 
A. Entirety of Contract.  The original Contract, consisting of fourteen (14) pages; 

Amendment One, consisting of three (3) pages; and this Amendment Two, consisting 
of three (3) pages, represent the entire and integrated agreement between the parties and 
supersede all prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether written or 
oral.  

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 



 

 
Amendment Two to the Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and WAVE INTERACTIVE, LLC 
Page 3 of 3 

 

9. Signatures. The parties to this Amendment, through their duly authorized representatives, 
have executed this Amendment on the dates set out below, and certify that they have read, 
understood, and agreed to the terms and conditions of this Amendment. 

 
This Amendment is not binding on either party until approved by A&I Procurement and the 
Governor of the State of Wyoming or his designee, if required by Wyo. Stat. § 9-2-3204(b)(iv). 
 

 
 
COUNCIL: 
Wyoming Business Council 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Joshua J. Dorrell, Chief Executive Officer      Date 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Amy L. Grenfell, Chief Operating Officer      Date 
 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
WAVE INTERACTIVE, LLC 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Jamie McNeely, Senior Vice President of Digital Experience   Date 
 
 
 
ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE:  APPROVAL AS TO FORM 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Joshua M. Brackett, Assistant Attorney General     Date 
 
 



INVESTMENTS 
COMMITTEE



 
214 W. 15th Street 

Cheyenne, WY  82002 
Tel: (307) 777-2800 Fax: (307) 777-2838 

www.wyomingbusiness.org 

Memorandum 
To: Wyoming Business Council Board of Directors  
From: Investments Team  
Subject: Termination of the Cody Legacy Meats Business Committed Project 
Date: February 22, 2024 

      
The Cody Legacy Meats Business Committed Grant & Loan Project has been terminated.   
 
The Wyoming Business Council Board of Directors recommended the grant to the City of Cody 
at the September 8, 2022 board mee�ng in the amount of $1,000,000 from the ENDOW 
Agriculture Marke�ng Subaccount.  The loan for this project was recommended at the 
December 15, 2022 board mee�ng in the amount of $926,288. 
 
The State Loan and Investment Board (SLIB) approved both the grant and loan 
recommenda�ons at their February 2, 2023 mee�ng. 
 
Funds for this project will be de-obligated and revert back to the ENDOW Subaccount and BRC 
account, respec�vely. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS  

• Forward Cody Termina�on Leter 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.wyomingbusiness.org/




 
214 W. 15th Street 

Cheyenne, WY  82002 
Tel: (307) 777-2800 Fax: (307) 777-2838 

www.wyomingbusiness.org 

Memorandum 
To: Wyoming Business Council Board of Directors  
From: Investments Division  
Subject: Extension of Cheyenne Microsoft Project Bison Managed Data Center Project 
Date: February 22, 2024 

      
The City of Cheyenne is requesting the Wyoming Business Council Board’s consideration to 
extend the grant agreement for the Microsoft Project Bison Managed Data Center Cost Reduction 
(MDCCR) project. 
 
This project has not been reimbursed any funds for data and utility costs as they are just finishing 
up construction and yet to be operational. Pursuant to BRC Rules, Chapter 4, Section a.ii, a data 
center must be operational within one year from the time the grant is approved, or funds may 
be de-obligated.  
 
PROJECT OVERVIEW  
The Wyoming Business Council Board of Directors recommended a BRC MDCCR grant to the 
City of Cheyenne at the December 9, 2021 board mee�ng in the amount of $2,250,000. The 
State Loan and Investment Board (SLIB) approved the recommenda�on at their February 3, 
2022 mee�ng. The grant agreement for this project had a start date of September 1, 2022, and 
reimbursement comple�on date of December 31, 2026.  
 
Microso� has purchased a 260-acre parcel of land in the Bison Business Park in Cheyenne to 
develop a large data center campus that will store and process data, create a pla�orm for 
economic growth, spur job crea�on and help develop the technical ecosystem that exists in 
Laramie County.  Their goal is to create at least 13 jobs at $33/hour, as well as invest $50 
million in capital expenditures towards this project. 
 
EXTENSION REQUEST  
The City of Cheyenne is reques�ng a six-month to one-year grant extension for the BRC project 
due to weather events and equipment and vendor support challenges that have contributed to 
interrup�ons with construc�on and permi�ng.   
 

http://www.wyomingbusiness.org/


 
ATTACHMENTS  

• City of Cheyenne Extension Request Leter  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
The Investment Division recommends and requests the WBC Board of Directors approve a one-
year (expiring 12/31/2027) grant extension for the City of Cheyenne Microsoft Project Bison 
Managed Data Center Cost Reduction (MDCCR) project. 
 
 
 
 





CITY OF CASPER WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL
BUSINESS READY COMMUNITY GRANT & LOAN PROGRAM

CITY OF
CASPER

NORTH PLATTE
RIVER PARK NO. 2

DEVELOPMENT

COMMUNITY READINESS 
APPLICATION

$5,000,000 Grant Request
$1,252,804 Match
Total Project Costs: $6,252,804

PROJECT OVERVIEW

The City of Casper requests a $5 million Community Readiness grant to complete the sanitary
sewer system and stormwater system improvements to support the development of the North
Platte River Park Subdivision No. 2 project. 

This development is 112 acres of vacant, city-owned land located by Interstate 25, the US Highway
20-26 Bypass, and Poplar Street. This will be developed into 2 business-ready lots, that can be
further subdivided, for private development. 

Based on the location of the site, the proposed project would enable the City to leverage the
planned expansion of the Ford Wyoming Center and the Bureau of Land Management’s (BLM)
National Historic Trails Interpretive Center, as well as the new Wyoming Sports Ranch, a 130,000-
square-foot sports complex designed to host youth and amateur sports tournaments. The Sports
Ranch is currently under construction and is scheduled to open in 2025.



project evaluation
JOB QUALITY

Not applicable for this application

COMPANY STRENGTH
Not applicable for this application

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
This project aligns with the Generation Casper
Comprehensive Plan, which states a need for
“redevelopment of underutilized industrial
areas, enhancing the city’s attractiveness as a
tourism destination, and ensuring land and
infrastructure investments to accommodate
growth”.

Furthermore, this project is specifically
prioritized by the North Platte River Park No. 2
Subdivision Simple Master Plan, which
engaged community stakeholders and
residents in developing a vision for the future
use of this property. This engagement
included:

Stakeholder’s Workshop (May 2023)
Public Workshop (June 2023)
City Council Meeting (July 2023)
Public Comment Period (August 4 –
September 4, 2023)

This engagement led to this development
vision, which is to include an “Event Center
Village” (hotels, meeting facilities, lodging with
integrated recreation facilities), “Innovation
Employment” (flexible business uses, such as
product development, research, urgent care
clinics, advanced manufacturing, etc),
recreation facilities, destination retail, and
highway services. 

STAFF ANALYSIS
Community engagement, due diligence and
strategic planning processes were thorough
and compelling.
The vision for this project incorporates
many partners, plans, and aligns with the
community’s strategy to ensure viability.

This project is the result of public-private
partnerships developed, including:

Advance Casper
Natrona County
Natrona County School District 1
Banner Wyoming Medical Center
WYO Complex 

(a non-profit organization that is underway
with a capital campaign to raise the $40
million to construct the Wyoming Sports
Ranch. They have succeeded in raising 70%
in private donations to date).

Proud to Host the Best 
(a dedicated group of Casper-area
residents who work to ensure that Casper
remains the host of Wyoming state high
school championship sports).

POTENTIAL FOR OVER

$150M
IN ECONOMIC OUTPUT



State Tax Rate 4%

General Purpose Tax 1%

Special Purpose Tax -

Economic Development
Tax

-

Total County Tax 5%

project evaluation

STATE CONSIDERATIONS
The City of Casper engaged with the University of Wyoming (UW) Center of Business & Economic
Analysis (CBEA) to conduct an Economic Impact Analysis for this project.

The UW CBEA Economic Impact Analysis estimates that over a 5-year period, the construction of
the project will generate an economic output of over $108.5 million for Wyoming, with 932 jobs
created, $44.8 million in labor income, and over half a million in state and local taxes. 

Total post-construction operations impact in Wyoming is expected to exceed $51.2 million in
output, 580 jobs, $16.3 million in labor income, and $4.3 million in state and local taxes. The new
jobs created post-construction will include hospitality jobs, as well jobs for businesses that may
locate in the “Innovation Employment” site, which could include product development and
advanced manufacturing, urgent care and health clinics, technology, or other startups. 

Furthermore, this project aligns with the State’s Economic Development Strategy by:
Developing a culture of innovation that attracts transformative companies and people to the
State
Supporting public-private partnerships 

STAFF ANALYSIS
UW CBEA’s Economic Impact Analysis for this project estimates high economic output for this
project.
Project aligns with the State’s Economic Development Strategy.

Revenue recapture

The current appraised value for the
property is $.90/square foot. Once
the infrastructure improvements are
completed, the City plans to market
the property for sale at the currently
appraised value, or at a discounted
rate, as an incentive to drive business
and economic growth.

The recaptured funds that the City
will retain will be used for a new
water tower within the project area
that would serve Casper, Bar Nunn,
and the County.

county tax structure



SOURCES

BRC Grant
Cash Match
In-Kind Match
TOTAL PROJECT COSTS

BRC % of Total Project Costs
Local % of Total Project Costs

USES

$5,000,000
$927,215
$325,588

$5,252,803
80%
20%

LAND
NON-CONSTRUCTION COSTS

Architectural Fees
Water Storage Tank Design
Surveys, Tests, etc
Project Inspection Work
Site Work

Contingencies 
TOTAL USES

$174,240

$760,794
$832,000

$18,000
$100,448

$3,639,427
$727,894

$6,252,803

C O N S I D E R A T I O N S
COMPELLING:

Potential for over $150 million in
economic output.
Community performed much due
diligence to ensure the project will
be successful and create economic
opportunities in the future.
The plan is well done and considers
many facets of the ecosystem
needed to make the development
successful.

CONCERNING:
Request is higher than maximum
award amount at the time of
application submittal.
Local revenue recapture plans will
not generate additional funds.
Most of the job creation will not be
primary jobs.
County has not implemented the
Economic Development Tax.

r e c o m m e n d a t i o n :
p a r t i a l  f u n d i n g  i n  t h e
a m o u n t  o f  $ 4 , 1 6 8 , 0 0 0

less $832,000 for the proposed
design of the water storage tank
and appurtenances, as that is a
separate phase of this project. 

PROJECT DATA & RECOMMENDATION
CITY OF CASPER

P R O J E C T  S O U R C E S  &  U S E S



HOT SPRINGS
COUNTY

WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL
BUSINESS READY COMMUNITY GRANT & LOAN PROGRAM

HOT SPRINGS
COUNTY

REUSE OF
ABANDONED

AIRPORT
PROPERTY

COMMUNITY READINESS 
APPLICATION

$1,277,895 Grant Request
$1,117,879 Match

Total Project Costs: $2,395,774

PROJECT OVERVIEW

Hot Springs County is requesting a $1.27 million Community Readiness grant to prepare the
former Hot Springs County Airport property for reuse. This 105-acre site is located on a
scenic butte adjacent to the golf course and State Park trail system in Thermopolis, WY. 

The scope of the project includes:
Demolition of all liabilities still remaining on site
Preparation of the site for development
Construction of a new access road
Water, sewer and utilities

The land for the access road is approximately 31 acres and was recently purchased by the
County Commissioners.

Since the new Hot Springs County-Thermopolis Municipal Airport was opened in 2015, the
former airport property has been abandoned and is now a liability for the community.

133%
INCREASE IN LODGING TAX

REVENUE

COUNTY HAS SEEN AS
MUCH AS A 



COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
Thermopolis and Hot Springs County is a tourism
community and has seen visitation increase over
the years. In recent years, the county has seen as
much as a 133% increase in lodging tax revenue.

In 2017, the community completed an
engineering study, which proposed a short-term
plan (0-5 years) of removing all liabilities and
repurposing usable structures. The long-term
plan (5-20 years) would be to market the
property to investors as a Convention Center &
Resort, and in 2020, a market feasibility study
found that Hot Springs County could support
such a venture. 

The location of the site is strategically positioned
for a future hotel and convention center, as the
site benefits from its proximity to key attractions
such as the Thermopolis Golf Course, Hot Springs
State Park, and the Round Top Mountain and
trails. However, the County is open to exploring
alternative economic development plans.

Thus, in May 2023, the County issued a Request
for Information (RFI) to gather other potential
ideas for the development of the former airport.
The received proposals suggested a range of
possibilities, including a residential airpark,
outdoor recreation facilities, establishing a small
engine repair shop, offering bike rental and
repair services, developing spa health facilities,
establishing a business park, building a multi-
activity entertainment facility, and development
of college instructor pilot projects.

Additionally, Hot Springs County is actively
preparing for a Request for Proposal (RFP) for a
state-wide shooting complex which could be
placed on the old airport property.  The County
will market the entire site as one business lot as
the County seeks investors. The land does have
potential to be divided into smaller lots if
needed.

Finally, the construction of a new access road
would benefit the city-owned golf course and the
cemetery board, while alleviating traffic in a
residential area and channeling visitors through
the downtown and Main Street area. 

project evaluation
COMPANY STRENGTH
Not applicable for this application

JOB QUALITY
Not applicable for this application

STAFF ANALYSIS
There is much community support for the
redevelopment of the former airport
property.
Marketing Strategy is sufficient, but there
is potential to be more robust in order to
attract business to the community.
Partnerships have been identified but not
yet established.
Community Economic Development Plan
is 14 years old.

STATE CONSIDERATIONS
This project aligns with the State’s
Economic Development Strategy in the
following ways:

Add value to core industries in tourism
and outdoor recreation.
Empower communities to sustainably
develop their unique economy.

STAFF ANALYSIS
This project aligns with the State’s
Economic Development Strategy.
BRC funds are 53% of total project
costs.



project evaluation

Revenue recapture
Any revenue recaptured will be done so through a monthly lease and/or sale of the
property. The County will pay 25% of the recaptured revenue to the BRC account, with the
remaining 75% to be retained by the County for economic development projects. 

These potential projects may include:
Big Horn Basin Nature and Discovery Center Joint Powers Board -Assistance with
match funds for construction of the Children's Outdoor Discovery Area
Fair Grounds -Assistance with the fair buildings remodel or construction.
County Owned Hangar - Matching grant funds for the County owned hangar project.
Arapahoe Street Building - Funds to assist with the tear down and economic
development planning for the deteriorating Arapahoe Building owned by the County.
Main Street Thermopolis -Assistance with economic development studies or plans,
development or beautification of Downtown Thermopolis, and trainings or seminars.
Hot Springs Chamber of Commerce -Assistance with marketing and trainings or
seminars.
Hot Springs County Travel and Tourism Board -Assistance with marketing and trainings
or seminars.



C O N S I D E R A T I O N S
COMPELLING:

Potential to add value to core
industries in tourism and outdoor
recreation.
Local Match is 37% higher than
required.

CONCERNING:
Marketing Strategy should be more
robust to attract business to the
community.
Project plan, economic development
plan, and partnerships are
inadequate 

SOURCES

BRC Grant
Cash Match
In-Kind Match

TOTAL PROJECT COSTS
BRC % of Total Project Costs
Local % of Total Project Costs

$1,277,895
$239,577
$878,302

$2,395,774
53%
47%

pROJECT sources & uses USES

Land
Non-Construction Costs

Engineering Fees
Site Work
Demolition & Removal

Construction Costs
Electrical

Contingencies

TOTAL USES

$200,492

$340,467
$673,979
$721,700

$150,000
$309,136

$2,395,774

project evaluation continued

R e c o m m e n d a t i o n :
f u n d  i n  t h e  a m o u n t  o f  $ 1 , 3 2 7 , 8 9 5
with the following conditions:

An increase in the amount awarded by $50,000 for the sole purposes of a
feasibility study.
Feasibility study to be conducted in conjunction with the demolition and
removal, as well as the road construction.
Any further funds will not be disbursed until the Study is completed and
reviewed by BRC Staff.

State Tax Rate 4%

General Purpose Tax 1%

Special Purpose Tax 1%

Economic Development
Tax

-

Total County Tax 6%

county tax structure



 

The Honorable Mark Gordon 
Governor, State of Wyoming 
The Wyoming Business Council 
214 West 15th St. 
Cheyenne, WY 82002 

February 12, 2024 

 

RE: CAEDA DBA Advance Casper supports the City of Casper’s request for a Wyoming Business 
Council Community Readiness grant for the North Plate Park No.2 Development Project 

Dear Governor Gordon,  

On behalf of the Advance Casper, I write to express my strong support for the City of Casper’s request to 
the Wyoming Business Council (WBC) Business Ready Community Readiness grant program to construct 
the public infrastructure needed to support the North Plate Park No.2 Development which will 
transform 112 acres of vacant, city-owned land strategically located by Interstate 25, the Ford Wyoming 
Center, and future Wyo Sports Ranch, into a vibrant mixed-use des�na�on. The project will impact a 
surrounding halo of economic development for central Wyoming. Development in this area will grow 
jobs, promote economic development, and provide recrea�onal opportuni�es to Wyoming youth. 

Advance Casper is the economic development arm for Natrona County. Our board supports the North 
Plate Park No.2 Development Project for mul�ple reasons.  The development of the infrastructure will 
result in millions of dollars of private investment in the area in support of the Sports Ranch and the 
surrounding proper�es like the Ford Wyoming Center and Trails Center.  Most of this investment will be 
in hospitality, which allows Casper the opportunity to host more people, promo�ng our community to 
future residence and workforce while having a major economic impact for the area.  This development 
will result in people traveling to our community from all over the country helping sustain the state’s only 
interna�onal airport and keeping more of the dollars they spend here in Wyoming.  Advance Caspers 
board of directors as well as our member businesses view this investment as having a tremendous 
monetary return to the state and community as well as a tool for atrac�ng new businesses and helping 
retain our exis�ng businesses and their workforce through increased livability.    

Advance Casper will remain an ac�ve project partner. Please give the City of Casper’s proposal for WBC 
Community Readiness grant funds the highest considera�on for funding.  

Sincerely,  

 
Jus�n Farley 
CEO/President 
Advance Casper 
 

AdvanceCasper.com  (307)577-7011 139 W. 2nd St. #1D Casper, WY 82601 





CASPER AREA CONVENTION  
& VISITORS BUREAU 

139 WEST 2nd STREET, SUITE 1B 
CASPER, WYOMING 82601 

 
 
February 14, 2024 
 
The Honorable Mark Gordon 
Governor, State of Wyoming 
The Wyoming Business Council 
214 West 15th St. 
Cheyenne, WY 82002 
 
Dear Governor Gordon: 
 
Visit Casper is writing in strong support for the City of Casper’s request to the Wyoming Business 
Council (WBC) Business Ready Community Readiness grant program to construct the public 
infrastructure needed to support the North Platte Park No.2 Development which will transform 112 
acres of vacant, city-owned land strategically located by Interstate 25, the Ford Wyoming Center, and 
future Wyo Sports Ranch, into a vibrant mixed-use destination. The project will impact a surrounding 
halo of economic development for central Wyoming. Development in this area will grow jobs, promote 
economic development, and provide recreational opportunities to Wyoming youth. 

 
Visit Casper has the pleasure of promoting our wonderful community to visitors who will support our 
local economy and quality of life. We support the North Platte Park No.2 Development project because 
of the tremendous opportunities that could come with it. They include and are not limited to; future 
development of trails, transit, additional events that support our tourism economy, and overall 
complement to the Wyo Sports Ranch and the teams they will attract on a National stage.   

 
Visit Casper will remain an active project partner. Please give the City of Casper’s proposal for WBC 
Community Readiness grant funds the highest consideration for funding. Thank you for your 
consideration and please do not hesitate to contact me should you have any questions on our 
organizational support of this wonderful project. 
 
Sincerely,  
 

 
 
Tyler Daugherty, CEO  
Visit Casper 
139 W. 2nd Street, Casper, WY 82601 
307-234-5362 
tyler@VisitCasper.com 





info@wyosportsranch.com

wyosportsranch.com

307.268.9900

President
JR Boyles

Vice President
Glenda Thomas

Secretary
Joe Legerski

Treasurer
Jessica Hastings

Ben Blalock
Leah Curtsinger

Steve Freel
Trudi Holthouse

Jim Orr
Mike Porter
Tom Walters

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

P.O. Box 1907 | Casper, WY 82602

February 13, 2024

The Honorable Mark Gordon
Governor, State of Wyoming
The Wyoming Business Council
214 West 15th St.
Cheyenne, WY 82002

RE: WYO Complex supports the City of Casper’s request for a 
Wyoming Business Council Community Readiness grant for the North Platte 
Park No.2 Development Project

Dear Governor Gordon, 

On behalf of the WYO Complex Board of Directors, I write to express our 
strong support for the City of Casper’s request to the Wyoming Business Council 
(WBC) Business Ready Community Readiness grant program to construct the 
public infrastructure needed to support the North Platte Park No.2 Development 
which will transform 112 acres of vacant, city-owned land strategically 
located by Interstate 25, the Ford Wyoming Center, and future Wyo Sports 
Ranch(WSR), into a vibrant mixed-use destination. The project will impact a 
surrounding halo of economic development for central Wyoming. Development in 
this area will grow jobs, promote economic development, and provide recreational 
opportunities to Wyoming youth.

WYO Complex is the nonprofit organization behind the WYO Sports Ranch that 
is currently being built in the Ford Wyoming Center parking lot. The mission 
of the WYO Sports Ranch is to provide Casper, the surrounding 
communities and the state of Wyoming a unique, state-of-the-art 
facility for competition, training, and special events, while emphasizing the 
importance of physical and mental health and promoting an active lifestyle for our 
youth. Providing a place for the youth to practice, play and compete is our 
primary focus but we realize that this facility is going to be a community 
changing asset and a tool to put Casper, WY on the map as a destination of choice 
for local, regional and national events which will directly impact the local 
economy. 

We have studied the potential economic impact the WYO Sports Ranch will bring 
to Wyoming. Based on our research and the consulting of our operator, Sports 
Facilities Companies (who operates 45 similar sports facilities across the nation) 
facilities like the WYO Sports Ranch spark economic development and initiate 
a concept called the “halo effect”. The halo effect is the placement of a facility 
that influences the development needs of surrounding areas. Development 
needs typically include hospitality, restaurants, new business and housing, retail, 
improvements of existing features, and recreation. 



wyosportsranch.com

In the attached Exhibit, A you will find 3 examples of cities like Casper, WY where Sports Facilities 
Companies helped build sports complex’s that had a tremendous influence on the surrounding development 
and Cities. The WYO Complex views the approval of the Community Readiness Grant as crucial to the 
development of the North Platte Park No.2 Development Project. The 112 acres of land will surround the 
WYO Sports Ranch and be primary real estate for developers to improve and provide amenities and 
businesses that are currently lacking in the area and that will enhance the experience of the Ford Wyoming 
Center and the WYO Sports Ranch.

The Board of Directors are in support of the North Platte Park No.2 Development Project because it will 
allow for development to occur and meet the needs of the surrounding area that the Ford Wyoming Center 
and WYO Sports Ranch have influenced. Future development of the North Platte Park aligns with the 
mission of the WYO Complex and the overall goal to provide not only kids but our community the ability 
to have new opportunities and amenities to enhance the livability and health of the overall community. 

WYO Complex will remain an active project partner. Please give the City of Casper’s proposal for 
Wyoming Business Council’s Community Readiness grant funds the highest consideration for funding. 

Sincerely, 

Jessica Hastings 
Treasurer – WYO Complex 



Ex
hi

bi
t A

 - 
H

al
o 

Ef
fe

ct









 

 

 

 
 

LETTER OF SUPPORT 

 

 

RE: Hot Springs County Wyoming Business Council Business-Readiness Grant 

DATE: August 15, 2023 

FROM: Central Wyoming College, President Brad Tyndall 

 

 

I am writing in support of Hot Springs County’s project to repurpose the Thermopolis Municipal 

Airport site for future economic development projects. Economic development is critical for Hot 

Springs County and we cannot merely sit back and hope for the best. We must take the strategic 

action outlined in their proposal. 

 

At CWC, under our new Mission and Vision, we are addressing economic development straight 

on. We recognize that if we only help people get certificates and degrees without helping create 

businesses and job opportunities, we will be simply creating unemployment and/or exporting our 

graduates out of the region and state.  

 

For CWC’s part, we are investing in entrepreneurship development through our new Bootstrap 

Collaborative. We have hired staff and now have over 25 clients going through a business 

incubation support system. Most of these clients are in Fremont County. CWC seeks to better 

serve Hot Springs County and we believe that new businesses at a repurposed airport site would 

be ideal – whether for a convention center, new resort services or for a large variety of 

businesses. CWC stands eager and ready as a partner in this important project. 

 

Economically, Hot Springs County is in a vulnerable position. It is often overlooked during 

conversations about our State’s changing economy. We need to lay the groundwork, in this case 

quite literally, for Thermopolis and the entire county to thrive. 

 

If you should want more input or information, you can contact me at btyndall@cwc.edu or at 

(307) 855-2101. 

 

 
_________________ 

Brad Tyndall, Ph.D. 

President 

Central Wyoming College 

 

mailto:btyndall@cwc.edu




August 16, 2023 

To Whom It May Concern; 

Hot Springs Travel & Tourism 

Box 927 

Thermopolis. wr 82-1../3 

As the Lodging Tax Board for Hot Springs County, we support businesses in our community, 

especially those that pertain to tourism. We are writing in support of the proposed Wyoming 

Business Council Business-Readiness Grant that would benefit our community by replacing the 

old dilapidated runway with a business-ready lot. Efforts have already been made to improve the 

area by building new hiking and mountain bike trails. 

Our hope is that this lot, which is adjacent to the Thermopolis golf course and Hot Springs State 

Park, would attract tourism and other related businesses. The possibilities could range from a 

supper club, outdoor guiding business, outdoor retail, dorms for seasonal workers and a wellness 

spa. 

This project would benefit our community by removing a property that is a liability and creating 

a space that would bring in new business to a beautiful scenic area 

Thank you; 

/f0 
/ �/" _,,/· / ., -<...._ . / 

Carl Leyba, Chair 

Hot Springs County Travel & Tourism Board 





 

MC2 Collaborative 
Engineering + Construction + Design 
Resource Acquisition and Government Affairs 
MC2 Real Estate and Land Company 

 
 
 

September 13, 2023 
 
 

Dear Honorable Hot Springs County Commissioners, 
 

As an economic and resource development consultant with over 20 years of 
experience in the field, I am writing to express my full support for the development 
of the vacant land and abandoned airport in your county.  
 

I believe that this project has the potential to bring significant economic benefits to 
the area and create new opportunities for growth and prosperity in a very strategic 
and incremental way. With the right planning and execution, the development of 
this land can attract new businesses, create jobs, and generate revenue for the 
county. As an Economic Development and Grant Services Specialist, I have seen 
firsthand how airports can serve as catalysts for economic development, attracting 
new investment and spurring growth in surrounding areas. By leveraging the 
unique assets of this site, such as its location and infrastructure, the county can 
create a vibrant and thriving economic hub that benefits residents and businesses 
alike.  
 

As a project development consultant in an engineering and land & real estate firm, 
I understand the importance of careful planning and stakeholder engagement in 
any economic development project. I encourage the county to work closely with 
local businesses, community groups, and other stakeholders to ensure that the 
development of this land aligns with the needs and priorities of the community. By 
engaging in a collaborative and transparent process, the county can build support 
for the project and ensure its long-term success. 
 

I am confident that the county has the traction, the unified messaging, the 
expertise, and the resources necessary to successfully execute this phased 
project. I look forward to seeing the positive impact that this development will have 
on the county and its residents. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Lisa Mueller 
COO, Division Director 
Resource Acquisition and Government Affairs 
307-673-7350, lisa@mc2collaborative.com 











 

 

 

 
 

LETTER OF SUPPORT 

 

 

RE: Hot Springs County Wyoming Business Council Business-Readiness Grant 

DATE: November 21, 2022 

FROM: Central Wyoming College, President Brad Tyndall 

 

 

I am writing in support of Hot Springs County’s project to repurpose the Thermopolis Municipal 

Airport site for future economic development projects. Economic development is critical for Hot 

Springs County and we cannot merely sit back and hope for the best. We must take the strategic 

action outlined in their proposal. 

 

At CWC, under our new Mission and Vision, we are addressing economic development straight 

on. We recognize that if we only help people get certificates and degrees without helping create 

businesses and job opportunities, we will be simply creating unemployment and/or exporting our 

graduates out of the region and state.  

 

For CWC’s part, we are investing in entrepreneurship development through our new Bootstrap 

Collaborative. We have hired staff and now have over 25 clients going through a business 

incubation support system. Most of these clients are in Fremont County. CWC seeks to better 

serve Hot Springs County and we believe that new businesses at a repurposed airport site would 

be ideal – whether for a convention center, new resort services or for a large variety of 

businesses. CWC stands eager and ready as a partner in this important project. 

 

Economically, Hot Springs County is in a vulnerable position. It is often overlooked during 

conversations about our State’s changing economy. We need to lay the groundwork, in this case 

quite literally, for Thermopolis and the entire county to thrive. 

 

If you should want more input or information, you can contact me at btyndall@cwc.edu or at 

(307) 855-2101. 

 

 
_________________ 

Brad Tyndall, Ph.D. 

President 

Central Wyoming College 

 

mailto:btyndall@cwc.edu




Letter of Support 

RE: Wyoming Business Council Business-Readiness Grant 

Greetings, 

For a small town Thermopolis has so much to offer! World class fishing , dinosaurs, museums, bison, 

archeology sites and of course hot mineral water. Recently we have expanded our local trail system for 

not only bikers and hikers but for motorized rock crawlers. The three relatively new trails offer not only 

good exercise but wonderful vistas of the Big Horn Basin. Runway Trail is the newest addition and it 

starts on State Park property but crosses the Counties old airport property. 

Hot Springs State Park averages about 1.5 million visitors a year and tourism is our steadiest economic 

factor for this community. However the facilities in our area are somewhat dated and any upgrades 

would benefit our visitors and our local economy. Any new lodging/convention center would not only 

help the state park but the county as well. I can be reached at 307-921-2057 or by email at 

kelvin.skates@wyo.gov. 

Respectfully, 

-;1;::_._s� 
Kevin Skates, Superintendent Hot Springs State Park & Legend Rock 







Insight Regarding the Economic Business Value of the 

Old Airport Property Adjoining Thermopolis 

Submited by Dan Wychgram, President Centennial Energy
It has been said that the defini�on of insanity is “Doing the same thing over again and 

expec�ng a different outcome”.  This is exactly what the BRG Applica�on for Hot Springs 
County is proposing to do with the old airport property.   

Many years ago, taxpayer dollars were used to purchase prime agricultural land 
adjacent to Highway 20 south of Thermopolis.  The property was extensively developed.  
Roads were built and paved, landscaping accomplished and the project was subdivided into 
business-ready lots.  The Thermopolis Business Park was promoted, and the wait began for 
businesses to buy the lots and move into our community. 

Many years passed before a locally-owned business expressed an interest in one of the 
lots.  Ul�mately, this business was asked to leave due to not being able to live up to the 
expecta�ons of the business park management.  More years passed with no businesses 
interested in buying lots in the business park.  Finally, the en�re business park was sold to the 
Wyoming Dinosaur Center.  More years have passed, and no further development has 
occurred.  The land now sits vacant, a legacy of wasted taxpayer money. 

The primary asset of the old airport property is the long (4,800’) and wide (100’) 
runway.  A major business benefactor to our town, Empire Oil, designed, built and provided 
for public use the Thermopolis Airport.  Since the 1950s it has served our community well for 
both general avia�on, emergency medical use and business access. 

The BRG Applica�on proposes using business ready grant funds to tear up the runway 
and crushing the asphalt for use on County roads.  The cost to taxpayers for accomplishing 
this runway destruc�on is slightly over one million dollars.  The cost advantage to the county 
for the crushed asphalt was variously cited at County Commissioner Board mee�ngs as about 
$400,000.  However, in consulta�on with the Wyoming Department of Transporta�on, it was 
discovered that the DOT provides the county with all of the crushed asphalt it can use, 
delivered to the loca�on of their choosing, at no cost to our taxpayers. 

The stated goal of destroying the runway is to create a business park dividable into lots 
to atract businesses to come to Thermopolis.  However, over the past nine years that the 
airport has been abandoned, there have been no businesses or hotel franchises that have 
expressed any interest in coming to Thermopolis to do business here (other than for a 
residen�al airpark).  This would be an analogous situa�on to the Thermopolis Business Park 
created south of town.  Consequently, the result of spending this grant money to destroy the 
runway asset is to condemn the airport property to being vacant for decades to come. 



WYVC Update

1Q24 BOD Meeting

Presenter Notes
Presentation Notes
SSBCI Program is a federal program if you remember we have allocated $58.4M over 9 years and 3 tranches. WYVC is Wyoming’s use of the SSBCI funds.



Investment Portfolio

Company Name Investment Date Total Invested
Language IO Jul-23 $3,000,000
Frontline Wildfire Defense Jul-23 $1,872,000
Remo Jul-23 $1,750,000
Portfolio Company 4 Nov-23 $250,000
Mia Share Nov-23 $600,000
DISA Dec-23 $1,600,000

DIRECT TOTAL $9,072,000

DIRECT strategy
Tranche 1
Deployable $18,308,400
$ Deployed $9,450,000
% Deployed 51.6%



LOI Tracker
DIRECT strategy
Company Name Funding Round Round Size Requested LOI $ LOI % Signed Date Exp. Date
Airloom Energy Series A $15,000,000 $3,000,000 $3,000,000 20% 12/2/2023 3/31/2024
Frontline Wildfire Defense Series A $6,000,000 $3,000,000 $128,000 NA NA NA
Eye to Eye Telehealth Seed $2,500,000 $1,250,000 $250,000 NA NA NA

DIRECT TOTAL $3,378,000

fund strategy
Fund Name Fund Number Fund Size Requested LOI $ LOI % Signed Date Exp. Date
Rockies Wyoming Fund I $10,000,000 $5,000,000 $5,000,000 50% 6/12/2023 10/10/2023
WYO VC I $10,000,000 $5,000,000 $5,000,000 50% 6/12/2023 10/10/2023
gener8tor WY I $10,000,000 $5,000,000 $2,000,000 33% 8/1/2023 11/29/2023
Breakthrough Venture Capital I $12,000,000 $5,000,000 $5,000,000 50% 10/17/2023 2/17/2024

FUND TOTAL $17,000,000

TOTAL Outstanding $20,378,000

Tranche 2 will likely be called following ~$6M of additional WYVC direct investments and/or fund commitments



Key Application metrics
Application pipeline

Q2 Q3 Q4 2/5/24
Total Applications 47 62 67 70
Total Funding Requested $100,100,000 $132,625,000 $147,200,000 $147,500,000
Financing Rounds Total $248,375,000 $324,625,000 $354,225,000 $355,225,000

Active considerations

Average Funds Requested $2,125,000 $2,150,000 $2,100,000 $2,100,000
Average Financing Round $5,275,000 $5,225,000 $5,075,000 $5,075,00



SERVICES 
COMMITTEE REPORT



 

 
Amendment One to the Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and Warehouse Twenty One, Inc. 
Page 1 of 3 

 

AMENDMENT ONE TO THE CONTRACT BETWEEN 
WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL 

AND 
WAREHOUSE TWENTY ONE, INC. 

 
1. Parties.  This Amendment is made and entered into by and between the Wyoming Business 

Council (Council), whose address is:  214 W 15th St, Cheyenne, WY 82002, and Warehouse 
Twenty One, Inc (Contractor), whose address is: 2016 Bent Ave, Cheyenne WY 82001. 

 
2. Purpose of Amendment.  This Amendment shall constitute the first amendment to the Contract 

between the Council and the Contractor.  The purpose of this Amendment is to: a) increase the 
total Contract dollar amount by ninety-four thousand, three hundred dollars and zero cents 
($94,300.00) to one hundred eighty-nine thousand four hundred fifty dollars and zero cents 
($189,450.00); b) extend the term of the Contract through December 31, 2024; and c) amend 
the terms of the Contractor. 

 
The original Contract, dated August 15, 2023, set forth the terms and conditions by which the 
contractor would produce and deliver videos featuring Wyoming businesses for the Council’s 
“Breaking Through” recruitment video series for a total Contract amount of ninety-five 
thousand, one hundred fifty dollars and zero cents ($95,150.00) with an expiration date of June 
30, 2024.  
 

3. Term of the Amendment.  This Amendment shall commence on February 23, 2024, or upon 
the date the last required signature is affixed hereto, whichever is later (Effective Date), and 
shall remain in full force and effect through the term of the Contract, as amended, unless 
terminated at an earlier date pursuant to the provisions of the Contract, or pursuant to federal 
or state statute, rule, or regulation.  

 
4. Amendments.    

 
A. The second sentence of Section 4(A) of the original Contract is hereby amended to read 

as follows: 
 

“The total payment under this Contract shall not exceed one hundred eighty-nine 
thousand four hundred fifty dollars and zero cents ($189,450.00).” 

 
B. The second sentence of Section 3 of the original Contract is hereby amended to read as 

follows: 
 

“The Performance Period of the Contract is from Effective Date through December 31, 
2024.” 

 
5.  Amended Responsibilities of the Contractor.  Responsibilities of the Contractor are hereby 

amended as follows: 
 



 

 
Amendment One to the Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and Warehouse Twenty One, Inc. 
Page 2 of 3 

 

A. Section 5 of the original Contract is hereby amended to add Subsection B, which reads 
as follows:   

   
“B. Perform the additional duties outlined in Attachment B, Scope of Work, which 

is incorporated into this Contract by this reference.” 
 

B. Attachment B, Scope of Work, is attached to this Amendment and incorporated into the 
original Contract by this reference. 

 
6. Amended Responsibilities of the Council.  Responsibilities of the Council have not changed.  
 
7. Special Provisions.  

 
A. Same Terms and Conditions.  With the exception of items explicitly delineated in this 

Amendment, all terms and conditions of the original Contract, and any previous 
amendments, between the Council and the Contractor, including but not limited to 
sovereign immunity, shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 

 
B. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts. Each counterpart, 

when executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original and all counterparts together 
shall constitute one and the same Amendment. Delivery by the Contractor of an 
originally signed counterpart of this Amendment by facsimile or PDF shall be followed 
up immediately by delivery of the originally signed counterpart to the Council. The 
Contractor’s failure to deliver, either personally or via US Mail, postage prepaid, the 
originally signed counterpart to the Council within five (5) business days shall be 
considered a material breach and may result in immediate termination of the original 
Contract by the Council. 

 
8. General Provisions. 

 
A. Entirety of Contract.  The original Contract, consisting of nine (9) pages; Attachment 

A, Scope of Work, consisting of two (2) pages; Attachment B, Scope of Work 
consisting of (4) pages; and this Amendment One, consisting of three (3) pages, 
represent the entire and integrated agreement between the parties and supersede all 
prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether written or oral. 

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 



 

 
Amendment One to the Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and Warehouse Twenty One, Inc. 
Page 3 of 3 

 

9. Signatures. The parties to this Amendment, through their duly authorized representatives, 
have executed this Amendment on the dates set out below, and certify that they have read, 
understood, and agreed to the terms and conditions of this Amendment. 

 
This Amendment is not binding on either party until approved by A&I Procurement and the 
Governor of the State of Wyoming or his designee, if required by Wyo. Stat. § 9-2-3204(b)(iv). 
 

 
 
COUNCIL: 
Wyoming Business Council 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Amy L. Grenfell, Chief Operating Officer      Date 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Brandon Marshall, Services Director        Date 
 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
Warehouse Twenty One, Inc. 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Dave Teubner, CEO/Owner        Date 
 
 
 
ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE:  APPROVAL AS TO FORM 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Joshua M. Brackett, Assistant Attorney General     Date 
 
 



Attachment B 
Contract between the Wyoming Business Council and 

Warehouse Twenty One, Inc. Page 1 of 4 
 

 

BREAKING THROUGH SERIES SPRING 2024 VIDEO 
PRODUCTION  

Wyoming Business Council  

Overview  
In this scope of work, Warehouse 21 will produce the next round of four videos featuring new 

Wyoming businesses for the Wyoming Business Council’s “Breaking Through” video series. 

Duration  

● Strategy: February 2024  

● Concepting: March-April 2024  

● Production: May/ June 2024  

● Post Production: July-October 2024  

Budget & Billing  
Strategy $4,000 Concepting $3,600 Production $80,000 Agency Management $6,700 

Total Budget $94,300  

Billing Terms:  

Payments for this work, once approved, will be:  

● 75% down payment, March 2024, $70,725  
● 25% final payment, October 2024, $23,575  



Attachment B 
Contract between the Wyoming Business Council and 

Warehouse Twenty One, Inc. Page 2 of 4 
 

 

Elements  

Strategy  
Deliverables:  

● (1) client discovery session  

● (1) internal strategy alignment session  

● Work with client to define list of new businesses to feature  

● Brand research including collection of business information for internal briefing 

● Development of creative brief  

Concepting  
Deliverables:  

● (1) creative briefing  

● (1) internal creative brainstorm session  

● (1) client pitch of new video storyboards  

● (1) client pitch & approval of revised concept, script & storyboard  

● (1) round of revisions  

Production  
Deliverables:  

● Shoot at (4) locations in Wyoming  

○ Production of (4) new videos ~3.5 minutes in length  

○ (4) :15 cutdowns for each video  

■ (2) :15 cuts -  horizontal  

■ (2) :15 cuts -  vertical  

● (2) client pitches of produced assets  

● (2) rounds of revisions to produced assets (where applicable)  



Attachment B 
Contract between the Wyoming Business Council and 

Warehouse Twenty One, Inc. Page 3 of 4 
 

 

Agency Management  
Deliverables:  

● Client strategy  

● Client communications  

● Timeline, budget, and project management  

Agreement  
This Scope of Work for Breaking Through Series Spring 2024 Video Production, when signed, creates a 

binding agreement and contract between the parties. W21 is an independent contractor to Client.  

Ownership of Work  

Work produced under this Agreement, not provided by the Client, remains the property of the 

Agency during and up to final invoice payment. After final invoice payment is delivered, Agency 

will deliver and assign all ownership rights of the work to the Client.  

The Agency shall not use work produced under the Agreement in any manner, with the sole 

exception that the Agency may display or incorporate the work produced in a company portfolio 

or collection for promotional purposes related to Agency’s work. If the Client wishes to not have 

work produced used in the Agency’s portfolio or collection for promotional uses, the Contract 

Officer must notify the Agency in writing. Ownership of Work produced under this Agreement, 

not provided by the Client, remains the property of the Agency during and up to final invoice 

payment. After the final invoice payment is delivered, the Agency will deliver and assign all 

ownership rights of the work to the Client.  



Attachment B 
Contract between the Wyoming Business Council and 

Warehouse Twenty One, Inc. Page 4 of 4 
 

 

 Work includes only final deliverable files and not any preliminary work, sketches or raw files. 

Preliminary work, sketches or raw files may be purchased on any project for an additional 10% of 

project total, which grants the Client unlimited rights to use the preliminary work, sketches or raw 

files in whatever way they wish for perpetuity. Upon client request, at the completion of each 

project or campaign, all final deliverable files will be packaged and given to the client on an 

external hard drive or file sharing software. If shared through file sharing software, files will 

remain for 30 days before being deleted. Although the Agency may keep deliverables past the 30 

days for Client future work, there is no guarantee, representation or obligation of the Agency to 

retain such deliverables or make them available to the Client after 30 days.  

Force Majeure  

If either on the parties cannot perform an obligation due to any Act of God or circumstances 

beyond the reasonable control of the affected party then such non performance will not be 

deemed a violation of this Agreement so long as the affected party gives prompt notice of its 

inability to perform to the other party and makes all commercially reasonable efforts to remove 

such causes of non performance promptly and perform whenever the affecting events have 

ceased.  

Arbitration  

All claims and disputes arising under or relating to this Agreement are to be settled by binding 

arbitration by one mutually acceptable arbitrator. Any arbitration award between the parties that 

arises from or relates to the Agreement shall be enforceable in a court with competent 

jurisdiction, including the First Judicial Court of Laramie County for the State of Wyoming.  



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 
Page 1 of 9 

CONTRACT BETWEEN 
WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL 

AND 
INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 

 
 

1. Parties.  The parties to this Contract are Wyoming Business Council (Council), whose 
address is: 214 W. 15th Street, Cheyenne, WY 82001 and INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 
(Contractor), whose address is: PO Box 40, Greer, SC 29652. 

 
2. Purpose of Contract.  The purpose of this Contract is to set forth the terms and conditions 

by which the Contractor shall provide site and industrial park readiness and training for the 
Council, as described in Attachment A, which is attached to and incorporated into this 
Contract by this reference. 

 
3. Term of Contract.  This Contract is effective when all parties have executed it (Effective 

Date).  The term of the Contract is from the Effective Date, through March 31, 2025. All 
services shall be completed during this term.   

 
4. Payment.   
 

A. The Council agrees to pay the Contractor for the services described in Attachment 
A. Total payment under this Contract shall not exceed two hundred thousand dollars 
($200,000). Payment shall be made in accordance with the pay schedule set forth 
in Attachment A. Payment shall be made within forty-five (45) days after 
submission of invoice pursuant to Wyo. Stat. § 16-6-602.  Contractor shall submit 
invoices in sufficient detail to ensure that payments may be made in conformance 
with this Contract.   

 
B. No payment shall be made for work performed before the Effective Date of this 

Contract.  Should the Contractor fail to perform in a manner consistent with the 
terms and conditions set forth in this Contract, payment under this Contract may be 
withheld until such time as the Contractor performs its duties and responsibilities 
to the satisfaction of Council. 

 
C. Travel.  The payment of travel expenses shall be allowed as set forth below. 

Contractor is expected to procure the most cost-efficient travel arrangements. 
 

(i) Air Travel.  The Council agrees to reimburse the Contractor’s air travel 
expenses related to the performance of this Contract.  Air travel shall be 
reimbursed based on actual costs, supported by a copy of the original receipt 
with the invoice.  Contractor must select the lowest airfare (fares available 
in the market at the time of booking, preferably well in advance of trip to 
attain the lowest possible airfare).  Contractor shall book economy class 
fares for all domestic travel.  First class bookings are not reimbursable.   

 
(ii) Car Rental.  The Council agrees to reimburse the Contractor’s car rental 

expenses related to the performance of this Contract.  Car rental expenses 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 
Page 2 of 9 

shall be reimbursed at actual costs, supported by a copy of the original 
receipt with the invoice. Contractor must select the lowest rental rates for 
an appropriate vehicle.   

 
D. Lodging. 
 

The Council agrees to reimburse Contractor’s lodging expenses related to the 
performance of this Contract.  Lodging expenses shall be reimbursed at actual costs, 
supported by a copy of the original receipt with the invoice.  The Contractor shall 
only invoice the Council for the basic room rate, taxes, and lodging fees.  The 
Council is not responsible for incidentals or miscellaneous expenses charged to the 
room. Incidental and miscellaneous expenses for which the Council shall not be 
responsible include charges such as alcohol, internet, telephone charges, mini-bar, 
and movies 
 

E. Meals. 
 

The Council agrees to reimburse Contractor’s meal expenses related to the 
performance of this Contract. Meal expenses shall be reimbursed based on actual 
costs, supported by a copy of the original receipt with the invoice.  
 

5. Responsibilities of Contractor.  The Contractor agrees to: 
 

A. Provide the services described in Attachment A. 
 
6. Responsibilities of Council.   The Council agrees to: 

 
A. Pay Contractor in accordance with Section 4 above. 

 
7. General Provisions. 
 

A. Amendments.  Any changes, modifications, revisions, or amendments to this 
Contract which are mutually agreed upon by the parties to this Contract shall be 
incorporated by written instrument, executed by all parties to this Contract. 

 
B. Applicable Law, Rules of Construction, and Venue.  The construction, 

interpretation, and enforcement of this Contract shall be governed by the laws of 
the State of Wyoming, without regard to conflicts of law principles.  The terms 
“hereof,” “hereunder,” “herein,” and words of similar import, are intended to refer 
to this Contract as a whole and not to any particular provision or part. The Courts 
of the State of Wyoming shall have jurisdiction over this Contract and the parties.  
The venue shall be the First Judicial District, Laramie County, Wyoming. 

 
C. Assignment Prohibited and Contract Shall Not be Used as Collateral.  Neither 

party shall assign or otherwise transfer any of the rights or delegate any of the duties 
set out in this Contract without the prior written consent of the other party.  The 
Contractor shall not use this Contract, or any portion thereof, for collateral for any 
financial obligation without the prior written permission of the Council. 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 
Page 3 of 9 

D. Audit and Access to Records.  The Council and its representatives shall have 
access to any books, documents, papers, electronic data, and records of the 
Contractor which are pertinent to this Contract 

 
E. Availability of Funds.  Each payment obligation of the Council is conditioned 

upon the availability of government funds which are appropriated or allocated for 
the payment of this obligation and which may be limited for any reason including, 
but not limited to, congressional, legislative, gubernatorial, or administrative 
action.  If funds are not allocated and available for continued performance of the 
Contract, the Contract may be terminated by the Council at the end of the period 
for which the funds are available.  The Council shall notify the Contractor at the 
earliest possible time of the services which will or may be affected by a shortage of 
funds.  No penalty shall accrue to the Council in the event this provision is 
exercised, and the Council shall not be obligated or liable for any future payments 
due or for any damages as a result of termination under this section.   

 
F. Award of Related Contracts.  The Council may award supplemental or successor 

contracts for work related to this Contract or may award contracts to other 
contractors for work related to this Contract.  The Contractor shall cooperate fully 
with other contractors and the Council in all such cases. 

 
G. Certificate of Good Standing.  The Contractor shall provide to the Council a 

Certificate of Good Standing from the Wyoming Secretary of State, or other proof 
that Contractor is authorized to conduct business in the State of Wyoming, if 
required, before performing work under this Contract. Contractor shall ensure that 
all annual filings and corporate taxes due and owing to the Secretary of State’s 
office are up-to-date before signing this Contract. 

 
H. Compliance with Laws.  The Contractor shall keep informed of and comply with 

all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations in the performance of 
this Contract. 

 
I. Confidentiality of Information.  All documents, data compilations, reports, 

computer programs, photographs, data, and other work provided to or produced by 
the Contractor in the performance of this Contract shall be kept confidential by the 
Contractor unless written permission is granted by the Council for its release.  If 
and when Contractor receives a request for information subject to this Contract, 
Contractor shall notify Council within ten (10) days of such request and shall not 
release such information to a third party unless directed to do so by Council. 

 
J. Entirety of Contract.  This Contract, consisting of ten (10) pages, and Attachment 

A, consisting of two (2) pages, represents the entire and integrated Contract 
between the parties and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, and 
agreements, whether written or oral. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency 
between the language of this Contract and the language of any attachment or 
document incorporated by reference, the language of this Contract shall control. 

 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 
Page 4 of 9 

K. Ethics.  Contractor shall keep informed of and comply with the Wyoming Ethics 
and Disclosure Act (Wyo. Stat. § 9-13-101, et seq.) and any and all ethical standards 
governing Contractor’s profession. 

 
L. Extensions.  Nothing in this Contract shall be interpreted or deemed to create an 

expectation that this Contract will be extended beyond the term described herein.  
Any extension of this Contract shall be initiated by the Council and shall be 
accomplished through a written amendment between the parties entered into before 
the expiration of the original Contract or any valid amendment thereto and shall be 
effective only after it is reduced to writing and executed by all parties to the 
Contract.  

 
M. Force Majeure.  Neither party shall be liable for failure to perform under this 

Contract if such failure to perform arises out of causes beyond the control and 
without the fault or negligence of the nonperforming party.  Such causes may 
include, but are not limited to, acts of God or the public enemy, fires, floods, 
epidemics, quarantine restrictions, freight embargoes, and unusually severe 
weather.  This provision shall become effective only if the party failing to perform 
immediately notifies the other party of the extent and nature of the problem, limits 
delay in performance to that required by the event, and takes all reasonable steps to 
minimize delays.   

 
N. Indemnification.  The Contractor shall release, indemnify, and hold harmless the 

State, the Council, and their officers, agents, and employees from any and all 
claims, suits, liabilities, court awards, damages, costs, attorneys’ fees, and expenses 
arising out of Contractor’s failure to perform any of Contractor’s duties and 
obligations hereunder or in connection with the negligent performance of 
Contractor’s duties or obligations, including, but not limited to, any claims, suits, 
liabilities, court awards, damages, costs, attorneys’ fees, and expenses arising out 
of Contractor’s negligence or other tortious conduct. 

 
O. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor shall function as an independent 

contractor for the purposes of this Contract and shall not be considered an employee 
of the State of Wyoming for any purpose.  Consistent with the express terms of this 
Contract, the Contractor shall be free from control or direction over the details of 
the performance of services under this Contract.  The Contractor shall assume sole 
responsibility for any debts or liabilities that may be incurred by the Contractor in 
fulfilling the terms of this Contract and shall be solely responsible for the payment 
of all federal, state, and local taxes which may accrue because of this Contract.  
Nothing in this Contract shall be interpreted as authorizing the Contractor or its 
agents or employees to act as an agent or representative for or on behalf of the State 
of Wyoming or the Council or to incur any obligation of any kind on behalf of the 
State of Wyoming or the Council.  The Contractor agrees that no health or 
hospitalization benefits, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance or 
similar benefits available to State of Wyoming employees will inure to the benefit 
of the Contractor or the Contractor’s agents or employees as a result of this 
Contract. 

 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 
Page 5 of 9 

P. Nondiscrimination.  The Contractor shall comply with the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, the Wyoming Fair Employment Practices Act (Wyo. Stat. § 27-9-105, et 
seq.), the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and 
the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and any properly promulgated rules and 
regulations thereto and shall not discriminate against any individual on the grounds 
of age, sex, color, race, religion, national origin, or disability in connection with the 
performance under this Contract.   

 
Q. Notices.  All notices arising out of, or from, the provisions of this Contract shall be 

in writing either by regular mail or delivery in person at the addresses provided 
under this Contract. 

 
R. Notice of Sale or Transfer.  The Contractor shall provide the Council with notice 

of any sale, transfer, merger, or consolidation of the assets of the Contractor.  Such 
notice shall be provided in accordance with the notices provision of this Contract 
and, when possible and lawful, in advance of the transaction.  If the Council 
determines that the sale, transfer, merger, or consolidation is not consistent with the 
continued satisfactory performance of the Contractor’s obligations under this 
Contract, then the Council may, at its discretion, terminate or renegotiate the 
Contract.  
 

S. Ownership and Return of Documents and Information.  Council is the official 
custodian and owns all documents, data compilations, reports, computer programs, 
photographs, data, and other work provided to or produced by the Contractor in the 
performance of this Contract.  Upon termination of services, for any reason, 
Contractor agrees to return all such original and derivative information and 
documents to the Council in a useable format.  In the case of electronic 
transmission, such transmission shall be secured.  The return of information by any 
other means shall be by a parcel service that utilizes tracking numbers.  Upon 
Council’s verified receipt of such information, Contractor agrees to physically and 
electronically destroy any residual Council-owned data, regardless of format, and 
any other storage media or areas containing such information.  Contractor agrees to 
provide written notice to Council confirming the destruction of any such residual 
Council-owned data.  

 
T. Patent or Copyright Protection.  The Contractor recognizes that certain 

proprietary matters or techniques may be subject to patent, trademark, copyright, 
license, or other similar restrictions, and warrants that no work performed by the 
Contractor or its subcontractors will violate any such restriction.  The Contractor 
shall defend and indemnify the Council for any infringement or alleged 
infringement of such patent, trademark, copyright, license, or other restrictions.  

 
U. Prior Approval.  This Contract shall not be binding upon either party, no services 

shall be performed, and the Wyoming State Auditor shall not draw warrants for 
payment, until this Contract has been fully executed, approved as to form by the 
Office of the Attorney General, filed with and approved by A&I Procurement, and 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 
Page 6 of 9 

approved by the Governor of the State of Wyoming, or his designee, if required by 
Wyo. Stat. § 9-2-3204(b)(iv). 

 
V. Insurance Requirements. 
 

(i) During the term of this Contract, the Contractor shall obtain and maintain, 
and ensure that each subcontractor obtains and maintains, each type of 
insurance coverage specified in Insurance Coverage, below.  

 
(ii) All policies shall be primary over any insurance or self-insurance program 

carried by the Contractor or the State of Wyoming.  All policies shall 
include clauses stating that each insurance carrier shall waive all rights of 
recovery under subrogation or otherwise against Contractor or the State, its 
agencies, institutions, organizations, officers, agents, employees, and 
volunteers. 

 
(iii) The Contractor shall provide Certificates of Insurance to the Council 

verifying each type of coverage required herein.  If the policy is a “claims 
made” policy instead of an “occurrence” policy, the information provided 
shall include, but is not limited to, retroactive dates and extended reporting 
periods or tails.  

 
(iv) All policies shall be endorsed to provide at least thirty (30) days advance 

written notice of cancellation to the Council. A copy of the policy 
endorsement shall be provided with the Certificate of Insurance.  

 
(v) In case of a breach of any provision relating to Insurance Requirements or 

Insurance Coverage, the Council may, at the Council’s option, obtain and 
maintain, at the expense of the Contractor, such insurance in the name of 
the Contractor, or subcontractor, as the Council may deem proper and may 
deduct the cost of obtaining and maintaining such insurance from any sums 
which may be due or become due to the Contractor under this Contract.  

 
(vi) All policies required by this Contract shall be issued by an insurance 

company with an A.M. Best rating of A- VIII or better.  
 
(vii) The Council reserves the right to reject any policy issued by an insurance 

company that does not meet these requirements. 
 

W. Insurance Coverage.  The Contractor shall obtain and maintain the following 
insurance in accordance with the Insurance Requirements set forth above: 

 
(i) Commercial General Liability Insurance.  Commercial general liability 

insurance (CGL) coverage, occurrence form, covering liability claims for 
bodily injury and property damage arising out of premises, operations, 
products and completed operations, and personal and advertising injury, 
with minimum limits as follows: 

 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 
Page 7 of 9 

 (a) $1,000,000.00 each occurrence; 
 (b) $1,000,000.00 personal injury and advertising injury; 
 (c) $2,000,000.00 general aggregate; and 
 (d) $2,000,000.00 products and completed operations. 
 
 The CGL policy shall include coverage for Explosion, Collapse and 

Underground property damage. This coverage may not be excluded by 
endorsement. 

 
(ii) Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance.  Employees 

hired in Wyoming to perform work under this Contract shall be covered by 
workers’ compensation coverage obtained through the Wyoming 
Department of Workforce Services’ workers’ compensation program, if 
statutorily required. Employees brought into Wyoming from Contractor’s 
home state to perform work under this Contract shall be covered by 
workers’ compensation coverage obtained through the Wyoming 
Department of Workforce Services’ workers’ compensation program or 
other state or private workers’ compensation insurance approved by the 
Wyoming Department of Workforce Services, if statutorily required.   

 
The Contractor shall provide the Council with a Certificate of Good 
Standing or other proof of workers’ compensation coverage for all of its 
employees who are to perform work under this Contract, if such coverage 
is required by law. If workers’ compensation coverage is obtained by 
Contractor through the Wyoming Department of Workforce Services’ 
workers’ compensation program, Contractor shall also obtain Employer’s 
Liability “Stop Gap” coverage through an endorsement to the CGL policy 
required by this Contract, with minimum limits as follows: 

 
 (a) Bodily Injury by Accident: $1,000,000.00 each accident; 
 (b) Bodily Injury by Disease: $1,000,000.00 each employee; and 
 (c) Bodily Injury by Disease: $1,000,000.00 policy limit. 
 
(iii) Unemployment Insurance.  The Contractor shall be duly registered with the 

Department of Workforce Services and obtain such unemployment 
insurance coverage as required.  The Contractor shall supply Council with 
a Certificate of Good Standing or other proof of unemployment insurance 
coverage. 

 
(iv) Automobile Liability Insurance.  Automobile liability insurance covering 

any auto (including owned, hired, and non-owned) with minimum limits of 
$1,000,000.00 each accident combined single limit. 

 
X. Publicity.  Any publicity given to the projects, programs, or services provided 

herein, including, but not limited to, notices, information, pamphlets, press releases, 
research, reports, signs, and similar public notices in whatever form, prepared by 
or for the Contractor, shall identify the Council as the sponsoring agency and shall 
not be released without prior written approval from the Council. 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 
Page 8 of 9 

Y. Severability.  Should any portion of this Contract be judicially determined to be 
illegal or unenforceable, the remainder of the Contract shall continue in full force 
and effect, and the parties may renegotiate the terms affected by the severance. 

 
Z. Sovereign Immunity and Limitations.  Pursuant to Wyo. Stat. § 1-39-104(a), the 

State of Wyoming and Council expressly reserve sovereign immunity by entering 
into this Contract and specifically retain all immunities and defenses available to 
them as sovereigns.  The parties acknowledge that the State of Wyoming has 
sovereign immunity and only the Wyoming Legislature has the power to waive 
sovereign immunity. Designations of venue, choice of law, enforcement actions, 
and similar provisions shall not be construed as a waiver of sovereign immunity.  
The parties agree that any ambiguity in this Contract shall not be strictly construed, 
either against or for either party, except that any ambiguity as to sovereign 
immunity shall be construed in favor of sovereign immunity. 
 

AA. Taxes.  The Contractor shall pay all taxes and other such amounts required by 
federal, state, and local law, including, but not limited to, federal and social security 
taxes, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, and sales taxes.  

 
BB. Termination of Contract.  This Contract may be terminated, without cause, by the 

Council upon thirty (30) days written notice.  This Contract may be terminated by 
the Council immediately for cause if the Contractor fails to perform in accordance 
with the terms of this Contract.  

 
CC. Third-Party Beneficiary Rights.  The parties do not intend to create in any other 

individual or entity the status of third-party beneficiary, and this Contract shall not 
be construed so as to create such status.  The rights, duties, and obligations 
contained in this Contract shall operate only between the parties to this Contract 
and shall inure solely to the benefit of the parties to this Contract.  The provisions 
of this Contract are intended only to assist the parties in determining and performing 
their obligations under this Contract. 

 
DD. Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in all provisions of this Contract. 
 
EE. Titles Not Controlling.  Titles of sections and subsections are for reference only 

and shall not be used to construe the language in this Contract. 
 
FF. Waiver.  The waiver of any breach of any term or condition in this Contract shall 

not be deemed a waiver of any prior or subsequent breach. Failure to object to a 
breach shall not constitute a waiver. 

 
GG. Counterparts. This Contract may be executed in counterparts. Each counterpart, 

when executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original and all counterparts 
together shall constitute one and the same Contract. Delivery by the Contractor of 
an originally signed counterpart of this Contract by facsimile or PDF shall be 
followed up immediately by delivery of the originally signed counterpart to the 
Council.  

 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 
Page 9 of 9 

9. Signatures.  The parties to this Contract, either personally or through their duly 
authorized representatives, have executed this Contract on the dates set out below, and 
certify that they have read, understood, and agreed to the terms and conditions of this 
Contract. 

 
The Effective Date of this Contract is the date of the signature last affixed to this page. 

 
 
COUNCIL: 
Wyoming Business Council 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Amy L. Grenfell, Chief Operations Officer      Date 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Brandon Marshall, Services Director       Date 
 
 
 
CONTRACTOR: 
INSITE CONSULTING, LLC 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Rob Cornwell, Co-Owner & Project Manager    Date 
 
 
 
ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE:  APPROVAL AS TO FORM 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ________________ 
Joshua M. Bracket, Assistant Attorney General     Date 



Attachment A 
Contract between the Wyoming Business Council and  

INSITE CONSULTING, LLC Page 1 of 2 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
Contractor shall perform the agreed upon scope of work that follows based on the one-year 
contract terms. 
 
Program Scope: 
The program set forth will help communities, selected through an application process, with 
Economic Development Readiness and System Planning. Elements related to this will be asset 
mapping to determine a community's resources, strengths and capacities that can contribute to 
economic growth and execution of development initiatives. Specific aspects that will be asset 
during asset mapping include 
 

1. Economic Development Program Capacity: 
a. Staff, budgets, incentives, scope of work (what is the program “doing” now). 

2. Physical Infrastructure: 
a. Identify existing physical assets such as transportation networks, utilities, product 

(industrial parks, business parks, sites, incubators, existing buildings, office 
spaces), and other infrastructure that can support economic development activities. 

3. Marketing: 
a. Identify tools that are available to assist in economic development execution. 

4. Human Capital: 
a. Assess the skills, education levels, and expertise of the local workforce. Identify 

specialized skills and talents available within the community that could support 
economic development initiatives. 

5. Business and Entrepreneurial Ecosystem: 
a. Map existing businesses, startups and entrepreneurs within the community. Assess 

their capacities, innovations and potential for growth. Identify areas where support 
mechanisms for small businesses or entrepreneurs might be needed. 

6. Educational and Research Institutions: 
a. Identify educational institutions, vocational training centers, or research facilities 

within the community. Assess the capabilities to provide relevant education and 
training to support economic sectors or industries. 

7. Community Engagement and Networks: 
a. Map community organizations, associations and networks that foster 

collaborations, entrepreneurship, and community engagement. Assess their 
potential to mobilize resources and support economic initiatives. 

8. Collaborative Partnerships: 
a. Identify potential collaborative partners, such as non-profits, industry associations, 

neighboring communities, or regional development agencies, which can contribute 
resources or expertise to support economic development. 

By systematically mapping these assets and resources, a comprehensive understanding of the 
community’s strengths and capacities for economic development will be gained. This 



Attachment A 
Contract between the Wyoming Business Council and  

INSITE CONSULTING, LLC Page 2 of 2 

understanding serves as a foundation for putting strategic education and systems in place to 
leverage these assets in creating community growth and sustainability. 
 
Program Execution: 

1. The Wyoming Business Council will invite communities to apply to participate in the 
program. Participating communities will submit general community, program and product 
information. 

2. This information will be evaluated for other community assts such as economic 
development programs and community strengths for asset mapping. 

3. All submitting communities will receive leadership, staff and local response team training 
and education, as well as a scheduled in person site visit by the consultants. 

4. As a community progresses through the program, a matrix establishing a community’s 
economic development readiness for growth and sustainability will be provided. 

Program Fees: 
1. Project mobilization and alignment via video calls – Forty thousand dollars ($40,000). 
2. Education, asset mapping, highest and best use matrix, system development training – 

Twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) per community, up to five (5) communities. 
3. Associated project travel costs during in person site visits and meetings. 

 



Kickstart program Rules

2024 Rules Revision



Overview

Kickstart Grant
• $5,000 - $50,000 awards
• Geared towards very early stage companies/concepts
• Founder training and early introductions to various investments

May 2023 Rule Updates
• Definitions
• Application requirements and program eligibility
• Application process



Overview

Rule update process
• Strike and underscore document drafting
• Attorney General approval
• Board approval
• Governor approval
• Secretary of State - rules become active

May 2023 rule updates
• Strike and underscore document drafting
• Attorney General approval
• Board approval
• Governor approval — draft document version
• Secretary of State - rules become active



REQUEST

February 2024 rules
• No changes to the May 2023 rules have been made
• Re-approve the May 2023 rules



Kickstart 
updates



kickstart UPdates
Application Requirements and Program Eligibility

What’s being updated?
• Change “Employ twenty five (25) individuals or less” vs. fifty (50)
• Change “aligns with the State of Wyoming’s Economic Diversification Strategy” vs. ENDOW Economic Engines
• Remove sole proprietors’ eligibility
• Add “Additional requirements for Kickstart:Wyoming grant applications may be outlined on the Wyoming 

Business Council website”
• Add “maximum award amount that does not exceed seventy-five thousand dollars ($75,000.00) over the 

lifetime of the company” vs. no previous limit

Why?
• Accuracy
• Inclusivity
• Flexibility



kickstart updates
Application Process & Reporting
What’s being updated?
• Change “Council Staff” vs. Council
• Change “Applications are received on a quarterly basis” vs. on a rolling basis
• Remove “agreement template through the Attorney General’s office”
• Change reporting between six (6) and fifteen (15) months vs. twelve (12) and fifteen (15)
• Include “additional reporting requirements may be outlined in grant agreement”
• Remove “multimedia narrative” and other stringent requirements

Why?
• Accuracy
• Brevity
• Flexibility



Questions



1-1 

 Chapter 1 
Kickstart:Wyoming Program 

 
Section 1.   Authority. The Wyoming Business Council, pursuant to Wyoming Statute 

§ 9-12-105(c), is required to promulgate such rules as are necessary to administer a 
“kickstart:Wyoming” program to provide funding to early stage ventures of Wyoming based 
entrepreneurs. 

 
Section 2.   Purpose.  These rules are promulgated for the purpose of providing a 

regulatory framework for providing funding to early-stage high-growth ventures of Wyoming 
based entrepreneurs to commercialize services, products, concepts, designs or other marketable 
assets. 

 
Section 3.   Definitions. 

 
(a)  As used in this chapter: 
 

(i)  “Council” means the Wyoming Business Council Board of Directors. 
 
(ii)  “Council Staff” the staff of the Wyoming Business Council assigned to 

administer the “kickstart:Wyoming” program. 
  
(iii)  “High-growth potential company” means a company with a globally 

differentiated concept, scalable product and business model, defined value proposition, large 
target addressable market and potential for exit via initial public offering or acquisition. 

 
(iv)  “Applicant” means a business entity or individual who applies for funding 

under the “kickstart:Wyoming” program. 
 
(v)  “Awardee” means a business entity or individual who has been awarded 

funds under the “kickstart:Wyoming” program. 
 

Section 4.   Application Requirements and Program Eligibility.  
 
(a)  In addition to the statutory requirements under W.S. § 9-12-105(c), to be eligible, 

an applicant must: 
 
 (i) Employ twenty-five (25) individuals or less; 
 
 (ii) Produce or propose to produce a service, product, concept, design or any 

other marketable asset aligns with the State of Wyoming’s Economic Development Strategy; 
 
 (iii) Provide a good faith declaration of intent to remain in Wyoming; 
 
 (iv) Own or manage a high-growth-potential company; 
 



1-2 

 (v) Agree to provide a report, as described in Section 5(e), describing in detail 
its efforts to and success in commercializing the service, product, concept, design or other 
marketable asset to be developed with the assistance of State funds; and 

 
 (vi) Commit to seeking additional investment funding, whether from federal or 

private sources, and 
 

  (vii) Have some or all founding members that have, through this company or 
another: 
 

(A) Have been a finalist in a pitch competition; or 
 

(B)  Be a graduate of an accelerator program; or 
 
(C) Have previously founded and either failed or exited a previous 

company; or 
 
(D) Have previously helped raise meaningful equity funding in a 

meaningful capacity. 
 
 (b) Awardees are limited to one (1) award under this chapter per fiscal year (July 1 
through June 30) with a maximum award amount that does not exceed seventy-five thousand 
dollars ($75,000.00) over the lifetime of the company. 

 
Section 5.  Application process.   
 
(a) Prioritization criteria. 

 
  (i) Council Staff shall prioritize awards under this chapter based on the 
following criteria: 
 
   (A) Applicant’s ability to lead to scalable, commercially successful 
product, concept, or design within a reasonable period of time; 
 
   (B) Applicant’s potential for stimulating innovation-driven economic 
growth within Wyoming; and 
 
   (C)  The amount of funds applicant has requested and its demonstrated 
need for those funds. 
 
  (ii) In addition to the criteria listed under Section 5(a)(i) of this chapter, 
Council Staff may, in their sole discretion, consider the following additional criteria to prioritize 
awards: 
 
   (A) The commercialization potential of the proposed service, product, 
concept, design or other marketable asset; 



1-3 

 
   (B) The viability and thoughtfulness of the individual or business 
entity’s technology, funding, commercialization, and exit strategy; 
 
   (C) The degree of success in prior commercialization, if any, of an 
existing service, product, concept, design or other marketable asset supported by previous 
funding and the return on investment for that funding; 
 
   (D) The individual or business entity’s ability to attract follow-on 
funding; 
 
   (E) The management quality, potential and experience of the 
individual or the business entity’s management team; and 
 
   (F) Likely public benefit to Wyoming were the individual or business 
entity to receive the requested funds and develop the service, product, concept, design or other 
marketable asset as proposed. 
 

(b) Application. 
  
  (i) Council Staff shall provide a “Kickstart:Wyoming” application online that 
includes a requirement to provide information relevant for funding decisions, including but not 
limited to information that establishes the applicant’s eligibility for a grant under the 
“kickstart:Wyoming” Program. 
 

(ii)  Each applicant shall file its application for “kickstart:Wyoming” funds 
with Council Staff online at a website provided by Council Staff. 
 
 (c) Application process, procedure and approval. Applications are received on a 
quarterly basis and reviewed in the following manner:  
 

(i) Council staff reviews to ensure accuracy, eligibility and completeness, and 
provides a recommendation based upon these rules and W.S. § 9-12-105(c).  

    
(ii) The Council, or Council Staff has the sole discretion to make award 

decisions based upon these rules and W.S. § 9-12-105(c). The Council, or Council Staff may 
consult with subject matter experts for assistance and advice in making funding decisions. 
 
  (iii) Following the Council’s decision or the decision of Council Staff, requests 
for funding will be routed through the Governor or the Governor’s designee for approval. 
Council Staff will thereafter submit the invoice for payment to the State Auditor’s Office.  

 
(d)  Amount of award; annual allocations. Applicants may seek funding between 

$5,000 and $50,000 per application. Annual allocations to this program are detailed in the 
startup:Wyoming Subaccount Allocation Plan. 
 



1-4 

 (e) Reporting. 
 
  (i) Awardees shall provide a report to the Wyoming Business Council 
between six (6) and eighteen (18) months after the award is granted. The report should address 
the company’s:  
 
   (A) Progress toward commercialization of service, product, concept, 
design, or other marketable asset; 
 
   (B) Progress toward seeking and receiving additional funding, whether 
from State, federal or private sources;  
 
   (C) Plans for growth, market, commercialization and capitalization in 
the upcoming year; 
 
   (D) Proof of proper use of funds; 
 
   (E) Maintenance of nexus in Wyoming that is substantial and 
continuous. To prove nexus, awardee must provide documentary evidence showing the majority 
of the awardee’s employees work in Wyoming. 
 
  (ii) Additional reporting requirements may be outlined in the grant agreement 
between the awardee and the Council. 

 
 (g) Allowable use of funds; consequence for misuse of funds and repayment. 
 
  (i) Funds may be spent on materials or activities that facilitate development 
or commercialization of a company’s service, product, concept, design or any other marketable 
asset. 
 
  (ii) Any other use of “Kickstart:Wyoming” funds is prohibited. Business 
Council will conduct an audit between thirteen (13) and sixteen (16) months of the award date 
for the purpose of verifying that “Kickstart:Wyoming” funds are spent on appropriate materials 
and activities. The Council may seek return of the disbursed funds if it at any time determines 
that an awardee has failed to submit any part of the required annual report, has made a prohibited 
use of the funds, or has breached the agreement between itself and the Council. In that instance, 
the awardee shall repay all funds provided under this chapter plus interest at the rate of four 
percent (4%) per annum compounded annually from the date the funds were granted. This 
provision is in addition to, and does not replace, any other potential cause of action the Council 
may have against the awardee based on its conduct. 
 

Section 6.  Program administration. The Council may designate Council Staff to 
approve applications and make award decisions. If the Council chooses to designate Council 
Staff with this responsibility, Council Staff shall make a quarterly report to the Council on the 
number of applications approved, the status of the approved applications, and the amount of 
funds distributed to awardees. 



1-1 

Chapter 1 
Kickstart:Wyoming Program 

 
Section 1.   Authority. The Wyoming Business Council, pursuant to Wyoming Statute 

§ 9-12-105(c), is required to promulgate such rules as are necessary to administer a 
“kickstart:Wyoming” program to provide funding to early stage ventures of Wyoming based 
entrepreneurs. 

 
Section 2.   Purpose.  These rules are promulgated for the purpose of providing a 

regulatory framework for providing funding to early-stage high-growth ventures of Wyoming 
based entrepreneurs to commercialize services, products, concepts, designs or other marketable 
assets. 

 
Section 3.   Definitions. 

 
(a)  As used in this chapter: 
 

(i)  “Council” means the Wyoming Business Council Board of Directors. 
 
(ii)  “Council Staff” the staff of the Wyoming Business Council assigned to 

administer the “kickstart:Wyoming” program. 
  
(iii)  “High-growth potential company” means a company with a globally 

differentiated concept, scalable product and business model, defined value proposition, large 
target addressable market and potential for exit via initial public offering or acquisition. 

 
(iv)  “Applicant” means a business entity or individual who applies for funding 

under the “kickstart:Wyoming” program. 
 
(v)  “Awardee” means a business entity or individual who has been awarded 

funds under the “kickstart:Wyoming” program. 
 

Section 4.   Application Requirements and Program Eligibility.  
 
(a)  In addition to the statutory requirements under W.S. § 9-12-105(c), to be eligible, 

an applicant must: 
 
 (i) Employ fifty (50) twenty-five (25) individuals or less; 
 
 (ii) Produce or propose to produce a service, product, concept, design or any 

other marketable asset that relates to or fulfills one of the five Next Generation Engines 
identified in the ENDOW 20-Year Economic Diversification Strategyaligns with the State of 
Wyoming’s Economic Development Strategy; 

 
 (iii) Provide a good faith declaration of intent to remain in Wyoming; 
 



1-2 

 (iv) Be, oOwn or manage a high-growth-potential company; 
 
 (v) Agree to provide a report, as described in Section 5(ge), describing in 

detail its efforts to and success in commercializing the service, product, concept, design or other 
marketable asset to be developed with the assistance of State funds; and 

 
 (vi) Commit to seeking additional nonstate investment funding, whether from 

federal or private sources., and 
 

  (vii) Have some or all founding members that have, through this company or 
another: 
 

(A) Have been a finalist in a pitch competition; or 
 

(B)  Be a graduate of an accelerator program; or 
 
(C) Have previously founded and either failed or exited a previous 

company; or 
 
(D) Have previously helped raise meaningful equity funding in a 

meaningful capacity. 
 
 (b) Awardees are limited to one (1) award under this chapter per fiscal year (July 1 
through June 30). with a maximum award amount that does not exceed seventy-five thousand 
dollars ($75,000.00) over the lifetime of the company. 

 
Section 5.  Application process.   
 
(a) Prioritization criteria. 

 
  (i) The Council Staff wishall prioritize awards under this chapter based on the 
following criteria: 
 
   (A) Applicant’s ability to lead to scalable, commercially successful 
product, concept, or design within a reasonable period of time; 
 
   (B) Applicant’s potential for stimulating innovation-driven economic 
growth within Wyoming; and 
 
   (C)  The amount of funds applicant has requested and its demonstrated 
need for those funds. 
 
  (ii) In addition to the criteria listed under Section 5(a)(i) of this chapter, the 
Council Staff may, in its their sole discretion, consider the following additional criteria to 
prioritize awards: 
 



1-3 

   (A) The commercialization potential of the proposed service, product, 
concept, design or other marketable asset; 
 
   (B) The viability and thoughtfulness of the individual or business 
entity’s technology, funding, commercialization, and exit strategy; 
 
   (C) The degree of success in prior commercialization, if any, of an 
existing service, product, concept, design or other marketable asset supported by previous 
funding and the return on investment for that funding; 
 
   (D) The individual or business entity’s ability to attract follow-on 
funding; 
 
   (E) The management quality, potential and experience of the 
individual or the business entity’s management team; and 
 
   (F) Likely public benefit to Wyoming were the individual or business 
entity to receive the requested funds and develop the service, product, concept, design or other 
marketable asset as proposed. 
 

(b) Application. 
  
  (i) The Council Staff shall provide a “Kickstart:Wyoming” application online 
that includes a requirement to provide information relevant for funding decisions, including but 
not limited to information that establishes the applicant’s eligibility for a grant under the 
“kickstart:Wyoming” Program. 
 

(ii)  Each applicant shall file its application for “kickstart:Wyoming” funds 
with the Council Staff online at a website provided by the Council Staff. 
 
 (c) Application process, procedure and approval. Applications are received on a 
rolling quarterly basis and will be reviewed in the month following the month of application 
submission in the following manner:  
 

(i) Council staff reviews to ensure accuracy, eligibility and completeness, and 
provides a recommendation based upon these rules and W.S. § 9-12-105(c).  

    
(ii) The Council, or Council Staff as designated by the Council, has the sole 

discretion to make award decisions based upon these rules and W.S. § 9-12-105(c). The Council, 
or Council Staff as designated by the Council, may consult with subject matter experts for 
assistance and advice in making funding decisions. 
 
  (iii) Following the Council’s decision, or the decision of Council Staff if so 
designated by the Council, requests for funding will be routed through the Governor or the 
Governor’s designee for approval. The Council Staff will thereafter submit the invoice for 
payment to the State Auditor’s Office.  



1-4 

 
(d)  Agreement template. In consultation with the Attorney General’s Office, the 

Council shall prepare a template for all agreements between itself and potential awardees of 
“kickstart:Wyoming” funds and shall submit the template to the Attorney General’s Office for 
approval. Following approval by the Attorney General’s Office, the Council shall use this 
template for all such agreements, and shall not deviate from the template without approval from 
the Attorney General’s Office. The Council shall, on an annual basis, resubmit the template to 
the Attorney General’s Office for updates and approval.  
 
 (e) Amount of award; annual allocations. Applicants may seek funding between 
$5,000 and $50,000 per application. Annual allocations to this program are detailed in the 
startup:Wyoming Subaccount Allocation Plan. 
 
 (fe) Reporting. 
 
  (i) Awardees shall provide a report to the Wyoming Business Council 
between twelve (12)six (6) and fifteen (15) eighteen (18) months after the award is granted.  The 
report should address the company’s:  
 
   (A) Progress toward commercialization of service, product, concept, 
design, or other marketable asset; 
 
   (B) Progress toward seeking and receiving additional funding, whether 
from State, federal or private sources;  
 
   (C) Plans for growth, market, commercialization and capitalization in 
the upcoming year; 
 
   (D) Proof of proper use of funds in the form of receipts or invoices; 
 
   (E) Suggestions for continuous improvement to State programs for 
startups; 
 
   (F) Maintenance of nexus in Wyoming that is substantial and 
continuous. To prove nexus, awardee must provide the following: 
 
    (I) Documentary documentary evidence showing the majority 
of the awardee’s employees work in Wyoming; and. 
 
    (II) A multimedia narrative of the Wyoming lifestyle of its 
employees, leveraging social media resources. 
 
  (ii) Awardees must provide material to the Council, or Council Staff as 
designated by the Council, as requested for purposes of promoting Wyoming’s entrepreneurial 
ecosystem and lifestyle.Additional reporting requirements may be outlined in the grant 
agreement between the awardee and the Council. 



1-5 

 
 (g) Allowable use of funds; consequence for misuse of funds and repayment. 
 
  (i) Funds may be spent on materials or activities that facilitate development 
or commercialization of a company’s service, product, concept, design or any other marketable 
asset. 
 
  (ii) Any other use of “Kickstart:Wyoming” funds is prohibited. Business 
Council will conduct an audit between thirteen (13) and sixteen (16) months of the award date 
for the purpose of verifying that “Kickstart:Wyoming” funds are spent on appropriate materials 
and activities. The Council may seek return of the disbursed funds if it at any time determines 
that an awardee has failed to submit any part of the required annual report, has made a prohibited 
use of the funds, or has breached the agreement between itself and the Council. In that instance, 
the awardee shall repay all funds provided under this chapter plus interest at the rate of four 
percent (4%) per annum compounded annually from the date the funds were granted. This 
provision is in addition to, and does not replace, any other potential cause of action the Council 
may have against the awardee based on its conduct. 
 

Section 6.  Program administration. The Council may designate Council Staff to 
approve applications and make award decisions. If the Council chooses to designate Council 
Staff with this responsibility, Council Staff shall make a quarterly report to the Council on the 
number of applications approved, the status of the approved applications, and the amount of 
funds distributed to awardees. 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 1 of 13 

CONTRACT BETWEEN 
WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL 

AND 
COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  

CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 
 
 

1. Parties.  The parties to this Contract are Wyoming Business Council (Council), whose 
address is: 214 W 15th St, Cheyenne WY 82002, and COLUMBIA 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a CTC TECHNOLOGY AND 
ENERGY (Contractor), whose address is: 10613 Concord St, Kensington MD, 20895. 

 
2. Purpose of Contract.  The purpose of this Contract is to set forth the terms and conditions 

by which the Contractor shall support the deployment of Connect Wyoming CPF program 
for the establishment and ongoing operation of the Challenge Portal.  

 
3. Term of Contract.  This Contract is effective when all parties have executed it (Effective 

Date).  The term of the Contract is from Effective Date through August 31, 2024. All 
services shall be completed during this term.   

 
This Contract may be extended by agreement of both parties in writing and subject to the 
required approvals.  There is no right, or expectation of extension and any extension will 
be determined at the discretion of the Council.  
 

4. Payment.   
 

A. The Council agrees to pay the Contractor for the services described in Attachment 
A, which is attached to and incorporated into this Contract by this 
reference.  Total payment under this Contract shall not exceed one hundred 
ninety-eight thousand dollars and zero cents ($198,000.00). Payment shall be 
made within forty-five (45) days after submission of invoice pursuant to Wyo. 
Stat. § 16-6-602.  Contractor shall submit invoices in sufficient detail to ensure 
that payments may be made in conformance with this Contract.   

 
B. No payment shall be made for work performed before the Effective Date of this 

Contract.  Should the Contractor fail to perform in a manner consistent with the 
terms and conditions set forth in this Contract, payment under this Contract may be 
withheld until such time as the Contractor performs its duties and responsibilities 
to the satisfaction of Council. 

  
C.  Travel. The payment of travel expenses shall be allowed as set forth below. 

Contractor is expected to procure the most cost-efficient travel arrangements and 
will require pre-approval from the Broadband Manager. 

 
(i) Air Travel.  The Council agrees to reimburse the Contractor’s air 

travel expenses related to the performance of this Contract.  Air 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 2 of 13 

travel shall be reimbursed based on actual costs, supported by a copy 
of the original receipt with the invoice.  Contractor must select the 
lowest airfare (fares available in the market at the time of booking, 
preferably well in advance of trip to attain the lowest possible 
airfare).  Contractors shall book economy class fares for all 
domestic travel.  First class bookings are not reimbursable.  

 
(ii) Car Rental.  The Council agrees to reimburse the Contractor’s car 

rental expenses related to the performance of this Contract.  Car 
rental expenses shall be reimbursed at actual costs, supported by a 
copy of the original receipt with the invoice. Contractor must select 
the lowest rental rates for an appropriate vehicle. 

D. Lodging. 
 

The Council agrees to reimburse Contractor’s lodging expenses related to the 
performance of this Contract.  Lodging expenses shall be reimbursed at actual 
costs, supported by a copy of the original receipt with the invoice.  The Contractor 
shall only invoice the Council for the basic room rate, taxes, and lodging fees.  The 
Council is not responsible for incidental or miscellaneous expenses charged to the 
room. Incidental and miscellaneous expenses for which the Council shall not be 
responsible include charges such as alcohol, internet, telephone charges, mini-bar, 
and movies. 
 

E. Meals. 
 

The Council agrees to reimburse Contractor’s meal expenses related to the 
performance of this Contract. Meal expenses shall be reimbursed based on actual 
costs, supported by a copy of the original receipt with the invoice. 

   
5. Responsibilities of Contractor.  The Contractor agrees to: 

 
A. Provide the services described in Attachment A, Scope of Work. Per the Scope 

described in Attachment A, Contractor and any Subcontractors performing 
comparable work are explicitly designated as contractors and not as subrecipients. 

 
6. Responsibilities of Council.   The Council agrees to: 

 
A. Pay Contractor in accordance with Section 4 above. 
 

7. Special Provisions. 
 

A. Assumption of Risk.  The Contractor shall assume the risk of any loss of state or 
federal funding, either administrative or program dollars, due to the Contractor’s 
failure to comply with state or federal requirements.  The Council shall notify the 
Contractor of any state or federal determination of noncompliance. 

B. Environmental Policy Acts.  Contractor agrees all activities under this Contract 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 3 of 13 

will comply with the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the National 
Environmental Policy Act, and other related provisions of federal environmental 
protection laws, rules or regulations. 

 
C. Human Trafficking.  As required by 22 U.S.C. § 7104(g) and 2 CFR Part 175, 

this Contract may be terminated without penalty if a private entity that receives 
funds under this Contract: 
 
(i) Engages in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time 

that the award is in effect; 
 
(ii) Procures a commercial sex act during the period of time that the award is 

in effect; or 
 
(iii) Uses forced labor in the performance of the award or subawards under the 

award. 
 

D. Kickbacks.  Contractor certifies and warrants that no gratuities, kickbacks, or 
contingency fees were paid in connection with this Contract, nor were any fees, 
commissions, gifts, or other considerations made contingent upon the award of this 
Contract.  If Contractor breaches or violates this warranty, Council may, at its 
discretion, terminate this Contract without liability to Council, or deduct from the 
agreed upon price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the full amount of any 
commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingency fee.   

 
E. Limitations on Lobbying Activities.  By signing this Contract, Contractor certifies 

and agrees that, in accordance with P.L. 101-121, payments made from a federal 
grant shall not be utilized by Contractor or its subcontractors in connection with 
lobbying member(s) of Congress, or any federal agency in connection with the 
award of a federal grant, contract, cooperative agreement, or loan.  

 
F. Monitoring Activities.  Council shall have the right to monitor all activities related 

to this Contract that are performed by Contractor or its subcontractors.  This shall 
include, but not be limited to, the right to make site inspections at any time and with 
reasonable notice; to bring experts and consultants on site to examine or evaluate 
completed work or work in progress; to examine the books, ledgers, documents, 
papers, and records pertinent to this Contract; and to observe personnel in every 
phase of performance of Contract related work. 

 
G. Nondiscrimination.  The Contractor shall comply with the Civil Rights Act of 

1964, the Wyoming Fair Employment Practices Act (Wyo. Stat. § 27-9-105, et 
seq.), the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and 
the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and any properly promulgated rules and 
regulations thereto and shall not discriminate against any individual on the grounds 
of age, sex, color, race, religion, national origin, or disability in connection with the 
performance under this Contract.   



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 4 of 13 

 
H. No Finder’s Fees:  No finder’s fee, employment agency fee, or other such fee 

related to the procurement of this Contract, shall be paid by either party. 
 
I. Publicity.  Any publicity given to the projects, programs, or services provided 

herein, including, but not limited to, notices, information, pamphlets, press releases, 
research, reports, signs, and similar public notices in whatever form, prepared by 
or for the Contractor and related to the services and work to be performed under 
this Contract, shall identify the Council as the sponsoring agency and shall not be 
released without prior written approval of Council. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
and except a) as required by law such as Wyoming Public Records Act, and/or b) 
in accordance with the Council’s policies and procedures, neither Party will use the 
name of the other Party or refer to the services provided under this Contract without 
the prior consent of the other Party, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
J. Suspension and Debarment.  By signing this Contract, Contractor certifies that 

neither it nor its principals/agents are presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 
transaction or from receiving federal financial or nonfinancial assistance, nor are 
any of the participants involved in the execution of this Contract suspended, 
debarred, or voluntarily excluded by any federal department or agency in 
accordance with Executive Order 12549 (Debarment and Suspension), 44 CFR  
Part 17, or 2 CFR Part 180, or are on the debarred, or otherwise ineligible, vendors 
lists maintained by the federal government.  Further, Contractor agrees to notify 
Council by certified mail should it or any of its principals/agents become ineligible 
for payment, debarred, suspended, or voluntarily excluded from receiving federal 
funds during the term of this Contract. 

 
K. Administration of Federal Funds.  Subrecipient agrees its use of the funds 

awarded herein is subject to the Uniform Administrative Requirements of 2 C.F.R. 
Part 200, et seq.; any additional requirements set forth by the federal funding 
agency; all applicable regulations published in the Code of Federal Regulations; 
and other program guidance as provided to it by Council. 

 
L. Copyright License and Patent Rights.  Subrecipient acknowledges that federal 

grantor, the State of Wyoming, and Council reserve a royalty-free, nonexclusive, 
unlimited, and irrevocable license to reproduce, publish, or otherwise use, and to 
authorize others to use, for federal and state government purposes: (1) the copyright 
in any work developed under this Contract; and (2) any rights of copyright to which 
Contractor purchases ownership using funds awarded under this Contract.  
Contractor must consult with Council regarding any patent rights that arise from, 
or are purchased with, funds awarded under this Contract. 

 
M. Federal Audit Requirements.  Subrecipient agrees that if it expends an aggregate 

amount of seven hundred fifty thousand dollars ($750,000.00) or more in federal 
funds during its fiscal year, it must undergo an organization-wide financial and 
compliance single audit.  Subrecipient agrees to comply with the audit requirements 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 5 of 13 

of the U.S. General Accounting Office Government Auditing Standards and Audit 
Requirements of 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Subpart F. If findings are made which cover 
any part of this Contract, Subrecipient shall provide one (1) copy of the audit report 
to Council and require the release of the audit report by its auditor be held until 
adjusting entries are disclosed and made to Council’s records.  

 
N. Non-Supplanting Certification.  Subrecipient hereby affirms that federal grant 

funds shall be used to supplement existing funds, and shall not replace (supplant) 
funds that have been appropriated for the same purpose.  Subrecipient should be 
able to document that any reduction in non-federal resources occurred for reasons 
other than the receipt or expected receipt of federal funds under this Contract. 

 
O. Program Income.  Subrecipient shall not deposit grant funds in an interest bearing 

account without prior approval of Council.  Any income attributable to the grant 
funds distributed under this Contract must be used to increase the scope of the 
program or returned to Council. 

 
P.  Intellectual Property and Ownership of Contractor Pre-Existing Materials. 

Notwithstanding anything in General Provisions Section R., Contractor and its 
Subcontractors retain ownership of all their respective literary or other works of 
authorship (such as software programs and code, documentation, reports, and 
similar works), information, data, intellectual property, techniques, subroutines, 
algorithms, methods, concepts, know-how, tools, questionnaires and assessments, 
modules, courses, frameworks, databases, content, models, industry perspectives, 
or related rights and derivatives that Contractor and/or its Subcontractors own at 
the time this Contract is executed or otherwise developed or acquired independent 
of this Contract,  employed by Contractor and/or its Subcontractors in connection 
with the services provided to Council, and includes any updates and derivative 
works thereto (the "Contractor Pre-existing Materials"). Contractor Pre-existing 
Materials may be embedded in a Work Product. Contractor shall provide full 
disclosure of any Contractor Pre-Existing Materials to Council before its use and 
assert its ownership. If, however, Contractor fails to disclose to Council such 
Contractor Pre-Existing Materials, Contractor shall grant Council a nonexclusive, 
non-transferable, non-sublicenseable, worldwide, royalty-free license to use any 
Contractor Pre-Existing Materials embedded in the Work Product to the extent such 
Contractor Pre-Existing Materials are necessary for Council to receive the intended 
benefit under this Contract and subject to the limitations herein. Such license shall 
remain in effect for so long as such Pre-Existing Materials remain embedded in the 
Work Product. Council agrees that, without Contractor’s prior written permission, 
it will not, or permit any third party to (a) access, copy or reverse engineer any 
Contractor Pre-existing Material or Work Product, or (b) remove or circumvent 
security or technological safeguards, including notices, digital protection 
mechanisms, metadata, watermarks, or disclaimers provided with any Contractor 
Pre-existing Material or Work Product. 

8. General Provisions. 
 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 6 of 13 

A. Amendments.  Any changes, modifications, revisions, or amendments to this 
Contract which are mutually agreed upon by the parties to this Contract shall be 
incorporated by written instrument, executed by all parties to this Contract. 

 
B. Applicable Law, Rules of Construction, and Venue.  The construction, 

interpretation, and enforcement of this Contract shall be governed by the laws of 
the State of Wyoming, without regard to conflicts of law principles.  The terms 
“hereof,” “hereunder,” “herein,” and words of similar import, are intended to refer 
to this Contract as a whole and not to any particular provision or part. The Courts 
of the State of Wyoming shall have jurisdiction over this Contract and the parties. 
The venue shall be the First Judicial District, Laramie County, Wyoming. 

 
C. Assignment Prohibited and Contract Shall Not be Used as Collateral.  Neither 

party shall assign or otherwise transfer any of the rights or delegate any of the duties 
set out in this Contract without the prior written consent of the other party.  The 
Contractor shall not use this Contract, or any portion thereof, for collateral for any 
financial obligation without the prior written permission of the Council. 

 
D. Audit and Access to Records.  The Council and its representatives shall have 

access to any invoices and final deliverables of the Contractor which are pertinent 
to this Contract.  

 
E. Availability of Funds.  Each payment obligation of the Council is conditioned 

upon the availability of government funds which are appropriated or allocated for 
the payment of this obligation and which may be limited for any reason including, 
but not limited to, congressional, legislative, gubernatorial, or administrative 
action.  If funds are not allocated and available for continued performance of the 
Contract, the Contract may be terminated by the Council at the end of the period 
for which the funds are available.  The Council shall notify the Contractor at the 
earliest possible time of the services which will or may be affected by a shortage of 
funds.  No penalty shall accrue to the Council in the event this provision is 
exercised, and the Council shall not be obligated or liable for any future payments 
due or for any damages as a result of termination under this section.   

 
F. Award of Related Contracts.  The Council may award supplemental or successor 

contracts for work related to this Contract or may award contracts to other 
contractors for work related to this Contract.  The Contractor shall cooperate fully 
with other contractors and the Council in all such cases. 

 
G. Certificate of Good Standing.  The Contractor shall provide to the Council a 

Certificate of Good Standing from the Wyoming Secretary of State, or other proof 
that Contractor is authorized to conduct business in the State of Wyoming, if 
required, before performing work under this Contract. Contractor shall ensure that 
annual filings and corporate taxes due and owing to the Secretary of State’s office 
are up-to-date before signing this Contract. 

 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 7 of 13 

H. Compliance with Laws.  The Contractor shall keep informed of and comply with 
all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations, and all federal grant 
requirements and executive orders in the performance of this Contract. 

 
I. Confidentiality of Information.  Except when disclosure is required by the 

Wyoming Public Records Act or court order, all documents, data compilations, 
reports, computer programs, photographs, data, and other work provided to or 
produced by the Contractor in the performance of this Contract shall be kept 
confidential by both parties unless prior written permission is granted by the 
Contractor and Council for its release.  If and when either party receives a request 
for information subject to this Contract, the notified party shall notify the other 
party within ten (10) days of such request and shall not release such information to 
a third party unless: 1) prior written approval is granted by Contractor, if the 
information is related to a release of Contractor’s Confidential Information; or 2) 
directed to do so by Council. 

 
J. Entirety of Contract.  This Contract, consisting of thirteen (13) pages, and 

Attachment A, Scope of Work, consisting of two (2) pages, represent the entire and 
integrated Contract between the parties and supersede all prior negotiations, 
representations, and agreements, whether written or oral.  In the event of a conflict 
or inconsistency between the language of this Contract and the language of any 
attachment or document incorporated by reference, the language of this Contract 
shall control. 

 
K. Ethics.  Contractor shall keep informed of and comply with the Wyoming Ethics 

and Disclosure Act (Wyo. Stat. § 9-13-101, et seq.) and any and all ethical standards 
governing Contractor’s profession. 

 
L. Extensions.  Any extension of this Contract shall be initiated by the Council and 

shall be accomplished through a written amendment between the parties entered 
into before the expiration of the original Contract or any valid amendment thereto, 
and shall be effective only after it is reduced to writing and executed by all parties 
to the Contract.   

 
M. Force Majeure.  Neither party shall be liable for failure to perform under this 

Contract if such failure to perform arises out of causes beyond the control and 
without the fault or negligence of the nonperforming party.  Such causes may 
include, but are not limited to, acts of God or the public enemy, fires, floods, 
epidemics, quarantine restrictions, freight embargoes, and unusually severe 
weather.  This provision shall become effective only if the party failing to perform 
immediately notifies the other party of the extent and nature of the problem, limits 
delay in performance to that required by the event, and takes all reasonable steps to 
minimize delays.   

N. Indemnification and Limitation of Liability.  The Contractor shall release, 
indemnify, and hold harmless the State, the Council, and their officers, agents, and 
employees from any and all claims, suits, liabilities, court awards, damages, costs, 
attorneys’ fees, and expenses to the extent such claims, damages or actions are 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 8 of 13 

determined to have resulted from Contractor’s failure to perform any of 
Contractor’s duties and obligations hereunder, or from the negligent performance 
of Contractor’s duties or obligations, including, but not limited to, any third party 
claims, suits, liabilities, court awards, damages, costs, attorneys’ fees, and expenses 
arising out of Contractor’s negligence or other tortious conduct, such as willful 
omissions.  

 
 Limitation of Liability. The Services provided under this Contract shall not be 

deemed investment, legal, tax, accounting or other regulated advice. Contractor 
does not supplant the Council’s management or other decision-making bodies and 
does not guarantee results. The Council remains solely responsible for its decisions, 
actions, use of the Deliverables and compliance with applicable laws, rules and 
regulations. In no event shall Contractor’s liability to the Council in connection 
with the services hereunder exceed the fees received by Contractor from the 
Council in connection with such performance. Neither party will be liable for any 
lost profits or other indirect, consequential, incidental, punitive or special damages. 

 
O. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor shall function as an independent 

contractor for the purposes of this Contract and shall not be considered an employee 
of the State of Wyoming for any purpose.  Consistent with the express terms of this 
Contract, the Contractor shall be free from control or direction over the details of 
the performance of services under this Contract.  The Contractor shall assume sole 
responsibility for any debts or liabilities that may be incurred by the Contractor in 
fulfilling the terms of this Contract and shall be solely responsible for the payment 
of all federal, state, and local taxes which may accrue because of this Contract.  
Nothing in this Contract shall be interpreted as authorizing the Contractor or its 
agents or employees to act as an agent or representative for or on behalf of the State 
of Wyoming or the Council or to incur any obligation of any kind on behalf of the 
State of Wyoming or the Council.  The Contractor agrees that no health or 
hospitalization benefits, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, or 
similar benefits available to State of Wyoming employees will inure to the benefit 
of the Contractor or the Contractor’s agents or employees as a result of this 
Contract. 

 
P. Notices.  All notices arising out of, or from, the provisions of this Contract shall be 

in writing either by regular mail or delivery in person at the addresses provided 
under this Contract.   

 
Q. Notice of Sale or Transfer.  The Contractor shall provide the Council with notice 

of any sale, transfer, merger, or consolidation of the assets of the Contractor.  Such 
notice shall be provided in accordance with the notices provision of this Contract 
and, when possible and lawful, in advance of the transaction.  If the Council 
determines that the sale, transfer, merger, or consolidation is not consistent with the 
continued satisfactory performance of the Contractor’s obligations under this 
Contract, then the Council may, at its discretion, terminate or renegotiate the 
Contract.  

 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 9 of 13 

R. Ownership and Return of Documents and Information.  Council is the official 
custodian and owns all documents, data compilations, reports, photographs, data, 
and other work provided to or produced by the Contractor in the performance of 
this Contract.  Upon termination of services, for any reason, Contractor agrees to 
return all such original and derivative information and documents to the Council in 
a useable format.  In the case of electronic transmission, such transmission shall be 
secured.  The return of information by any other means shall be by a parcel service 
that utilizes tracking numbers.  Upon Council’s verified receipt of such information, 
Contractor agrees to physically and electronically destroy any residual Council-
owned data, regardless of format, and any other storage media or areas containing 
such information, except for one (1) copy Contractor can retain for internal archival 
and audit purposes.  Contractor agrees to provide written notice to Council 
confirming the destruction of any such residual Council-owned data upon request 
of destruction by Council. 

 
S. Patent or Copyright Protection.  The Contractor recognizes that certain 

proprietary matters or techniques may be subject to patent, trademark, copyright, 
license, or other similar restrictions, and warrants that no work performed by the 
Contractor or its subcontractors will knowingly violate any such restriction.  In 
accordance with Section 8(N), the Contractor shall defend and indemnify the 
Council for any infringement or alleged infringement of such patent, trademark, 
copyright, license, or other restrictions as a direct result of Contractor’s breach of 
this Contract, negligence, or willful misconduct.  

 
T. Prior Approval.  This Contract shall not be binding upon either party, no services 

shall be performed, and the Wyoming State Auditor shall not draw warrants for 
payment, until this Contract has been fully executed, approved as to form by the 
Office of the Attorney General, filed with and approved by A&I Procurement, and 
approved by the Governor of the State of Wyoming, or his designee, if required by 
Wyo. Stat. § 9-2-3204(b)(iv). 

 
U. Insurance Requirements.   
 

(i) During the term of this Contract, the Contractor shall obtain and maintain, 
and ensure that each subcontractor obtains and maintains, each type of 
insurance coverage specified in Insurance Coverage, below.  

 
(ii) All policies shall be primary over any insurance or self-insurance program 

carried by the Contractor or the State of Wyoming.  All policies shall 
include clauses stating that each insurance carrier shall waive all rights of 
recovery under subrogation or otherwise against Contractor or the State, its 
agencies, institutions, organizations, officers, agents, employees, and 
volunteers. 

(iii) The Contractor shall provide Certificates of Insurance to the Council 
verifying each type of coverage required herein.  If the policy is a “claims 
made” policy instead of an “occurrence” policy, the information provided 
shall include, but is not limited to, retroactive dates and extended reporting 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 10 of 13 

periods or tails.  
 
(iv) All policies shall be endorsed to provide at least thirty (30) days advance 

written notice of cancellation to the Council. A copy of the policy 
endorsement shall be provided with the Certificate of Insurance.  

 
(v) In case of a breach of any provision relating to Insurance Requirements or 

Insurance Coverage, the Council may, at the Council’s option, obtain and 
maintain, at the expense of the Contractor, such insurance in the name of 
the Contractor, or subcontractor, as the Council may deem proper and may 
deduct the cost of obtaining and maintaining such insurance from any sums 
which may be due or become due to the Contractor under this Contract.  

 
(vi) All policies required by this Contract shall be issued by an insurance 

company with an A.M. Best rating of A- VIII or better.  
 
(vii) The Council reserves the right to reject any policy issued by an insurance 

company that does not meet these requirements. 
 

V. Insurance Coverage.  The Contractor shall obtain and maintain the following 
insurance in accordance with the Insurance Requirements set forth above: 

 
(i) Commercial General Liability Insurance.  Commercial general liability 

insurance (CGL) coverage, occurrence form, covering liability claims for 
bodily injury and property damage arising out of premises, operations, 
products and completed operations, and personal and advertising injury, 
with minimum limits as follows: 

 
 (a) $1,000,000.00 each occurrence; 
 (b) $1,000,000.00 personal injury and advertising injury; 
 (c) $2,000,000.00 general aggregate; and 
 (d) $2,000,000.00 products and completed operations. 
 
 The CGL policy shall include coverage for Explosion, Collapse and 

Underground property damage. This coverage may not be excluded by 
endorsement. 

 
(ii) Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance.  Employees 

hired in Wyoming to perform work under this Contract shall be covered by 
workers’ compensation coverage obtained through the Wyoming 
Department of Workforce Services’ workers’ compensation program, if 
statutorily required. Employees brought into Wyoming from Contractor’s 
home state to perform work under this Contract shall be covered by 
workers’ compensation coverage obtained through the Wyoming 
Department of Workforce Services’ workers’ compensation program or 
other state or private workers’ compensation insurance approved by the 
Wyoming Department of Workforce Services, if statutorily required.   



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 11 of 13 

 
The Contractor shall provide the Council with a Certificate of Good 
Standing or other proof of workers’ compensation coverage for all of its 
employees who are to perform work under this Contract, if such coverage 
is required by law. If workers’ compensation coverage is obtained by 
Contractor through the Wyoming Department of Workforce Services’ 
workers’ compensation program, Contractor shall also obtain Employer’s 
Liability “Stop Gap” coverage through an endorsement to the CGL policy 
required by this Contract, with minimum limits as follows: 

 
 (a) Bodily Injury by Accident: $1,000,000.00 each accident; 
 (b) Bodily Injury by Disease: $1,000,000.00 each employee; and 
 (c) Bodily Injury by Disease: $1,000,000.00 policy limit. 
 
(iii) Unemployment Insurance.  The Contractor shall be duly registered with the 

Department of Workforce Services and obtain such unemployment 
insurance coverage as required.  The Contractor shall supply Council with 
a Certificate of Good Standing or other proof of unemployment insurance 
coverage. 

 
(iv) Automobile Liability Insurance.  Automobile liability insurance covering 

any auto (including owned, hired, and non-owned) with minimum limits of 
$1,000,000.00 each accident combined single limit. 

 
W. Severability.  Should any portion of this Contract be judicially determined to be 

illegal or unenforceable, the remainder of the Contract shall continue in full force 
and effect, and the parties may renegotiate the terms affected by the severance. 

 
X. Sovereign Immunity and Limitations.  Pursuant to Wyo. Stat. § 1-39-104(a), the 

State of Wyoming and Council expressly reserve sovereign immunity by entering 
into this Contract and specifically retain all immunities and defenses available to 
them as sovereigns.  The parties acknowledge that the State of Wyoming has 
sovereign immunity and only the Wyoming Legislature has the power to waive 
sovereign immunity. The parties further acknowledge that there are constitutional 
and statutory limitations on the authority of the State of Wyoming and its agencies 
or instrumentalities to agree to certain terms and conditions supplied by the 
Contractor, including, but not limited to, the following: liability for damages; 
choice of law; conflicts of law; venue and forum-selection clauses; defense or 
control of litigation or settlement; liability for acts or omissions of third parties; 
payment of attorneys’ fees or costs; additional insured provisions; dispute 
resolution, including, but not limited to, arbitration; indemnification of another 
party; and confidentiality.  Any such provisions in the Contract, or in any 
attachments or documents incorporated by reference, will not be binding on the 
State of Wyoming. Designations of venue, choice of law, enforcement actions, and 
similar provisions shall not be construed as a waiver of sovereign immunity.  The 
parties agree that any ambiguity in this Contract shall not be strictly construed, 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 12 of 13 

either against or for either party, except that any ambiguity as to sovereign 
immunity shall be construed in favor of sovereign immunity.  
 

Y. Taxes.  The Contractor shall pay all taxes and other such amounts required by 
federal, state, and local law, including, but not limited to, federal and social security 
taxes, workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, and sales taxes.  

 
Z. Termination of Contract.  This Contract may be terminated, without cause, by the 

Council upon thirty (30) days written notice.  This Contract may be terminated by 
the Council immediately for cause if the Contractor fails to perform in accordance 
with the terms of this Contract.  
 

AA. Third-Party Beneficiary Rights.  The parties do not intend to create in any other 
individual or entity the status of third-party beneficiary, and this Contract shall not 
be construed so as to create such status.  The rights, duties, and obligations 
contained in this Contract shall operate only between the parties to this Contract 
and shall inure solely to the benefit of the parties to this Contract.  The provisions 
of this Contract are intended only to assist the parties in determining and performing 
their obligations under this Contract. 

 
BB. Time is of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in all provisions of this Contract. 
 
CC. Titles Not Controlling.  Titles of sections and subsections are for reference only 

and shall not be used to construe the language in this Contract. 
 
DD. Waiver.  The waiver of any breach of any term or condition in this Contract shall 

not be deemed a waiver of any prior or subsequent breach. Failure to object to a 
breach shall not constitute a waiver. 

 
EE. Counterparts. This Contract may be executed in counterparts. Each counterpart, 

when executed and delivered, shall be deemed an original and all counterparts 
together shall constitute one and the same Contract. Delivery by the Contractor of 
an originally signed counterpart of this Contract by facsimile or PDF shall be 
followed up immediately by delivery of the originally signed counterpart to the 
Council.  

 
THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE WAS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. 



 
Contract between Wyoming Business Council 

and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a  
CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 

Page 13 of 13 

9. Signatures.  The parties to this Contract, either personally or through their duly 
authorized representatives, have executed this Contract on the dates set out below, and 
certify that they have read, understood, and agreed to the terms and conditions of this 
Contract. 

 
The Effective Date of this Contract is the date of the signature last affixed to this page. 

 
 
WYOMING BUSINESS COUNCIL: 
 
            
Joshua J. Dorrell       Date 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
  
            
Amy L. Grenfell       Date 
Chief Operating Officer     
 
 
CONTRACTOR:  
COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 
d/b/a CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY 
 
 
            
Joanne Hovis        Date 
President  
         
 
ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE APPROVAL AS TO FORM 
 
 
__________________________________________ _________________ 
Joshua M. Brackett        Date 
Assistant Attorney General 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Scope of Work for Challenge Portal  

BEAD Challenge Process Portal –  
Stand up a software portal to facilitate and track the collection, evaluation, adjudication, and status of challenges. 
 

The proposing team consists of CTC Technology & Energy as the lead prime contractor and Ready.net as subcontractor in 
support of this contract.  For avoidance of doubt, this teaming arrangement is a traditional prime contractor-to-
subcontractor relationship, therefore a legal joint venture was not formed.  CTC will acquire and deploy Ready.Net’s 
Challenge Process Coordinator (CPC) to support the Wyoming Broadband Office’s BEAD Challenge Portal and Process. 
CTC will serve as monitor and ultimate responsible party for the delivery of all of the accountable and responsible 
benchmarks as listed in the following Scope of Work. 

CTC and its subcontractor Ready.Net can meet the objective of launching a challenge process in a short time frame of 4-6 
weeks.  

Ready.Net’s platform was designed to conform to the BEAD Model Challenge Process published by NTIA and will include 
all the following features mandated by NTIA:   

• registration of eligible stakeholders (units of local government, nonprofit organizations, and broadband service 
providers); 

• facilitating communications between stakeholders and state representatives during the challenge and rebuttal 
phases;  

• collection, storage, and presentation of evidence submitted in support of challenges;  
• geospatial tools to support the submission and review of challenges, including individual, bulk, and area 

challenges;  
• dashboards for tracking the status of challenges and challenge determinations;  
• features designed to meet NTIA’s requirements for systematic audit trail and data submission following the 

conclusion of the challenge and rebuttal process. 

Cost Proposal 
Ready.Net Challenge Process Navigator $198,000 

 

CTC and its subcontractor Ready.Net will deliver the following: 
• Data Transfer: latest Cost Quest Location Fabric (NTIA license); CAI data; other Initial Proposal Volume 1 inputs 
• Branding guidelines 
• Coordinate domain / subdomain configuration 
• Address security and data privacy requirements 
• Deploy public portal per state branding guidelines – in cooperation with CTC 
• Deliver Challenge Process Coordinator for Testing & Training 
• Accept Challenges (30 Calendar Days) 
• Deploy public portal per state branding guidelines 
• Deliver Challenge Process Coordinator for Testing 
• Go Live 
• Confirm challenge process settings 
• Initiate Early Registration of Eligible Challengers 
• Deliver Challenge Process Coordinator User Documentation 
• Outreach to Challengers 
• Deliver Challenge Process Coordinator Training 
• User Acceptance Testing 
• Public Posting of Eligible Data Files 



• Challenge Review and rebuttal 
• Submit Challenge Documentation to NTIA 
• Public Posting of Post-Challenge Eligible Locations 
• NTIA Approval & Curing (as needed) 
• Public Posting of NTIA-Approved Eligible Locations 

 

 

Cost Proposal 
 

Task Cost 
Staffing to Support the Challenge Process $131,400 
Supporting Challenge Close-Out $29,200 

Total $160,600 
 
Following the acceptance of the Wyoming Broadband Office Initial Proposal Volume 2 and the receipt of the BEAD 
Planning funds, the WBO will retain CTC Technology for the following tasks.  CTC’s proposed services and cost proposal 
are based on the use of the Ready.Net Challenge Process Navigator at a cost of $198,000, as described above. 
 
CTC will deliver the following: 

• Outreach to Challengers 
• Submit Challenge Documentation to NTIA 
• NTIA Approval & Curing (as needed) 
• Confirm challenge process settings 
• Deliver Challenge Process Coordinator User Documentation 
• Public Posting of Eligible Data Files 
• Public Posting of Post-Challenge Eligible Locations 
• Public Posting of NTIA-Approved Eligible Locations 
• Challenge Review and rebuttal – In cooperation with the WBO  

 


	-1 February Meeting Agenda
	[CA] December 17 Draft Meeting Minutes
	[CA] Quarterly Challenge Loan Report
	Subject: Challenge Loan Reporting Requirements

	[CA] SBIR Quarterly Report _ Q3-FY2024
	[CA] Feb 2024 Board People Report
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	BUILDING RESILIENT STATEWIDE SYSTEMS AND TEAMS
	PEOPLE DOING GREAT WORK
	PEOPLE: NEW ARRIVALS
	PEOPLE: CELEBRATIONS
	PERFORMANCE:�WBC AS A LEARNING ORGANIZATION
	ENLIGHTENMENT SERIES
	PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT STIPENDS
	EXPERIENTIAL
	OUTCOMES?�
	WHAT WE KNOW SO FAR:
	Slide Number 14

	Strategy Committee Title Page
	Slide Number 1

	Building State Capabilities Contract
	4. Payment.
	7. Special Provisions.
	8. General Provisions.
	T. Insurance Requirements.

	Attachment A to Building State Capabilities Contract Wyoming Proposal
	1.  Program Background
	2. PDIA Action-Learning Program
	2.1  Selection Process
	2.2  Action Learning for Teams
	1.3  Action Learning for Authorizers
	2.4 Taking Stock of the Learning and Sharing Experience

	2. Project Budget

	BREAK Title Page
	Slide Number 1

	Regional Directors Title Page (2)
	Slide Number 1

	01 Tupper Southeast Region
	02 Dietrich East Central
	03 Fong Northwest
	04 Edwards West Central
	05 Harlow Northeast
	06 Ingersoll Southwest
	Operations Title Page
	Slide Number 1

	FY 2024 Quarter 2 Board Report
	FY24 Qtr 2 Board Report.pdf
	FY24 Qtr 2 Financial Report Narrative.pdf

	Audit 2023 Wyoming Business Council Financial and Compliance Report
	Investments Committee Title Page
	Slide Number 1

	Wave Interactive Amendment Two
	01.a INV Cody Legacy Meats Memo
	Subject: Termination of the Cody Legacy Meats Business Committed Project

	01.b INVTermination Letter - Cody Legacy Meats project
	02.a INV City of Cheyenne Microsoft Memo
	Subject: Extension of Cheyenne Microsoft Project Bison Managed Data Center Project

	02.b INV City of Cheyenne Extension Request Letter
	03.a BRC INV Casper North Platte Readiness Feb24
	03.b BRC INV Hot Springs Co Reuse of Airport Property Readiness Feb24
	Casper App Correspondence
	Hot Springs App Correspondence
	Services Committee Title Page
	Slide Number 1

	LAST 1Q24 WYVC BOD Update 2.15.24 (1)
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4

	Warehouse 21 Amendment One
	Attachment B Warehouse Twenty One
	Insite Contract
	1. Parties.  The parties to this Contract are Wyoming Business Council (Council), whose address is: 214 W. 15th Street, Cheyenne, WY 82001 and INSITE CONSULTING, LLC (Contractor), whose address is: PO Box 40, Greer, SC 29652.
	2. Purpose of Contract.  The purpose of this Contract is to set forth the terms and conditions by which the Contractor shall provide site and industrial park readiness and training for the Council, as described in Attachment A, which is attached to an...

	InSite Attachment A
	Kickstart Rules Revision 2024 Slides - February Board Meeting
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Kickstart updates
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Questions

	Kickstart-Wyoming Program Rules-February-2024-Clean-FINAL
	Kickstart-Wyoming Program Rules-February-2024-Strike-Underscore-FINAL
	CTC Contract Challenge Portal
	1. Parties.  The parties to this Contract are Wyoming Business Council (Council), whose address is: 214 W 15th St, Cheyenne WY 82002, and COLUMBIA TELECOMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION d/b/a CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY (Contractor), whose address is: 10613 Con...
	2. Purpose of Contract.  The purpose of this Contract is to set forth the terms and conditions by which the Contractor shall support the deployment of Connect Wyoming CPF program for the establishment and ongoing operation of the Challenge Portal.
	ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE APPROVAL AS TO FORM


	CTC Attachment A SOW for Ready.net (1)
	Cost Proposal
	Cost Proposal




